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Dear U. S. Physical Therapy Shareholder,

It is rapidly approaching 20 years since being blessed to lead our wonderful Company as its CEO. A lot has changed in the world
since 2004, but the foundational elements of our Company remain as strong as ever..we believe that people matter. Our people, and
in particular our clinician partners, are the center-point of our care delivery around the country. We get to make a difference in the
lives of those whom we work so hard to serve. In our 671 outpatient facilities, this enables us to touch the lives of hundreds of
thousands of individuals and families each year generating more than 5 million visits in 2023. We believe in service to others..daily
to our patients and families in our many clinics across the country and inside the hundreds of national and regional companies in
all 50 states and across parts of Canada with our growing complement of injury prevention services. Our injury prevention services
keep workers healthy, productive and able to engage and perform at work for the companies they serve, and at home for their
families.

We believe that physical therapy makes a difference not only in the individual lives that we get to touch but to the healthcare system
overall.

Consider this: In a multi-year program enacted by a large, self-insured healthcare employer with Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield
providing analysis for 333,768 claims over a 6-year period in a model where patients were incentivized (by eliminating copays) to
use “PT first” to address a variety of musculoskeletal (MSK) diagnoses, they found that:

1. Total MSK costs were 58% less when PT is first in the line of care. The employers enrolled in these programs saved an average
of $1,403 per case and the member saved $828 on average.

2. In cases where PT precedes surgery, the overall surgical costs are reduced by 29%. In chronic cases that number rose
dramatically to a remarkable 74% reduction when opting for PT ahead of surgical intervention for a case which was deemed
to be chronic in nature.

Finally, one of the driving factors to patients choosing PT first is education. Helping those patients to understand the diagnostic and
treatment capabilities of Physical Therapists doubles the likelihood of choosing PT over an orthopedic surgeon or primary care
physician for an MSK issue.

In a study performed by the Moran Group (commissioned by The Alliance for Physical Therapy Quality and Innovation), 38,000
Medicare beneficiaries’ cases were reviewed with a primary diagnosis of lumbago or “low back pain”. Notably, those who
completed a complete course of physical therapy demonstrated a 14-32% lower average total Medicare spend with those who didn’t
access PT... the PT-engaged population remained “‘healthier”” and spent significantly less on all things medically related as compared
to the non-PT group.

I could go on and on..the fact is that Physical Therapy SHOULD be increasing in our country as a means to get and keep people
healthy. We must continue to work with a variety of federal agencies to drive that very important point home, since, for the past
several years, our industry has endured annual Medicare reimbursement cuts that have made things notably more difficult. Despite
those Medicare reimbursement headwinds, we have continued forward to focus on getting our patients healthy.
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Our current year earnings guidance includes several acquisitions, including the one we most recently announced at the end of March,
along with other improvements we are working hard to make, most notably in our commercial contracts to offset the Medicare
reductions that we have been absorbing for several years now. Our year ending 2023 contained a number of highlights (outlined
below) upon which we continue to build:

e  Average daily visits/clinic/day achieved record levels in EVERY quarter in 2023 allowing us to end the year at a record-high
average of 30.

e  We added 46 new clinics through a combination of acquisitions as well as denovo expansions across our strongest local brands.

e We completed a very successful secondary offering of our stock, raising approximately $165MM which allowed us to pay off
our most expensive debt and leaving us with a lot of growth-related capital to deploy directionally for acquisitions and
expansion of both parts of our business (IIP as well as PT). This comes at a time when many of our competitors are balance
sheet constrained.

e  We grew our IIP business with another acquisition, including a young software company that we are excited about as an
addition to our service offerings. Our IIP business has grown significantly since we embarked on this service line in early 2017
with a gross profit of less than $1.5MM. Through solid organic growth as well as several follow-on acquisitions, this important
service line now represents about 13 percent of our revenue and delivered gross profit of $16.4 million in 2023.

e  We renegotiated many of our commercial contracts and accomplished reimbursement increases throughout 2023 which we
believe will continue through 2024.

Please know that our entire team is working hard to create a great workplace, deliver exceptional patient and client value, be good
stewards of our opportunity and our responsibility to make the world better through the delivery of exceptional care and service,
and to do all of this with a servant’s heart strengthened by the knowledge that we are improving lives and making a difference. We
understand our challenges as well as our opportunities. I am blessed to be surrounded by an amazing group of colleagues who strive
to make things better every day. They, along with our dedicated team of partners, directors, clinicians and support staff truly care
about making a difference and making the world a better place by restoring function, preventing injuries and making impossibilities
possible again.

We also appreciate the trust that you have placed in us. Please rest assured that we don’t take any of it for granted and we will
continue to strive to do the best for our patients, our many stakeholders, and to the extent that we are able, for the industry at large.

Thank you for your continued trust and support! God Bless!
Chris Reading

President & CEO

1300 W. Sam Houston Parkway, Suite 300,

Houston, TX 77042
creading@usph.com
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We make statements in this report that are considered forward-looking statements within the meaning given
such term under Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These
statements contain forward-looking information relating to the financial condition, results of operations, plans,
objectives, future performance and business of our Company. These statements (often using words such as
“believes™, “‘expects”, “intends”, “plans”, “appear’”, “should” and similar words) involve risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those we project. Included among such
statements, but not limited to, are those relating to opening clinics, availability of personnel and the insurance
reimbursement environment. The forward-looking statements are based on our current views and assumptions,
and actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements as a result of
certain risks, uncertainties, and factors, which include, but are not limited to:

changes in Medicare rules and guidelines and reimbursement or failure of our clinics to maintain their
Medicare certification and/or enrollment status;

revenue we receive from Medicare and Medicaid being subject to potential retroactive reduction;

changes in reimbursement rates or payment methods from third party payors including government
agencies, and changes in the deductibles and co-pays owed by patients;

compliance with federal and state laws and regulations relating to the privacy of individually
identifiable patient information, and associated fines and penalties for failure to comply;

competitive, economic or reimbursement conditions in our markets which may require us to reorganize
or close certain clinics and thereby incur losses and/or closure costs including the possible write-down
or write-off of goodwill and other intangible assets;

the impact of future public health crises and epidemics/pandemics, such as was the case with the novel
strain of COVID-19 and its variants;

one of our acquisition agreements contains a put-right related to a future purchase of a majority interest
in a separate company;

the impact of future vaccinations and/or testing mandates at the federal, state and/or local level, which
could have an adverse impact on staffing, revenue, costs and the results of operations;

our debt and financial obligations could adversely affect our financial condition, our ability to obtain
future financing and our ability to operate our business;

changes as the result of government enacted national healthcare reform;
business and regulatory conditions including federal and state regulations;

governmental and other third party payor inspections, reviews, investigations and audits, which may
result in sanctions or reputational harm and increased costs;

revenue and earnings expectations;

contingent consideration provisions in certain our acquisition agreements, the value of which may
impact future financial results;

legal actions, which could subject us to increased operating costs and uninsured liabilities;
general economic conditions, including but not limited to inflationary and recessionary periods;

actual or perceived events involving banking volatility or limited liability, defaults or other adverse
developments that affect the U.S or the international financial systems, may result in market wide
liquidity problems which could have a material and adverse impact on our available cash and results of
operations;

our business depends on hiring, training, and retaining qualified employees;

availability and cost of qualified physical therapists;



competitive environment in the industrial injury prevention services business, which could result in the
termination or non-renewal of contractual service arrangements and other adverse financial
consequences for that service line;

our ability to identify and complete acquisitions, and the successful integration of the operations of the
acquired businesses;

impact on the business and cash reserves resulting from retirement or resignation of key partners and
resulting purchase of their non-controlling interest (minority interests);

maintaining our information technology systems with adequate safeguards to protect against
cyber-attacks;

a security breach of our or our third party vendors’ information technology systems may subject us to
potential legal action and reputational harm and may result in a violation of the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 of the Health Information Technology for Economic and
Clinical Health Act;

maintaining clients for which we perform management, industrial injury prevention related services,
and other services, as a breach or termination of those contractual arrangements by such clients could
cause operating results to be less than expected;

maintaining adequate internal controls;
maintaining necessary insurance coverage;
availability, terms, and use of capital; and

weather and other seasonal factors.

Many factors are beyond our control. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on our
forward-looking statements. Please see the other sections of this report and our other periodic reports filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC’’) for more information on these factors. Our
forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this report. Except as
required by law, we are under no obligation to update any forward-looking statement, regardless of the reason
the statement may no longer be accurate.



PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
GENERAL

LR IS LR T3

U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. and subsidiaries (collectively, “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company’’), operates
its business through two reportable business segments. Our reportable segments consist of the physical therapy
operations segment and the industrial injury prevention services segment. Through our subsidiaries, we operate
outpatient physical therapy clinics that provide pre-and post-operative care for a variety of orthopedic-related
disorders and sports-related injuries, treatment for neurological-related injuries and rehabilitation of injured
workers. We also have a majority interest in businesses which are leading providers of industrial injury
prevention services (“IIP’”). Services provided in this business include onsite injury prevention and rehabilitation,
performance optimization, post-offer employment testing, functional capacity evaluations and ergonomic
assessments. The majority of the IIP services are contracted with and paid for directly by employers, including a
number of Fortune 500 companies. Other clients include large insurers and their contractors. These services are
performed through Industrial Sports Medicine Professionals, consisting primarily of specialized certified athletic
trainers (“ATCs”).

We were re-incorporated in April 1992 under the laws of the State of Nevada and have operating
subsidiaries organized in various states in the form of limited partnerships, limited liability companies and
wholly-owned corporations. This description of our business should be read in conjunction with our financial
statements and the related notes contained in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our principal executive offices are located at 1300 West Sam Houston Parkway South, Suite 300, Houston,
Texas 77042. Our telephone number is (713) 297-7000. Our website is www.usph.com.

Acquisitions of Businesses and Interests

During the last three years, we completed the acquisitions of the following clinic practices and IIP
businesses detailed below:

% Interest Number of

Acquisition Date Acquired Clinics
October 2023 AcquiSition. . . .......o.veiin ... October31,2023 Hk *
September 2023 Acquisition 1 ......... .. .. .. ... September 29, 2023 70% 4
September 2023 Acquisition 2. ... ... . L i September 29, 2023 70% 1
July 2023 AcquiSition . . . .......oitiii i July 31, 2023 70% 7
May 2023 AcquiSition. . . .. ...t May 31, 2023 45% 4
February 2023 Acquisition . ............. .. .. .. . iioin.. February 28, 2023 80% 1
November 2022 AcqUiSItion. . . ..o vvvt et November 30, 2022 80% 13
October 2022 AcquiSition. . . .. ..ot October 31, 2022 60% 14
September 2022 Acquisition. .. ..., September 30, 2022 80% 2
August 2022 ACqUISTtON ... oottt August 31, 2022 70% 6
March 2022 Acquisition . .. ........... . . i March 31, 2022 70% 6
December 2021 Acquisition . ............ ... .. . ..., December 31, 2021 75% 3
November 2021 AcquiSition. .. ..........c.ouvininennnen.. November 30, 2021 70% *
September 2021 Acquisition. .. ........... .. ... ... September 30, 2021 100% *
June 2021 AcquiSition. . . .......ouii i June 30, 2021 65%

March 2021 Acquisition . .. ..ot March 31, 2021 70% 6

* IIP business
**  On October 31, 2023, we concurrently acquired 100% of an IIP business and a 55% equity interest in an ergonomics software business
(“October 2023 Acquisition”).
Our strategy is to continue acquiring outpatient physical therapy practices, develop outpatient physical
therapy clinics as satellites in existing partnerships, and continue acquiring companies that provide or serve the
Company’s industrial injury prevention services sector.



On May 30, 2023, the Company completed a secondary offering of 1,916,667 shares of its common stock at
an offering price of $90.00 per share. Upon completion of the offering, the Company received net proceeds of
approximately $163.6 million, after deducting an underwriting discount of $8.6 million and recognizing related
fees and expenses of $0.2 million. A portion of the net proceeds was used to repay the $35.0 million then
outstanding under the Company’s credit facility while the remainder is expected to be used primarily for
additional acquisitions.

OUR OPERATING SEGMENTS
Physical Therapy Operations

Our physical therapy operations segment primarily operates through subsidiary clinic partnerships (*“Clinic
Partnerships’’), in which the Company generally owns a 1% general partnership interest in the Clinic
Partnerships. The Company’s limited partnership interests generally range from 65% to 75% (a range of
10%-99%) in the Clinic Partnerships. For the vast majority of the Clinic Partnerships, the managing healthcare
practitioner is a physical therapist who owns the remaining limited partnership interest in the Clinic Partnership.
The managing therapist of each clinic owns, directly or indirectly, the remaining limited partnership interest in
most of the clinics (hereinafter referred to as “Clinic Partnerships’’). Generally, the therapist partners have no
interest in the net losses of Clinic Partnerships, except to the extent of their capital accounts. Since we also
develop satellite clinic facilities of existing clinics, most Clinic Partnerships consist of more than one clinic
location. To a lesser extent, the Company operates some clinics, through wholly-owned subsidiaries, under profit
sharing arrangements with therapists (hereinafter referred to as ‘““Wholly-Owned Facilities’’).

Our Clinics

We operated 671 clinics in 42 states on December 31, 2023. Our highest concentration of clinics is in the
following states: Texas, Tennessee, Michigan, Virginia, Florida, Oregon, Maryland, Pennsylvania, Georgia,
Missouri, Idaho, Arizona, South Carolina, Alabama and Connecticut. In addition to our 671 clinics, we also
managed 43 physical therapy practices for unrelated physician groups and hospitals as of December 31, 2023.

The table below indicates historical information regarding our clinic counts.

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Number of clinics, beginning of period. ............. 640 591 554
Additions. ......... .. 46 65 42
Closedorsold......... ..., (15) (16) e
Number of clinics, end of period................... 671 640 591

Our typical clinic occupies 1,000 to 7,000 square feet of leased space in an office building or shopping
center. There are 25 clinics occupying space in the range of over 7,000 square feet to 16,500 square feet. We
attempt to lease ground level space for our patients’ ease of access to our clinics.

Each Clinic Partnership maintains an independent local identity, while at the same time enjoying the benefits
of national purchasing, negotiated third-party payor contracts, centralized support services and management
practices. Under a management agreement, the Company provides a variety of support services to each clinic,
including supervision of site selection, construction, clinic design and equipment selection, establishment of
accounting systems and billing procedures and training of office support personnel, processing of accounts
payable, operational direction, auditing of regulatory compliance, payroll, benefits administration, accounting
services, legal services, quality assurance and marketing support.

We provide services at our clinics on an outpatient basis. Patients are usually treated for approximately one
hour per day, two to three times a week, typically for two to six weeks. We generally charge for treatment on a
per procedure basis. Medicare patients are charged based on prescribed time increments and Medicare billing
standards. In addition, our clinics will develop, when appropriate, individual maintenance and self-management
exercise programs to be continued after treatment. We continually assess the potential for developing new
services and expanding the methods of providing our existing services in the most efficient manner while
providing high quality patient care.



Therapists at our clinics initially perform a comprehensive evaluation of each patient, which is then
followed by a treatment plan specific to the injury as prescribed by the patient’s physician. The treatment plan
may include a number of procedures, including therapeutic exercise, manual therapy techniques, ultrasound,
electrical stimulation, hot packs, iontophoresis, education on management of daily life skills and home exercise
programs. A clinic’s business primarily comes from referrals by local physicians.

Patient Care Providers and Staffing

Typical minimum staff at a clinic consists of a licensed physical therapist and an office manager. As patient
visits grow, staffing may also include additional physical therapists, occupational therapists, therapy assistants,
aides, exercise physiologists, athletic trainers and office personnel. Therapy services are performed under the
supervision of a licensed therapist.

We continue to seek to attract employment of physical therapists who have established relationships with
physicians and other referral sources by offering these therapists a competitive salary and incentives based on the
profitability of the clinic that they manage. For multi-site clinic practices in which a controlling interest is
acquired by us, the prior owners typically continue as employees to manage the clinic operations, retaining a
non-controlling ownership interest in the clinics and receiving a competitive salary for managing the clinic
operations. In addition, we have developed satellite clinic facilities as part of existing Clinic Partnerships and
Wholly-Owned Facilities, with the result that a substantial number of Clinic Partnerships and Wholly-Owned
Facilities operate more than one clinic location. In 2024, we intend to continue to acquire multi-clinic practices
and to continue to develop outpatient physical therapy clinics as satellites in existing partnerships, along with
increasing our patient volume through marketing and new programs.

Typically, each therapist partner or director, including those employed by Clinic Partnerships in which we
acquired a majority interest, enters into a multi-year employment agreement for a term of up to five years with
their Clinic Partnership. Each agreement typically provides for a covenant not to compete during the period of
his or her employment and for up to two years thereafter. Under each employment agreement, the therapist
partner receives a base salary and may receive a bonus based on the net revenues or profits generated by their
Clinic Partnership or specific clinic. In the case of Clinic Partnerships, the therapist partner receives earnings
distributions based upon their ownership interest. Upon termination of employment, we typically have the right
to purchase the therapist’s partnership interest in Clinic Partnerships. For those Clinic Partnerships we created in
connection with an acquisition, our partner also has the right to cause us to purchase their interest upon
termination of their employment, generally after a set holding period.

In connection with most of our acquired clinics, in the event that a limited non-controlling interest partner’s
employment ceases and certain requirements are met as detailed in the respective limited partnership agreements,
we have a call right (the “Call Right”) and the selling entity or individual has a put right (the “Put Right”’) with
respect to the partner’s limited partnership interests. The Put Right and the Call Right do not expire, even upon
an individual partner’s death, and contain no mandatory redemption feature. The purchase price of the partner’s
limited partnership interest upon exercise of the Put Right or the Call Right is calculated at a predetermined
multiple of earnings performance as detailed in the respective agreements.

Sources of Revenue

Payor sources for physical therapy operations are primarily managed care programs, commercial health
insurance, Medicare/Medicaid and workers’ compensation insurance. Commercial health insurance, Medicare and
managed care programs generally provide coverage to patients utilizing our clinics after payment by the patients
of normal deductibles and co-insurance payments. Workers’ compensation laws generally require employers to
provide, directly or indirectly through insurance, costs of medical rehabilitation for their employees from
work-related injuries and disabilities and, in some jurisdictions, mandatory vocational rehabilitation, usually
without any deductibles, co-payments or cost sharing. Treatments for patients who are parties to personal injury
cases are generally paid from the proceeds of settlements with insurance companies or from favorable judgments.
If an unfavorable judgment is received, collection efforts are generally not pursued against the patient and the
patient’s account is written-off against established reserves. Bad debt reserves relating to all receivable types are
regularly reviewed and adjusted as appropriate.



The following table shows our payor mix for the periods presented.

For the Year Ended

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Net Patient Net Patient Net Patient
Payor Revenue  Percentage Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage

(In thousands, except percentages)

Managed Care Programs/Commercial Health

Insurance. .......... ... $244.470 47.5% $215,822 46.5% $209,129 47.7%
Medicare/Medicaid. .. .................... 188,329 36.6% 174,401 37.5% 155,122 35.4%
Workers’ Compensation Insurance .......... 48,834 9.5% 45,010 9.7% 44,549 10.2%
Other....... ... 32,923 6.4% 29,357 6.3% 29,530 6.7%

Total ... $514,556 100.0% $464,590 100.0% $438,330 100.0%

Our physical therapy business depends to a significant extent on our relationships with commercial health
insurers, health maintenance organizations, preferred provider organizations and workers’ compensation insurers.
In some geographical areas, our clinics must be approved as providers by key health maintenance organizations
and preferred provider plans to obtain payments. Failure to obtain or maintain these approvals would adversely
affect financial results.

Medicare

During the year ended December 31, 2023, approximately 40.3% of our visits and 36.6% of our net patient
revenue was from patients with Medicare or Medicaid program coverage. To receive Medicare reimbursement, a
facility (Medicare Certified Rehabilitation Agency) or the individual therapist (Physical/Occupational Therapist in
Private Practice) must meet applicable participation conditions set by the Department of Health and Human
Services (“HHS”) relating to the type of facility, equipment, recordkeeping, personnel and standards of medical
care, and also must comply with all state and local laws. HHS, through Centers for Medicare & Medicaid
Services (“CMS”) and designated agencies, periodically inspects or surveys clinics/providers for approval and/or
compliance. Failure of our subsidiaries to obtain or maintain certifications as Medicare providers or failure to
enroll as a group of physical/occupational therapists in a private practice could adversely affect financial results.

The Medicare program reimburses outpatient rehabilitation providers based on the Medicare Physician Fee
Schedule (“MPFS”).

In 2021 the MPFS established by Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (‘““CMS”) resulted in an
approximate 3.5% decrease in the reimbursement for the codes applicable to physical/occupational therapy
services provided by our clinics, as compared to 2020. Since January 1, 2022, outpatient therapy services
furnished in whole or part by a therapist assistant are paid at an amount equal to 85% of the payment amount
otherwise applicable for the service.

For 2022, the MPFS Final Rule was to be an approximately 3.75% reduction to Medicare payments for
physical/occupational therapy services. This was due to the expiration of the additional funding to the conversion
factor provided by Congress in 2021 under the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021. However, this reduction
was addressed in the Protecting Medicare and American Farmers from Sequester Cuts Act (“2021 Act’) signed
into law on December 10, 2021. Based on various provisions in the 2021 Act, the Medicare rate reduction for
2022 was approximately 0.75%.

In the 2023 MPES Proposed Rule, CMS proposed a 4.5% reduction in the Physician Fee Schedule
conversion factor. However, this reduction was later addressed in the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023
(2023 Act”). The provisions of the 2023 Act increased the conversion factor by 2.5% for 2023 and by 1.25%
for 2024, resulting in an overall reduction of approximately 2% in the 2023 Physician Fee Schedule conversion
factor for 2023. In the 2024 MPFES Final Rule, CMS decreased the Physician Fee Schedule conversion factor by
3.39%, which is estimated to result in an approximately 3.5% reduction in reimbursement for the codes
applicable to physical/occupational therapy services provided by our clinics, as compared to 2023, unless these
reductions are otherwise mitigated by further action of Congress.

The Budget Control Act of 2011 increased the federal debt ceiling in connection with deficit reductions over
the next ten years and requires automatic reductions in federal spending by approximately $1.2 trillion. Payments



to Medicare providers are subject to these automatic spending reductions, subject to a 2% cap. The Bipartisan
Budget Act of 2018 extended the 2% reductions to Medicare payments through fiscal year 2027. The

CARES Act suspended the 2% payment reduction to Medicare payments for dates of service from May 1, 2020,
through December 31, 2020, and the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 further suspended the 2% payment
reduction through March 2021. In April 2021, additional legislation was enacted that waived the 2% payment
reduction for the remainder of calendar 2021. The 2021 Act included a three-month extension of the

2% sequester relief applied to all Medicare payments through March 2022, followed by three months of

1% sequester relief through June 30, 2022. Sequester relief ended on June 30, 2022.

Beginning in 2021, payments to individual therapists (Physical/Occupational Therapist in Private Practice)
paid under the fee schedule may be subject to adjustment based on performance in the Merit Based Incentive
Payment System (“MIPS”’), which measures performance based on certain quality metrics, resource use, and
meaningful use of electronic health records. Therapists eligible to participate in MIPS include only those
therapists who are enrolled with Medicare as private practice providers and does not include therapists in
facility-based providers, such as our clinics enrolled as certified rehabilitation agencies. Less than 3% of our
therapist providers currently participate in MIPS. Under the MIPS requirements, a provider’s performance is
assessed according to established performance standards each year and then is used to determine an adjustment
factor that is applied to the professional’s payment for the corresponding payment year. The provider’s MIPS
performance in 2021 determined the payment adjustment in 2023. For those therapist providers who actually
participated in MIPS during 2020 and 2021, the resulting average payment adjustment in 2022 and 2023 was an
increase of 1%. The 2024 adjustment for those therapist providers who participated in MIPS during 2022 is
expected to remain at an average increase of 1%.

Under the Middle-Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012 (“MCTRA”), since October 1, 2012,
patients who met or exceeded $3,700 in therapy expenditures during a calendar year have been subject to a
manual medical review to determine whether applicable payment criteria are satisfied. The $3,700 threshold is
applied to Physical Therapy and Speech Language Pathology Services; a separate $3,700 threshold is applied to
the Occupational Therapy. The Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 (“MACRA”) directed
CMS to modify the manual medical review process such that those reviews will no longer apply to all claims
exceeding the $3,700 threshold and instead will be determined on a targeted basis based on a variety of factors
that CMS considers appropriate.

The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 extended the targeted medical review indefinitely but reduces the
threshold to $3,000 through December 31, 2027. For 2028, the threshold amount will be increased by the
percentage increase in the Medicare Economic Index (“MEI”) for 2028 and in subsequent years the threshold
amount will increase based on the corresponding percentage increase in the MEI for such subsequent year.

CMS adopted a multiple procedure payment reduction (“MPPR”) for therapy services in the final update to
the MPES for calendar year 2011. The MPPR applied to all outpatient therapy services paid under Medicare
Part B — occupational therapy, physical therapy and speech-language pathology. Under the policy, the Medicare
program pays 100% of the practice expense component of the Relative Value Unit (“RVU”) for the therapy
procedure with the highest practice expense RVU, then reduces the payment for the practice expense component
for the second and subsequent therapy procedures or units of service furnished during the same day for the same
patient, regardless of whether those therapy services are furnished in separate sessions. In 2013, the practice
expense component for the second and subsequent therapy service furnished during the same day for the same
patient was reduced by 50%.

Given the history of frequent revisions to the Medicare program and its reimbursement rates and rules, we
may not continue to receive reimbursement rates from Medicare that sufficiently compensate us for our services
or, in some instances, cover our operating costs. Limits on reimbursement rates or the scope of services being
reimbursed could have a material adverse effect on our revenue, financial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, any delay or default by the federal or state governments in making Medicare and/or Medicaid
reimbursement payments could materially and, adversely, affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Statutes, regulations, and payment rules governing the delivery of therapy services to Medicare beneficiaries
are complex and subject to interpretation. We believe that we are in compliance, in all material respects, with all
applicable laws and regulations and are not aware of any pending or threatened investigations involving



allegations of potential wrongdoing that would have a material effect on our financial statements as of
December 31, 2023. Compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future government review and
interpretation, as well as significant regulatory action including fines, penalties, and exclusion from the Medicare
program.

Marketing

We focus our marketing efforts primarily on physicians, including orthopedic surgeons, neurosurgeons,
physiatrists, internal medicine physicians, podiatrists, occupational medicine physicians and general practitioners.
In marketing to the physician community, we emphasize our commitment to quality patient care and regular
communication with physicians regarding patient progress. We employ personnel to assist clinic directors in
developing and implementing marketing plans for the physician community and to assist in establishing
relationships with health maintenance organizations, preferred provider organizations, case managers and
insurance companies.

Industrial Injury Prevention Services

Services provided in the IIP segment include onsite injury prevention and rehabilitation, performance
optimization, post offer employment testing, functional capacity evaluations, and ergonomic assessments. The
majority of these services are contracted with and paid for directly by employers, including a number of Fortune
500 companies. Other clients include large insurers and their contractors. Our Company performs these services
through Industrial Sports Medicine Professionals, consisting of both physical therapists and ATCs.

In March 2017, we acquired a 55% interest in an initial IIP business. On April 30, 2018, we acquired a
65% interest in another business in the IIP sector and then we combined the two businesses. After the
combination, we owned a 59.45% interest in the combined business, Briotix Health, Limited Partnership
(“Briotix Health™). On April 11, 2019, we acquired 100% of a third provider of industrial injury prevention
services. The acquired company specializes in delivering injury prevention and care, post offer employment
testing, functional capacity evaluations and return-to-work services. It performs these services across a network
in 45 states including onsite at eleven client locations. The business was then combined with Briotix Health
increasing our ownership position in the partnership to approximately 76%. On September 30, 2021, we acquired
a company that specializes in return-to-work and ergonomic services, among other offerings and contributed
those assets to Briotix Health. On October 31, 2023, we made another acquisition and purchased 100% of an IIP
business and contributed its assets to Briotix Health. As part of the October 2023 Acquisition, we also acquired a
55% interest in an ergonomics software business. Subsequent to the abovementioned acquisitions and the
purchases and sales of the redeemable non-controlling interests of the limited partners, our ownership in Briotix
Health is approximately 92%.

On November 30, 2021, we acquired an approximate 70% interest in another leading provider of
IIP services. The founders and owners retained the remaining interest.

FACTORS INFLUENCING DEMAND FOR PHYSICAL THERAPY SERVICES

We believe that the following factors, among others, influence the growth of outpatient physical therapy
services:

e Economic Benefits of Therapy Services — Purchasers and providers of healthcare services, such as
insurance companies, health maintenance organizations, businesses, and industries, continuously seek
cost savings for traditional healthcare services. We believe that our therapy services provide a
cost-effective way to prevent short-term disabilities from becoming chronic conditions, to help avoid
invasive procedures, to speed recovery from surgery and musculoskeletal injuries and eliminate or
minimize the need for opioids.

e  Earlier Hospital Discharge — Changes in health insurance reimbursement, both public and private, have
encouraged the earlier discharge of patients to reduce costs. We believe that early hospital discharge
practices foster greater demand for outpatient physical therapy services.

e  Aging Population — In general, the elderly population has a greater incidence of disability compared to
the population as a whole. As this segment of the population continues to grow, we believe that
demand for rehabilitation services will expand.



REGULATION AND HEALTHCARE REFORM

Numerous federal, state and local regulations regulate healthcare services and those who provide them.
Some states into which we may expand have laws requiring facilities employing health professionals and
providing health-related services to be licensed and, in some cases, to be owned by licensed physical therapists.
Our therapists and/or clinics, however, are required to be licensed, as determined by the state in which they
provide services. Failure to obtain or maintain any required approvals or licenses could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Regulations Controlling Fraud and Abuse

Various federal and state laws regulate financial relationships involving providers of healthcare services.
These laws include Section 1128B(b) of the Social Security Act (42 U.S. C. § 1320a-7b[b]) (the “‘Fraud and
Abuse Law’’), under which civil and criminal penalties can be imposed upon persons who, among other things,
offer, solicit, pay or receive remuneration in return for (i) the referral of patients for the rendering of any item or
service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, by a Federal health care program (including
Medicare and Medicaid); or (ii) purchasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging for or recommending purchasing,
leasing, ordering any good, facility, service, or item for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, by a
Federal health care program (including Medicare and Medicaid). We believe that our business procedures and
business arrangements are in compliance with these provisions. However, the provisions are broadly written and
the full extent of their specific application to specific facts and arrangements to which we are a party is uncertain
and difficult to predict. In addition, several states have enacted state laws similar to the Fraud and Abuse Law,
which may be more restrictive than the federal Fraud and Abuse Law.

The Office of the Inspector General (““OIG”) of HHS has issued regulations describing compensation
financial arrangements that fall within a “Safe Harbor’’ and, therefore, are not viewed as illegal remuneration
under the Fraud and Abuse Law. Failure to fall within a Safe Harbor does not mean that the Fraud and Abuse
Law has been violated; however, the OIG has indicated that failure to fall within a Safe Harbor may subject an
arrangement to increased scrutiny under a “facts and circumstances’ test.

The OIG also has issued special fraud alerts and special advisory bulletins to remind the provider
community of the importance and application of certain aspects of the Fraud and Abuse Law. One of the OIG
special fraud alerts related to the rental of space in physician offices by persons or entities to which the
physicians refer patients. The OIG’s stated concern in these arrangements is that rental payments may be
disguised kickbacks to the physician-landlords to induce referrals. We rent clinic space for some of our clinics
from referring physicians and have taken the steps that we believe are necessary to ensure that all leases comply
to the extent possible and applicable, with the space rental Safe Harbor to the Fraud and Abuse Law.

One of the OIG’s special advisory bulletins addressed certain complex contractual arrangements for the
provision of items and services. This special advisory bulletin identified several characteristics commonly
exhibited by suspect arrangements, the existence of one or more of which could indicate a prohibited
arrangement to the OIG.

Due to the nature of our business operations, some of our management service arrangements exhibit one or
more of these characteristics. However, we believe we have taken steps regarding the structure of such
arrangements as necessary to sufficiently distinguish them from these suspect ventures, and to comply with the
requirements of the Fraud and Abuse Law. However, if the OIG believes we have entered into a prohibited
contractual joint venture, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Although the business of managing physician-owned and hospital-owned physical therapy facilities is
regulated by the Fraud and Abuse Law, the manner in which we contract with such facilities often falls outside
the complete scope of available Safe Harbors. We believe our arrangements comply with the Fraud and Abuse
Law, even though federal courts provide limited guidance as to the application of the Fraud and Abuse Law to
these arrangements. If our management contracts are held to violate the Fraud and Abuse Law, it could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Stark Law

Provisions of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 (42 U.S.C. § 1395nn) (the “Stark Law’’)
prohibit referrals by a physician of “‘designated health services” which are payable, in whole or in part, by
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Medicare or Medicaid, to an entity in which the physician or the physician’s immediate family member has an
investment interest or other financial relationship, subject to several exceptions. Unlike the Fraud and Abuse
Law, the Stark Law is a strict liability statute. Proof of intent to violate the Stark Law is not required. Physical
therapy and occupational therapy services are among the “designated health services”. Further, the Stark Law
has application to our management contracts with individual physicians and physician groups, as well as any
other financial relationship between us and referring physicians, including medical advisor arrangements and any
financial transaction resulting from a clinic acquisition. The Stark Law also prohibits billing for services rendered
pursuant to a prohibited referral. Several states have enacted laws similar to the Stark Law. These state laws may
cover all (not just Medicare and Medicaid) patients. As with the Fraud and Abuse Law, we consider the Stark
Law in planning our clinics, establishing contractual and other arrangements with physicians, marketing and
other activities, and believe that our operations are in compliance with the Stark Law. If we violate the Stark
Law or any similar state laws, our financial results and operations could be adversely affected. Penalties for
violations include denial of payment for the services, significant civil monetary penalties, and exclusion from the
Medicare and Medicaid programs.

HIPAA

In an effort to further combat healthcare fraud and protect patient confidentially, Congress included several
anti-fraud measures in the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”). HIPAA
created a source of funding for fraud control to coordinate federal, state and local healthcare law enforcement
programs, conduct investigations, provide guidance to the healthcare industry concerning fraudulent healthcare
practices, and establish a national data bank to receive and report final adverse actions. HIPAA also criminalized
certain forms of health fraud against all public and private payors. Additionally, HIPAA mandates the adoption of
standards regarding the exchange of healthcare information in an effort to ensure the privacy and electronic
security of patient information and standards relating to the privacy of health information. Sanctions for failing to
comply with HIPAA include criminal penalties and civil sanctions. In February of 2009, the American Recovery
and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (““ARRA”) was signed into law. Title XIII of ARRA, the Health Information
Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH”), provided for substantial Medicare and Medicaid
incentives for providers to adopt electronic health records (““EHRs”) and grants for the development of health
information exchange (““HIE”). Recognizing that HIE and EHR systems will not be implemented unless the
public can be assured that the privacy and security of patient information in such systems is protected, HITECH
also significantly expanded the scope of the privacy and security requirements under HIPAA. Most notable are
the mandatory breach notification requirements and a heightened enforcement scheme that includes increased
penalties, and which now apply to business associates as well as to covered entities. In addition to HIPAA, a
number of states have adopted laws and/or regulations applicable in the use and disclosure of individually
identifiable health information that can be more stringent than comparable provisions under HIPAA.

We believe that our operations comply with applicable standards for privacy and security of protected
healthcare information. We cannot predict what negative effect, if any, HIPAA/HITECH or any applicable state
law or regulation will have on our business.

Other Regulatory Factors

Political, economic and regulatory influences are fundamentally changing the healthcare industry in the
United States. Congress, state legislatures and the private sector continue to review and assess alternative
healthcare delivery and payment systems. Potential alternative approaches could include mandated basic
healthcare benefits, controls on healthcare spending through limitations on the growth of private health insurance
premiums and Medicare and Medicaid spending, the creation of large insurance purchasing groups, and price
controls. Legislative debate is expected to continue in the future and market forces are expected to demand only
modest increases or reduced costs. For instance, managed care entities are demanding lower reimbursement rates
from healthcare providers and, in some cases, are requiring or encouraging providers to accept capitated
payments that may not allow providers to cover their full costs or realize traditional levels of profitability. We
cannot reasonably predict what impact the adoption of federal or state healthcare reform measures or future
private sector reform may have on our business.

COMPETITION

The healthcare industry, including the physical therapy business and the industrial injury prevention services
business, is highly competitive. The physical therapy business as well as the industrial injury prevention services
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business are both highly fragmented with no company having a significant market share nationally. We believe
that we are one of the largest national outpatient physical therapy services providers.

Competitive factors affecting our business include quality of care, cost, treatment outcomes, convenience of
location, and relationships with, and ability to meet the needs of, referral and payor sources. Our clinics compete,
directly or indirectly, with many types of healthcare providers including the physical therapy departments of
hospitals, private therapy clinics, physician-owned therapy clinics, and chiropractors. We may face more intense
competition if consolidation of the therapy industry continues.

We believe that our partnership strategy provides us with a competitive advantage. Our clinics are partly
owned by therapists who have developed exceptional reputations in their local communities and these
therapist-owners oversee their respective clinic operations helping to ensure the success of the clinics.

ENFORCEMENT ENVIRONMENT

In recent years, federal and state governments have launched several initiatives aimed at uncovering
behavior that violates the federal civil and criminal laws regarding false claims and fraudulent billing and coding
practices. Such laws require providers to adhere to complex reimbursement requirements regarding proper billing
and coding in order to be compensated for their services by government payors. Our compliance program
requires adherence to applicable law and promotes reimbursement education and training; however, a
determination that our clinics’ billing and coding practices are false or fraudulent could have a material adverse
effect on us.

As a result of our participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, we are subject to various
governmental inspections, reviews, audits and investigations to verify our compliance with these programs and
applicable laws and regulations. Federal, state and private payors regularly conduct audits of billing and coding
practices at our clinics. An adverse inspection, review, audit or investigation could result in refunding amounts
we have been paid; fines penalties and/or revocation of billing privileges for the affected clinics; the imposition
of a corporate integrity agreement; exclusion from participation in the Medicare or Medicaid programs or one or
more managed care payor networks; or damage to our reputation.

We and our clinics are subject to federal and state laws prohibiting entities and individuals from knowingly
and willfully making claims to Medicare, Medicaid and other governmental programs and third-party payors that
contain false or fraudulent information. The federal False Claims Act encourages private individuals to file suits
on behalf of the government against healthcare providers such as us. As such suits are generally filed under seal
with a court to allow the government adequate time to investigate and determine whether it will intervene in the
action, the implicated healthcare providers often are unaware of the suit until the government has made its
determination and the seal is lifted. Violations or alleged violations of such laws, and any related lawsuits, could
result in (i) exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, or
(i) significant financial or criminal sanctions, resulting in the possibility of substantial financial penalties for
small billing errors that are replicated in a large number of claims, as each individual claim could be deemed a
separate violation. In addition, many states also have enacted similar statutes, which may include criminal
penalties, substantial fines, and treble damages.

COMPLIANCE PROGRAM
Our Compliance Program

Our ongoing success depends upon our reputation for quality service and ethical business practices. We
operate in a highly regulated environment with many federal, state and local laws and regulations. We take a
proactive interest in understanding and complying with the laws and regulations that apply to our business.

Our Board of Directors (the “Board”’) has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and a set of
Corporate Governance Guidelines to clarify the ethical standards under which the Board and management carry
out their duties. In addition, the Board has created a Compliance Committee of the Board (*“Compliance
Committee’”) whose purpose is to assist the Board in discharging their oversight responsibilities with respect to
compliance with federal and state laws and regulations relating to healthcare.

We have issued a Compliance Manual and created compliance training materials, hand-outs and an on-line
testing program. These tools were prepared to ensure that every employee of our Company and subsidiaries has a
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clear understanding of our mutual commitment to high standards of professionalism, honesty, fairness and
compliance with the law in conducting business. These standards are administered by our Chief Compliance
Officer (““CCO’’), who has the responsibility for the day-to-day oversight, administration and development of our
compliance program. The CCO, internal and external counsel, management and the Compliance Committee
review our policies and procedures for our compliance program from time to time in an effort to improve
operations and to ensure compliance with requirements of standards, laws and regulations and to reflect the
on-going compliance focus areas which have been identified by management, counsel or the Compliance
Committee. We also have established systems for reporting potential violations, educating our employees,
monitoring and auditing compliance and handling enforcement and discipline.

Committees

Our Compliance Committee, appointed by the Board, consists of four independent directors. The
Compliance Committee has general oversight of our Company’s compliance with the legal and regulatory
requirements regarding healthcare operations, as well as cybersecurity. The Compliance Committee relies on the
expertise and knowledge of management, the CCO and other compliance and legal personnel. The CCO regularly
communicates with the Chairman of the Compliance Committee. The Compliance Committee meets at least four
times a year or more frequently as necessary to carry out its responsibilities and reports regularly to the Board
regarding its actions and recommendations.

We also have an Internal Compliance Committee, which is comprised of Company leaders in the areas of
operations, clinical services, finance, human resources, legal, information technology and credentialing. The
Internal Compliance Committee has the responsibility for evaluating and assessing Company areas of risk
relating to compliance with federal and state healthcare laws, and generally to assist the CCO. The Internal
Compliance Committee meets at least four times a year or more frequently as necessary to carry out its
responsibilities. In addition, management has appointed a team to address our Company’s compliance with
HIPAA. The HIPAA team consists of a security officer and employees from our legal, information systems,
finance, operations, compliance, business services and human resources departments. The team prepares
assessments and makes recommendations regarding operational changes and/or new systems, if needed, to
comply with HIPAA.

Each clinic certified as a Medicare Rehabilitation Agency has a formally appointed governing body
composed of a member of our management and the director/administrator of the clinic. The governing body
retains legal responsibility for the overall conduct of the clinic. The members confer regularly and discuss,
among other issues, clinic compliance with applicable laws and regulations. In addition, there are Professional
Advisory Committees which serve as Infection Control Committees. These committees meet in the facilities and
function as advisors.

We have in place a Risk Management Committee consisting of, among others, the CCO, the Vice President
of Human Resources, and other legal, compliance and operations personnel. This committee reviews and
monitors all employee and patient incident reports and provides clinic personnel with actions to be taken in
response to the reports.

Reporting Violations

In order to facilitate our employees’ ability to report in confidence, anonymously and without retaliation any
perceived improper work-related activities, accounting irregularities and other violations of our compliance
program, we have set up an independent national compliance hotline. The compliance hotline is available to
receive confidential reports of wrongdoing Monday through Friday (excluding holidays), 24 hours a day. The
compliance hotline is staffed by experienced third party professionals trained to utilize utmost care and discretion
in handling sensitive issues and confidential information. The information received is documented and forwarded
timely to the CCO, who, together with the Compliance Committee, has the power and resources to investigate
and resolve matters of improper conduct.

Educating Our Employees

We utilize numerous methods to train our employees in compliance related issues, including an online
learning management system. All employees complete a comprehensive training program comprised of numerous
modules relating to our business and proper practices when newly hired and annually thereafter. The
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directors/administrators also provide periodic “‘refresher’ training for existing employees and one-on-one
comprehensive training with new hires. The corporate compliance group responds to questions from clinic
personnel and conducts frequent teleconference meetings, webinars and training sessions on a variety of
compliance related topics.

When a clinic opens, we provide a package of compliance materials containing manuals and detailed
instructions for meeting Medicare Conditions of Participation Standards and other compliance requirements.
During follow up training with the director/administrator of the clinic, compliance department staff explain
various details regarding requirements and compliance standards. Compliance staff will remain in contact with
the director/administrator while the clinic is implementing compliance standards and will provide any assistance
required. All new office managers receive training (including Medicare, regulatory and corporate compliance,
insurance billing, charge entry and transaction posting and coding, daily, weekly and monthly accounting reports)
from the training staff at the corporate office. The corporate compliance group will assist in continued
compliance, including guidance to the clinic staff with regard to Medicare certifications, state survey
requirements and responses to any inquiries from regulatory agencies.

Monitoring and Auditing Clinic Operational Compliance

We have in place audit programs and other procedures to monitor and audit clinic operational compliance
with applicable policies and procedures. We employ internal auditors who, as part of their job responsibilities,
conduct periodic audits of each clinic. Most clinics are audited at least once every 24 months and additional
focused audits are performed as deemed necessary. During these audits, particular attention is given to
compliance with Medicare and internal policies, Federal and state laws and regulations, third party payor
requirements, and patient chart documentation, billing, reporting, record keeping, collections and contract
procedures. The audits are conducted on site or remotely and include interviews with the employees involved in
management, operations, billing and accounts receivable.

Formal audit reports are prepared and reviewed with corporate management and the Compliance Committee.
Each clinic director/administrator receives a letter instructing them of any corrective measures required. Each
clinic director/administrator then works with the compliance team and operations to ensure such corrective
measures are achieved.

Handling Enforcement and Discipline

It is our policy that any employee who fails to comply with compliance program requirements or who
negligently or deliberately fails to comply with known laws or regulations specifically addressed in our
compliance program should be subject to disciplinary action up to and including discharge from employment.
The Compliance Committee, compliance staff, human resources staff and management investigate violations of
our compliance program and impose disciplinary action as considered appropriate.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2023, we employed approximately 6,720 people nationwide, of which approximately
3,899 were full-time employees. It is crucial that we continue to attract and retain top talent. To attract and retain
talented employees, we strive to make our corporate office and all our practices and businesses a diverse and
healthy workplace, with opportunities for our employees to receive continuing education, skill development,
encouragement to grow and develop their career, all supported by competitive compensation, incentives, and
benefits. Our clinical professionals are all licensed and a vast majority have advanced degrees. Our operational
leadership teams have long-standing relationships with local and regional universities, professional affiliations,
and other applicable sources that provide our practices with a talent pipeline.

We provide competitive compensation and benefits programs to help meet our employees’ needs in the
practices and communities in which they serve. These programs (which can vary by practice and employment
classification) include competitive base salaries, incentive compensation plans, a 401(k) plan, healthcare and
insurance benefits, health savings and flexible spending accounts, paid time off, family leave, education
assistance, mental health, and other employee assistance benefits.

We invest resources to develop the talent needed to support our business strategy. Resources include a
multitude of training and development programs delivered internally and externally, online and instructor-led, and
on-the-job learning formats.
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We expect to continue adding personnel in the future as we focus on potential acquisition targets and
organic growth opportunities.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act are made
available free of charge on our internet website at www.usph.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains a website that contains
reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding our filings at http://www.sec.gov.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business, operations and financial condition are subject to various risks. Some of these risks are
described below, and readers of this Annual Report on Form 10-K should take such risks into account in
evaluating our Company or making any decision to invest in us. This section does not describe all risks
applicable to our Company, our industry or our business, and it is intended only as a summary of material factors
affecting our business.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS
Decreases in Medicare reimbursement rate may adversely affect our financial results.

The Medicare program reimburses outpatient rehabilitation providers based on the Medicare Physician Fee
Schedule (““MPFS”*). For services provided in 2024, we expect our reimbursement rates under the MPFES to be
approximately 3.5% less than the applicable reimbursement rates during 2023.

Statutes, regulations, and payment rules governing the delivery of therapy services to Medicare beneficiaries
are complex and subject to interpretation. The Company believes that the Company is in compliance, in all
material respects, with all applicable laws and regulations and are not aware of any pending or threatened
investigations involving allegations of potential wrongdoing that would have a material effect on the Company’s
financial statements as of December 31, 2023. Compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to
future government review and interpretation, as well as significant regulatory action including fines, penalties,
and exclusion from the Medicare program. For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, net
patient revenues from Medicare were approximately $170.7 million and $154.9 million, respectively.

Given the history of frequent revisions to the Medicare program and its reimbursement rates and rules, we may
not continue to receive reimbursement rates from Medicare that sufficiently compensate us for our services or, in some
instances, cover our operating costs. Limits on reimbursement rates or the scope of services being reimbursed could
have a material adverse effect on our revenue, financial condition, and results of operations. Additionally, any delay or
default by the federal or state governments in making Medicare and/or Medicaid reimbursement payments could
materially and, adversely, affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue we receive from Medicare and Medicaid is subject to potential retroactive reduction.

Payments we receive from Medicare and Medicaid can be retroactively adjusted after examination during
the claims settlement process or as a result of post-payment audits. Payors may disallow our requests for
reimbursement, or recoup amounts previously reimbursed, based on determinations by the payors or their
third-party audit contractors that certain costs are not reimbursable because either adequate or additional
documentation was not provided or because certain services were not covered or deemed to not be medically
necessary. Significant adjustments, recoupments or repayments of our Medicare or Medicaid revenue, and the
costs associated with complying with investigative audits by regulatory and governmental authorities, could
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, from time to time we become aware, either based on information provided by third parties
and/or the results of internal audits, of payments from payor sources that were either wholly or partially in
excess of the amount that we should have been paid for the service provided. Overpayments may result from a
variety of factors, including insufficient documentation supporting the services rendered or medical necessity of
the services or other failures to document the satisfaction of the necessary conditions of payment. We are
required by law in most instances to refund the full amount of the overpayment after becoming aware of it, and
failure to do so within requisite time limits imposed by the law could lead to significant fines and penalties being
imposed on us. Furthermore, our initial billing of and payments for services that are unsupported by the requisite
documentation and satisfaction of any other conditions of payment, regardless of our awareness of the failure at
the time of the billing or payment, could expose us to significant fines and penalties. We, and/or certain of our
operating companies, could also be subject to exclusion from participation in the Medicare or Medicaid programs
in some circumstances as well, in addition to any monetary or other fines, penalties or sanctions that we may
incur under applicable federal and/or state law. Our repayment of any such amounts, as well as any fines,
penalties or other sanctions that we may incur, could be significant and could have a material and adverse effect
on our results of operations and financial condition.

From time to time, we are also involved in various external governmental investigations, audits and reviews.
Reviews, audits and investigations of this sort can lead to government actions, which can result in the assessment
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of damages, civil or criminal fines or penalties, or other sanctions, including restrictions or changes in the way
we conduct business, loss of licensure or exclusion from participation in government programs. Failure to
comply with applicable laws, regulations and rules could have a material and adverse effect on our results of
operations and financial condition. Furthermore, becoming subject to these governmental investigations, audits
and reviews can also require us to incur significant legal and document production expenses as we cooperate
with the government authorities, regardless of whether the particular investigation, audit or review leads to the
identification of underlying issues.

We depend upon reimbursement by third-party payors.

Substantially all of our revenues are derived from private and governmental third-party payors. In 2023,
approximately 63.4% of our revenues were derived collectively from managed care plans, commercial health
insurers, workers’ compensation payors, and other private pay revenue sources while approximately 36.6% of our
revenues were derived from Medicare and Medicaid. Initiatives undertaken by industry and government to
contain healthcare costs affect the profitability of our clinics. These payors attempt to control healthcare costs by
contracting with healthcare providers to obtain services on a discounted basis. We believe that this trend will
continue and may limit reimbursement for healthcare services. If insurers or managed care companies from
whom we receive substantial payments were to reduce the amounts they pay for services, our profit margins may
decline, or we may lose patients if we choose not to renew our contracts with these insurers at lower rates. In
addition, in certain geographical areas, our clinics must be approved as providers by key health maintenance
organizations and preferred provider plans. Failure to obtain or maintain these approvals would adversely affect
our financial results.

In recent years, through legislative and regulatory actions, the federal government has made substantial
changes to various payment systems under the Medicare program. See ‘“Business—Sources of Revenue —
Physical Therapy Services” in Item 1 for more information including changes to Medicare reimbursement.
Additional reforms or other changes to these payment systems may be proposed or adopted, either by the
U.S. Congress or by CMS, including bundled payments, outcomes-based payment methodologies and a shift
away from traditional fee-for-service reimbursement. If revised regulations are adopted, the availability, methods
and rates of Medicare reimbursements for services of the type furnished at our facilities could change. Some of
these changes and proposed changes could adversely affect our business strategy, operations and financial results.

Our facilities are subject to extensive federal and state laws and regulations relating to the privacy of
individually identifiable patient information.

HIPAA required the HHS to adopt standards to protect the privacy and security of individually identifiable
health-related information. The department released final regulations containing privacy standards in 2000 and
published revisions to the final regulations in 2002. The privacy regulations extensively regulate the use and
disclosure of individually identifiable health-related information. The regulations also provide patients with
significant rights related to understanding and controlling how their health information is used or disclosed. The
security regulations require healthcare providers to implement administrative, physical and technical practices to
protect the security of individually identifiable health information that is maintained or transmitted electronically.
HITECH, which was signed into law in 2009, enhanced the privacy, security and enforcement provisions of
HIPAA by, among other things establishing security breach notification requirements, allowing enforcement of
HIPAA by state attorneys general, and increasing penalties for HIPAA violations. Violations of HIPAA or
HITECH could result in civil or criminal penalties.

In addition to HIPAA, there are numerous federal and state laws and regulations addressing patient and
consumer privacy concerns, including unauthorized access or theft of personal information. State statutes and
regulations vary from state to state. Lawsuits, including class actions and action by state attorneys general,
directed at companies that have experienced a privacy or security breach also can occur.

We have established policies and procedures in an effort to ensure compliance with these privacy related
requirements. However, if there is a breach, we may be subject to various penalties and damages and may be
required to incur costs to mitigate the impact of the breach on affected individuals.
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We are subject to risks associated with public health crises and epidemics/pandemics, such as the novel strain
of coronavirus (“COVID-19”).

Our operations expose us to risks associated with public health crises and epidemics/pandemics, such as
COVID-19 that has spread globally. A public health crisis may lead to disruption and volatility in the global
capital markets, which increases the cost of, and adversely impacts access to, capital and increases economic
uncertainty. A future public health crisis could have an adverse impact on our operations and supply chains,
including a temporary loss of physical therapists and other employees who are infected or quarantined for a
period of time, an increase in cancellations of physical therapy patient appointments and a decline in the
scheduling of new or additional patient appointments.

We expect the federal and state governments to continue their efforts to contain growth in Medicaid
expenditures, which could adversely affect our revenue and profitability.

Medicaid spending has increased rapidly in recent years, becoming a significant component of state budgets.
This, combined with slower state revenue growth, has led both the federal government and many states to
institute measures aimed at controlling the growth of Medicaid spending, and in some instances reducing
aggregate Medicaid spending. We expect these state and federal efforts to continue for the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, not all of the states in which we operate, most notably Texas, have elected to expand Medicaid as
part of federal healthcare reform legislation. There can be no assurance that the program, on the current terms or
otherwise, will continue for any particular period of time beyond the foreseeable future. If Medicaid
reimbursement rates are reduced or fail to increase as quickly as our costs, or if there are changes in the rules
governing the Medicaid program that are disadvantageous to our businesses, our business and results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

As a result of increased post-payment reviews of claims we submit to Medicare for our services, we may incur
additional costs and may be required to repay amounts already paid to us.

We are subject to regular post-payment inquiries, investigations, and audits of the claims we submit to
Medicare for payment for our services. These post-payment reviews have increased as a result of government
cost-containment initiatives. These additional post-payment reviews may require us to incur additional costs to
respond to requests for records and to pursue the reversal of payment denials, and ultimately may require us to
refund amounts paid to us by Medicare that are determined to have been overpaid.

For a further description of this and other laws and regulations involving governmental reimbursements, see
“Business—Sources of Revenue” and “—Regulation and Healthcare Reform™ in Item 1.

An economic downturn, state budget pressures, sustained unemployment and continued deficit spending by the
federal government may result in a reduction in reimbursement and covered services.

An economic downturn, including the consequences of a pandemic, such as COVID-19, could have a
detrimental effect on our revenues. Historically, state budget pressures have translated into reductions in state
spending. Given that Medicaid outlays are a significant component of state budgets, we can expect continuing
cost containment pressures on Medicaid outlays for our services in the states in which we operate. In addition, an
economic downturn, coupled with sustained unemployment, may also impact the number of enrollees in managed
care programs as well as the profitability of managed care companies, which could result in reduced
reimbursement rates.

The existing federal deficit, as well as deficit spending by federal and state governments as the result of
adverse developments in the economy or other reasons, can lead to continuing pressure to reduce governmental
expenditures for other purposes, including government-funded programs in which we participate, such as
Medicare and Medicaid. Such actions in turn may adversely affect our results of operations.

We may be required to comply with a put right in one of our acquisition agreements, related to a potential
future purchase of a majority interest in a separate company.

One of our acquisition agreements includes a put right for the potential future purchase of a majority
interest in a separate company at a purchase price which is derived based on a specified multiple of the separate
company'’s historical earnings. The exercise of the put right is outside of our control. In the event the put right is
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triggered, we are required to purchase the aforementioned equity interest at a calculated purchase price. The
resulting purchase price may be greater than the fair value of such equity interests at the time, and we may or
may not have the capital necessary to satisfy such contractual purchase obligation, in which case we could be in
breach.

Our debt and financial obligations could adversely affect our financial condition, our ability to obtain future
financing, and our ability to operate our business.

We have outstanding debt obligations that could adversely affect our financial condition and limit our ability
to successfully implement our business strategy. Furthermore, from time to time, we may need additional
financing to support our business and pursue our business strategy, including strategic acquisitions. Our ability to
obtain additional financing, if and when required, will depend on investor demand, our operating performance,
the condition of the capital markets, and other factors. We cannot provide assurances that additional financing
will be available to us on favorable terms when required, or at all.

Our loan agreements contain certain restrictions and requirements that among other things:
e require us to maintain a quarterly fixed charge coverage ratio and minimum working capital ratio;

e limit our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures
and acquisitions, to fund growth or for general corporate purposes;

e limit our future ability to refinance our indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all;

e  limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and market conditions or in
funding our strategic growth plan; and

e impose on us financial and operational restrictions.

Our ability to meet our debt service obligations will depend on our future performance, which will be
affected by the other risk factors described herein. If we do not generate enough cash flow to pay our debt
service obligations, we may be required to refinance all or part of our existing debt, sell our assets, borrow more
money or raise equity. There is no guarantee that we will be able to take any of these actions on a timely basis,
on terms satisfactory to us, or at all.

If we fail to satisfy our debt service obligations or the other restrictions and requirements in our loan
agreements, we could be in default. Unless cured or waived, a default would permit lenders to accelerate the
maturity of the debt under the credit agreement and to foreclose upon the collateral securing the debt.

Our outstanding loans bear interest at variable rates. In response to the variable rates, we entered into an
interest rate swap agreement. We are exposed to certain market risks during the ordinary course of business due
to adverse changes in interest rates. The exposure to interest rate risk primarily results from our variable-rate
borrowing. Fluctuations in interest rates can be volatile and the Company’s risk management activities do not
eliminate these risks. In May 2022, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement to manage these risks. While
intended to reduce the effects of fluctuations in these prices and rates, these transactions may limit our potential
gains or expose us to losses. If our counterparties to such transactions or the sponsors fail to honor their
obligations due to financial distress, we would be exposed to potential losses or the inability to recover
anticipated gains from these transactions.

Some of our acquisition agreements contain contingent consideration, the value of which may impact future
financial resullts.

Some of our acquisition agreements include contingent earn-out consideration, the fair value of which is
estimated as of the acquisition date based on the present value of the expected contingent payments as
determined using weighted probabilities of possible future payments. These fair value estimates contain
unobservable inputs and estimates that could materially differ from the actual future results and we cannot
predict the ultimate result. The fair value of the contingent earn-out consideration could increase or decrease, as
applicable. Changes in the fair value of contingent earn-outs will be reflected in our results of operations in the
period in which they are recognized, the amount of which may be material and could cause volatility in our
operating results.
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Impact on the business and cash reserves resulting from retirement or resignation of key partners and
resulting purchase of their non-controlling interests (minority interests).

As described in Note 6 to our financial statements included in Item 8, the redeemable non-controlling
interests in our partnerships are held by our partners. Upon the occurrence of certain events, such as retirement
or other termination of employment, partners from acquired partnerships may have the right to exercise a “put”
to cause us to purchase their redeemable non-controlling interests. Depending on the amount and timing of the
exercise of any ‘“‘put” rights, the funds required could have an adverse impact on our capital structure.

Healthcare reform legislation may affect our business.

In recent years, many legislative proposals have been introduced or proposed in Congress and in some state
legislatures that would affect major changes in the healthcare system, either nationally or at the state level. At the
federal level, Congress has continued to propose or consider healthcare budgets that substantially reduce
payments under the Medicare programs. See ‘‘Business—Our Operating Segments — Physical Therapy
Operations-Sources of Revenue” in Item 1 for more information. The ultimate content, timing or effect of any
healthcare reform legislation and the impact of potential legislation on us is uncertain and difficult, if not
impossible, to predict. That impact may be material to our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our operations are subject to extensive regulation.
The healthcare industry is subject to extensive federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to:
e  facility and professional licensure/permits, including certificates of need;

e conduct of operations, including financial relationships among healthcare providers, Medicare fraud and
abuse, and physician self-referral;

e addition of facilities and services; and
e  coding, billing and payment for services.

In recent years, there have been heightened coordinated civil and criminal enforcement efforts by both
federal and state government agencies relating to the healthcare industry. We believe we are in substantial
compliance with all laws, but differing interpretations or enforcement of these laws and regulations could subject
our current practices to allegations of impropriety or illegality or could require us to make changes in our
methods of operations, facilities, equipment, personnel, services and capital expenditure programs and increase
our operating expenses. If we fail to comply with these extensive laws and government regulations, we could
become ineligible to receive government program reimbursement, suffer civil or criminal penalties or be required
to make significant changes to our operations. In addition, we could be forced to expend considerable resources
responding to an investigation or other enforcement action under these laws or regulations. For a more complete
description of certain of these laws and regulations, see ‘‘Business—Regulation and Healthcare Reform” and
“Business—Compliance Program” in Item 1.

Both federal and state regulatory agencies inspect, survey, and audit our facilities to review our compliance
with these laws and regulations. While our facilities intend to comply with the existing licensing, Medicare
certification requirements and accreditation standards, there can be no assurance that these regulatory authorities
will determine that all applicable requirements are fully met at any given time. A determination by any of these
regulatory authorities that a facility is not in compliance with these requirements could lead to the imposition of
requirements that the facility takes corrective action, assessment of fines and penalties, or loss of licensure or
Medicare certification of accreditation. These consequences could have an adverse effect on us.

Our operations are subject to investigations, legal actions and proceedings that could result in an adverse
impact on our business and financial position.

Healthcare providers are subject to investigations, legal actions and proceedings, as well as lawsuits under
the qui tam provisions of the federal False Claims Act, based on claims that the provider failed to comply with
applicable laws and regulations that govern coding and the submission of claims for services provided to
Medicare patients, among other things. These matters can involve significant costs, monetary damages and
penalties. We have been subject to these proceedings in the past, and future proceedings could result in an
adverse impact on our business and financial results.
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We face inspections, reviews, audits and investigations under federal and state government programs and
contracts. These audits could have adverse findings that may negatively affect our business.

As a result of our participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, we are subject to various
governmental inspections, reviews, audits and investigations to verify our compliance with these programs and
applicable laws and regulations. Managed care payors may also reserve the right to conduct audits. An adverse
inspection, review, audit or investigation could result in:

e refunding amounts we have been paid pursuant to the Medicare or Medicaid programs or from
managed care payors;

e  state or federal agencies imposing fines, penalties and other sanctions on us;
e temporary suspension of payment for new patients to the facility or agency;

e  decertification or exclusion from participation in the Medicare or Medicaid programs or one or more
managed care payor networks;

e the imposition of a new Corporate Integrity Agreement;

e  damage to our reputation;

e the revocation of a facility’s or agency’s license; and

e  loss of certain rights under, or termination of, our contracts with managed care payors.

If adverse inspections, reviews, audits or investigations occur and any of the results noted above occur, it
could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

In conducting our business, we are required to comply with applicable laws regarding fee-splitting and the
corporate practice of medicine.

Some states prohibit the “corporate practice of therapy’ that restricts business corporations from providing
physical therapy services through the direct employment of therapist physicians or from exercising control over
medical decisions by therapists. The laws relating to corporate practice vary from state to state and are not fully
developed in each state in which we have facilities. Typically, however, professional corporations owned and
controlled by licensed professionals are exempt from corporate practice restrictions and may employ therapists to
furnish professional services. Those professional corporations may be managed by business corporations, such as
the Company.

Some states also prohibit entities from engaging in certain financial arrangements, such as fee-splitting, with
physicians or therapists. The laws relating to fee-splitting also vary from state to state and are not fully
developed. Generally, these laws restrict business arrangements that involve a physician or therapist sharing
medical fees with a referral source, but in some states, these laws have been interpreted to extend to management
agreements between physicians or therapists and business entities under some circumstances.

We believe that our current and planned activities do not constitute fee-splitting or the unlawful corporate
practice of medicine as contemplated by these state laws. However, there can be no assurance that future
interpretations of such laws will not require structural and organizational modification of our existing
relationships with the practices. If a court or regulatory body determines that we have violated these laws or if
new laws are introduced that would render our arrangements illegal, we could be subject to civil or criminal
penalties, our contracts could be found legally invalid and unenforceable (in whole or in part), or we could be
required to restructure our contractual arrangements with our affiliated physicians and other licensed providers.

We may be adversely affected by a security breach, such as a cyber-attack, which may cause a violation of
HIPAA or HITECH and subject us to potential legal and reputational harm.

In the normal course of business, our information technology systems hold sensitive patient information
including patient demographic data and other protected health information, which is subject to HIPAA and
HITECH. We also contract with third-party vendors to maintain and store our patients’ individually identifiable
health information. Numerous state and federal laws and regulations address privacy and information security
concerns resulting from our access to our patient’s and employee’s personal information.
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Our information technology systems and those of our vendors that process, maintain, and transmit such data
are subject to computer viruses, cyber-attacks, or breaches. We adhere to policies and procedures designed to
ensure compliance with HIPAA and other privacy and information security laws and require our third-party
vendors to do so as well. If, however, we or our third-party vendors experience a breach, loss, or other
compromise of unsecured protected health information or other personal information, such an event could result
in significant civil and criminal penalties, lawsuits, reputational harm, and increased costs to us, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, while our information technology systems, and those of our third-party vendors, are maintained
with safeguards protecting against cyber-attacks. A cyber-attack that bypasses our information technology security
systems, or those of our third-party vendors, could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows. In addition, our future results could be adversely affected due to
the theft, destruction, loss, misappropriation, or release of protected health information, other confidential data or
proprietary business information, operational or business delays resulting from the disruption of information
technology systems and subsequent mitigation activities, or regulatory action taken as a result of such incident.
We provide our employees with training and regular reminders on important measures they can take to prevent
breaches. We routinely identify attempts to gain unauthorized access to our systems. However, given the rapidly
evolving nature and proliferation of cyber threats, there can be no assurance our training and network security
measures or other controls will detect, prevent, or remediate security or data breaches in a timely manner or
otherwise prevent unauthorized access to, damage to, or interruption of our systems and operations. Accordingly,
we may be vulnerable to losses associated with the improper functioning, security breach, or unavailability of our
information systems as well as any systems used in acquired operations.

We depend upon the cultivation and maintenance of relationships with the physicians in our markets.

Our success is dependent upon referrals from physicians in the communities our clinics serve and our ability
to maintain good relations with these physicians and other referral sources. Physicians referring patients to our
clinics are free to refer their patients to other therapy providers or to their own physician owned therapy practice.
If we are unable to successfully cultivate and maintain strong relationships with physicians and other referral
sources, our business may decrease, and our net operating revenues may decline.

Our business depends upon hiring, training, and retaining qualified employees.

Our workforce costs represent our largest operating expense, and our ability to meet our labor needs while
controlling labor costs is subject to numerous external factors, including market pressures with respect to
prevailing wage rates and unemployment levels. We compete with rehabilitation companies and other businesses
for many of our clinical and non-clinical employees, and turnover in these positions can lead to increased
training and retention costs, particularly in a competitive labor market. We cannot be assured that we can
continue to hire, train and retain qualified employees at current wage rates since we operate in a competitive
labor market, and there are currently significant inflationary and other pressures on wages. If we are unable to
hire, properly train and retain qualified employees, we could experience higher employment costs and reduced
revenues, which could adversely affect our earnings.

We depend upon our ability to recruit and retain experienced physical therapists.

Our revenue generation is dependent upon referrals from physicians in the communities our clinics serve,
and our ability to maintain good relations with these physicians. Our therapists are the front line for generating
these referrals and we are dependent on their talents and skills to successfully cultivate and maintain strong
relationships with these physicians. If we cannot recruit and retain our base of experienced and clinically skilled
therapists, our business may decrease, and our net operating revenues may decline. Periodically, we have clinics
in isolated communities that are temporarily unable to operate due to the unavailability of a therapist who
satisfies our standards.

We may also experience increases in our labor costs, primarily due to higher wages and greater benefits
required to attract and retain qualified healthcare personnel, and such increases may adversely affect our
profitability. Furthermore, while we attempt to manage overall labor costs in the most efficient way, our efforts to
manage them may have limited effectiveness and may lead to increased turnover and other challenges.
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Failure to maintain effective internal control over our financial reporting could have an adverse effect on our
ability to report our financial results on a timely and accurate basis.

We are required to produce our consolidated financial statements in accordance with the requirements of
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Effective internal control over financial
reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports, to help mitigate the risk of fraud and to operate
successfully. We are required by federal securities laws to document and test our internal control procedures in
order to satisfy the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which requires annual management
assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

We may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control over financial
reporting in accordance with applicable law, or our independent registered public accounting firm may not be
able to issue an unqualified attestation report if we conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is
not effective. If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, or our independent
registered public accounting firm is unable to provide us with an unqualified attestation report on our internal
control, we could be required to take costly and time-consuming corrective measures, be required to restate the
affected historical financial statements, be subjected to investigations and/or sanctions by federal and state
securities regulators, and be subjected to civil lawsuits by security holders. Any of the foregoing could also cause
investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and in us and would likely result in a decline
in the market price of our stock and in our ability to raise additional financing if needed in the future.

Our revenues may fluctuate due to weather.

We have a significant number of clinics in states that normally experience snow and ice during the winter
months. Also, a significant number of our clinics are located in states along the Gulf Coast and Atlantic Coast
which are subject to periodic winter storms, hurricanes and other severe storm systems. Periods of severe
weather may cause physical damage to our facilities or prevent our staff or patients from traveling to our clinics,
which may cause a decrease in our net operating revenues.

We operate in a highly competitive industry.

We encounter competition from local, regional or national entities, some of which have superior resources or
other competitive advantages. Intense competition may adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations. For a more complete description of this competitive environment, see
“Business—Competition” in Item 1. An adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations may require us to write down goodwill.

We may incur closure costs and losses.

The competitive, economic or reimbursement conditions in our markets in which we operate may require us
to reorganize or to close certain clinics. In the event a clinic is reorganized or closed, we may incur losses and
closure costs. The closure costs and losses may include, but are not limited to, lease obligations, severance, and
write-down or write-off of goodwill and other intangible assets.

Future acquisitions may use significant resources, may be unsuccessful and could expose us to unforeseen
liabilities.

As part of our growth strategy, we intend to continue pursuing acquisitions of outpatient physical therapy clinics
and industrial injury prevention services businesses. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully
identify or complete future acquisitions. Acquisitions may involve significant cash expenditures, potential debt

incurrence and operational losses, dilutive issuances of equity securities and expenses that could have an adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operations. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including:

e the difficulty and expense of integrating acquired personnel into our business;
e the diversion of management’s time from existing operations;

e the potential loss of key employees of acquired companies;
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e the difficulty of assignment and/or procurement of managed care contractual arrangements; and

e the assumption of the liabilities and exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies, including
liabilities for failure to comply with healthcare regulations.

Employer and other contracted customers may terminate their relationship with us which could adversely
affect the business.

In our industrial injury prevention services business, we perform services for large employers and their
employees pursuant to contracts and other services agreement. These contracts and other services agreements are
able to be terminated by the employer-clients on little or short notice, and either a breach or termination of those
contractual arrangements by such clients could cause operating results to be less than expected. Similarly, in our
rehabilitation business, we have management and other services agreements with hospitals, physician groups and
other ancillary providers; either a breach or termination of those contractual arrangements by such clients could
cause operating results to be less than expected.
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RISKS RELATED TO OUR COMMON STOCK

Issuance of shares in connection with financing transactions or under stock incentive plans will dilute current
stockholders.

Pursuant to our stock incentive plans, our Compensation Committee of the Board, consisting solely of
independent directors, is authorized to grant stock awards to our employees, directors and consultants.
Shareholders will incur dilution upon the exercise of any outstanding stock awards or the grant of any restricted
stock. In addition, if we raise additional funds by issuing additional common stock, or securities convertible into
or exchangeable or exercisable for common stock, further dilution to our existing stockholders will result, and
new investors could have rights superior to existing stockholders.

The number of shares of our common stock eligible for future sale could adversely affect the market price of
our stock.

On December 31, 2023, we had reserved approximately 513,193 shares for future equity grants. We may
issue additional restricted securities or register additional shares of common stock under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the ‘““Securities Act”), in the future. The issuance of a significant number of shares of
common stock upon the exercise of stock options or the availability for sale, or sale, of a substantial number of
the shares of common stock eligible for future sale under effective registration statements, under Rule 144 or
otherwise, could adversely affect the market price of the common stock.

Provisions in our articles of incorporation and bylaws could delay or prevent a change in control of our
company, even if that change would be beneficial to our stockholders.

Certain provisions of our articles of incorporation and bylaws may delay, discourage, prevent or render more
difficult an attempt to obtain control of our company, whether through a tender offer, business combination,
proxy contest or otherwise. These provisions include the charter authorization of “‘blank check” preferred stock
and a restriction on the ability of stockholders to call a special meeting.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY
RISK MANAGEMENT AND STRATEGY

The Company recognizes the critical importance of developing, implementing, and maintaining robust
cybersecurity measures to safeguard our information systems and protect the confidentiality, integrity, and
availability of our patients’ health information and all our data.

Managing Material Risks & Integrated Overall Risk Management

The Company has strategically integrated cybersecurity risk management into our broader risk management
framework to promote a company-wide culture of cybersecurity risk management. Cybersecurity considerations
are an integral part of our decision-making processes where communication, data and access are involved. Our
Information technology (“IT”’) department works closely with our operations teams to continuously evaluate and
address cybersecurity risks in alignment with our business and operational objectives. Our Chief Information
Systems Officer, (““CISO”) and IT teams play an important role in assessing the cybersecurity infrastructure
employed within our acquired practices to ensure that necessary security enhancements are employed in a timely
manner. The Company provides annual cybersecurity awareness training to its employees to mitigate risks by
educating employees regarding best practices to avoid cybersecurity related breaches.

Engage Third-parties on Risk Management

Understanding the ever-changing and complex nature of cybersecurity threats, our organization values
collaboration with external experts, including cybersecurity consultants, for advisory purposes. These
collaborations are aimed at enhancing our understanding and management of cybersecurity risks. Through such
engagements, we seek to gain insights and recommendations on improving our risk management frameworks and
responses to potential cybersecurity incidents.

This approach allows us to benefit from specialized expertise, helping ensure that our cybersecurity
strategies and processes are informed by current industry insights. While these collaborations are not mandated,
they are encouraged as part of our commitment to maintaining a vigilant and adaptive cybersecurity posture in
line with evolving best practices.

Oversee Third-party Risk

Aware of the potential risks posed by third-party service providers, our Company takes steps to perform
security-related diligence on such providers. This diligence process aims to understand and evaluate the security
measures and practices of our third-party partners. Our approach includes reviewing available information and
seeking insights into their security and data management practices. This method is part of our broader strategy to
mitigate the risks associated with data breaches or other security incidents that may arise from third-party
engagements.

Risks from Cybersecurity Threats

We have not encountered cybersecurity challenges that have materially impaired our operations or financial
standing. While we have experienced cybersecurity incidents within several of our partnership subsidiaries over
the years, these incidents have not been material, as each incident (i) has been isolated to certain segregated IT
environments, (ii) has affected relatively few patients and their associated health information, and/or (iii) had a
low probability of compromised data. Each of the foregoing cybersecurity incidents has been remediated in the
ordinary course of business. However, we could experience a cybersecurity incident that materially affects us in
the future. See “‘Risk Factors” in Item 1A on this Form-10K for additional discussion of cybersecurity risks to
our business.

Governance

The Board of Directors recognizes the significance of cybersecurity threats to the Company’s operational
integrity, data security and stakeholders. The Board of Directors is acutely aware of the critical nature of
managing risks associated with cybersecurity threats and sees this as a major priority for the company. The
Board has established oversight mechanisms to ensure effective governance in managing risks associated with
cybersecurity threats.
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Board of Directors Oversight

The Compliance Committee is central to the Board’s oversight of cybersecurity risks and bears the primary
responsibility for this domain. The Compliance Committee is composed of board members with diverse expertise,
including risk management, technology, health care operations, and finance, equipping them to oversee
cybersecurity risks effectively. In addition, each of the directors on the Compliance Committee has completed the
Diligent Cyber Risk and Strategy Certification Program, developed by Diligent Corporation, a leading corporate
governance technology company, which teaches cyber literacy for corporate directors to effectively govern
significant enterprise-wide cyber risks and have meaningful conversations with management.

Management’s Role Managing Risk

The CISO plays a pivotal role in informing the Compliance Committee on cybersecurity risks. The CISO, in
concert with the Chief Compliance Officer and General Counsel, provides comprehensive briefings to the
Compliance Committee on a regular basis. These briefings encompass a broad range of topics, including:

e  Current cybersecurity landscape and emerging threats;

e  Status of ongoing cybersecurity initiatives and strategies;

e  Incident reports and learnings from any cybersecurity events; and
e  Compliance with regulatory requirements and industry standards.

In addition to our scheduled meetings, the Compliance Committee and management maintain an ongoing
dialogue regarding emerging or potential cybersecurity risks. The Compliance Committee actively participates in
strategic decisions related to cybersecurity. This involvement ensures that cybersecurity considerations are
integrated into the Company’s broader strategic objectives.

Risk Management Personnel

Primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing our cybersecurity risks rests with the CISO,
Mr. Chadd Pence. With over 25 years of experience in the field of IT and cybersecurity, Mr. Pence brings a
wealth of expertise to his role. His background includes experience as an enterprise CISO and his knowledge and
experience are instrumental in developing and executing our cybersecurity strategies. Our CISO oversees our
cybersecurity efforts and governance programs, tests our compliance with standards, remediates known risks, and
provides regular guidance to management and the Board on these areas. In addition, to supplement this expertise,
we periodically engage external experts, including cybersecurity consultants, to help us evaluate our risk
management related policies and to help us to review and remediate cybersecurity incidents.

Monitor Cybersecurity Incidents

The CISO is continually informed about the latest developments in cybersecurity, including potential threats
and innovative risk management techniques. This ongoing knowledge acquisition is crucial for the effective
prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents. The CISO implements and oversees
processes for the regular monitoring of our information systems. This includes the deployment of a variety of
security measures and system audits to identify potential vulnerabilities. In the event of a cybersecurity incident,
the CISO is equipped with a well-defined incident response plan. This plan includes immediate actions to
mitigate the impact and long-term strategies for remediation and prevention of future incidents.

Reporting to Board of Directors

The CISO, in his capacity, regularly informs our Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer of all
aspects related to cybersecurity risks and incidents. This ensures that the highest levels of management are kept
abreast of the cybersecurity posture and potential risks facing the Company. Furthermore, significant
cybersecurity matters, and strategic risk management decisions are escalated to the Compliance Committee and
the full Board of Directors, ensuring that they have comprehensive oversight and can provide guidance on critical
cybersecurity issues.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease the properties used for our clinics under non-cancelable operating leases with terms ranging from
one to seven years, with the exception of the property for one clinic which we own. We intend to lease the

27



premises for any new clinic location except in rare instances where leasing is not a cost-effective alternative. Our
typical clinic occupies 1,000 to 7,000 square feet of leased space in an office building or shopping center. There
are 25 clinics occupying space in the range of over 7,000 square feet to16,500 square feet.

We also lease our executive offices located in Houston, Texas, under a non-cancelable operating lease
expiring in February 2028. We currently lease approximately 44,000 square feet of space (including allocations
for common areas) at our executive offices.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are a party to various legal actions, proceedings, and claims (some of which are not insured), and
regulatory and other governmental audits and investigations in the ordinary course of our business. We cannot
predict the ultimate outcome of pending litigation, proceedings, regulatory and other governmental audits and
investigations. These matters could potentially subject the Company to sanctions, damages, recoupments, fines,
and other penalties. The Department of Justice, CMS, or other federal and state enforcement and regulatory
agencies may conduct additional investigations related to our businesses in the future that may, either
individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of
operations, and liquidity.

Healthcare providers are subject to lawsuits under the qui tam provisions of the federal False Claims Act.
Qui tam lawsuits typically remain under seal for some time while the government decides whether or not to
intervene on behalf of a private qui tam plaintiff (known as a relator) and take the lead in the litigation. These
lawsuits can involve significant monetary damages and penalties and award bounties to private plaintiffs who
successfully bring the suits. We have been a defendant in these cases in the past and may be named as a
defendant in similar cases from time to time in the future.

Prior Florida Legal Matter

In 2019, a qui tam lawsuit (“‘the Complaint™) was filed by a relator on behalf of the United States against
us and one of our Florida majority-owned subsidiaries (the ‘“Hale Partnership”). This whistleblower lawsuit was
filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Texas, seeking damages and civil penalties under the
federal False Claim Act. The U.S Government declined to intervene in the case and unsealed the Complaint in
July 2019. The Complaint alleged that the Hale Partnership engaged in conduct to purposely “upcode’ its
billings for services provided to Medicare patients. The plaintiff-relator also claimed that similar false claims
occurred on other days and at other Company-owned partnerships.

In January 2022, we entered into a settlement agreement with the plaintiff-relator. In the settlement
agreement, the plaintiff-relator released all defendants from liability for all conduct alleged in the Complaint, and
the Company admitted no liability or wrongdoing. In connection with the settlement, the Office of the United
States Attorney for the Southern District of Texas agreed to a dismissal of the claims against the Hale Partnership
and the Company. Under the terms of the settlement, we agreed to make aggregate payments to the government,
the plaintiff-relator and her counsel of $2.8 million.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.
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PART I1

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, REILIATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock has traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) since August 14, 2012, under
the symbol “USPH.” Prior to that, our common stock was traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the
symbol “USPH”. As of February 29, 2024, there were 83 holders of record of our outstanding common stock.

DIVIDENDS
Our Board of Directors declared the following dividends during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Aggregate Amount

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Dividend Per Share (in thousands)
02/21/2023 03/10/2023 04/07/2023 $0.43 $5,617
05/02/2023 05/18/2023 06/09/2023 $0.43 $5,621
08/07/2023 08/18/2023 09/08/2023 $0.43 $6,445
11/06/2023 11/16/2023 12/08/2023 $0.43 $6,445

There is no assurance that future dividends will be declared. The declaration and payment of dividends in
the future are at the discretion of our Board of Directors after taking into account various factors, including, but
not limited to, our financial condition, operating results, available cash and current and anticipated cash needs,
and the terms of our Credit Agreement (as defined in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources’). We are currently restricted
from paying dividends on our common stock in excess of $50,000,000 in any fiscal year on our common stock
under the Credit Agreement.

FIVE YEAR PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following performance graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return of our common stock to
The NYSE Composite Index and the NYSE Health Care Index for the period from December 31, 2018 through
December 31, 2023. The graph assumes that $100 was invested in our common stock and the common stock of
each of the companies listed on The NYSE Composite Index and The NYSE Health Care Index on
December 31, 2018 and that any dividends were reinvested.
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Comparison of Five Years Cumulative Total Return for the Year Ended December 31, 2023

175
B-_ &
— i
| 150
N 4
D | o
E 125
* iR ”"’\
?5 T T T T 1
12/18 1219 1220 12/21 12122 12/23
——U 5 Physical Therapy, Inc.
-m—-NY5E Healthcare Index
12/18 | 12/19 | 12/20 | 12/21 | 12/22 | 12/23
U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. 100 | 112 | 117 93 79 91
NYSE Healthcare Index 100 [ 119 | 132 | 161 | 155 | 159

The foregoing performance graph and related description shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into
any filing under the Securities Act or under the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically
incorporate this information by reference. In addition, the performance graph and the related description shall not
be deemed ‘‘soliciting material” or “filed”” with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C.

ITEM 6. RESERVED

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of U.S. Physical Therapy, Incl and its subsidiaries (herein referred to
as “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company”) should be read in conjunction with the Company'’s consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of
the information contained in this discussion and analysis, including information with respect to our plans and
strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should
review the “Risk Factors” and “Forward-Looking Statements” sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for
a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in

or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

This section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K generally discusses 2023 and 2022 items and year-to-year
comparisons between 2023 and 2022. Discussions of 2021 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2022
and 2021 can be found in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2022, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2023.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

We operate our business through our reportable segments which include the (1) physical therapy operations
segment and (2) the industrial injury prevention services (“IIP””) segment. Our physical therapy operations
consist of physical therapy and occupational therapy clinics that provide pre-and post-operative care and
treatment for orthopedic-related disorders, sports-related injuries, preventive care, rehabilitation of injured
workers and neurological injuries. Services provided by the IIP segment include onsite injury prevention and
rehabilitation, performance optimization, post-offer employment testing, functional evaluations and ergonomic
assessments. The majority of these services are contracted with and paid for directly by employers, including a
number of Fortune 500 companies. Other clients include large insurers and their contractors. These services are
performed through Industrial Sports Medicine Professionals, consisting of both physical therapists and specialized
certified athletic trainers (‘“ATCs”).

During the last three years, we completed the following acquisitions of clinic practices and IIP businesses
detailed below:

% Interest Number of

Acquisition Date Acquired Clinics
October 2023 AcquiSition. . . .. ....c.c.veien v, October 31, 2023 *k *
September 2023 Acquisition 1 ......... .. . .. ... September 29, 2023 70% 4
September 2023 Acquisition 2. ........ ..o September 29, 2023 70% 1
July 2023 Acquisition......... ... .. i July 31, 2023 70% 7
May 2023 AcquiSition. . ... ...ttt May 31, 2023 45% 4
February 2023 Acquisition . ........... ... ... .o iioin.. February 28, 2023 80% 1
November 2022 AcquiSition. .. .........ovuiininennnen.. November 30, 2022 80% 13
October 2022 AcquiSition. .. ............c.iiiiinann... October 31, 2022 60% 14
September 2022 Acquisition. .. ... September 30, 2022 80% 2
August 2022 ACqUISTHON ... oottt August 31, 2022 70% 6
March 2022 Acquisition . .. ..ot March 31, 2022 70% 6
December 2021 AcquiSition . .. ..., December 31, 2021 75% 3
November 2021 AcquiSition. .. ..........c.oovininennn.an.. November 30, 2021 70% *
September 2021 Acquisition. .. ........... .. ... ... September 30, 2021 100% *
June 2021 AcquiSition. . . .......... .o June 30, 2021 65%

March 2021 Acquisition . .. ......... ... . i March 31, 2021 70% 6

* IIP business

**  On October 31, 2023, we concurrently acquired 100% of an IIP business and a 55% equity interest in an ergonomics software business
(“October 2023 Acquisition”).

The following table provides a roll forward of our clinic count for the periods presented.

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Number of clinics, beginning of period ........... 640 591 554
Additions ....... ... .o oo 46 65 42
Closedorsold .............. ... (15) (16) e
Number of clinics, end of period ................ 71 640 591

Our strategy is to continue acquiring outpatient physical therapy practices, develop outpatient physical
therapy clinics as satellites in existing partnerships, and continue acquiring companies that provide or serve our
IIP sector.

In May 2023, we completed a secondary offering of 1,916,667 shares of its common stock at an offering
price of $90.00 per share. Upon completion of the offering, we received net proceeds of approximately
$163.6 million, after deducting an underwriting discount of $8.6 million and recognizing related fees and
expenses of $0.2 million. A portion of the net proceeds was used to repay the $35.0 million then outstanding
under our credit agreement while the remainder is expected to be used primarily for additional acquisitions.
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Our Board of Directors raised our quarterly dividend to $0.44 per share, on February 27, 2024, and declared
a quarterly dividend for the first quarter of 2024 at the higher rate.

Medicare Reimbursement

The Medicare program reimburses outpatient rehabilitation providers based on the Medicare Physician Fee
Schedule (““MPFS’*). Outpatient rehabilitation providers may enroll in Medicare as institutional outpatient
rehabilitation facilities (i.e., rehab agencies) or individual physical or occupational therapists in private practice.
The majority of our clinicians are enrolled as individual physical or occupational therapists in private practice
while the remaining balance of providers are reimbursed through enrolled rehab agencies. The following is a
summary of significant regulatory changes which have affected our results of operations as well as the policies
and payment rates that may affect our future results of operations.

For calendar years 2021 and 2022, CMS’s expected decreases in Medicare reimbursement were mostly
offset by one-time increases in payments as a result of other legislation passed by Congress. Payments under the
2023 MPEFS physician fee schedule decreased by 2%, and for calendar year 2024, CMS’s final policies for 2024
will result in an approximately 3.5% decrease in Medicare payments for the therapy specialty.

In the final 2020 MPFS rule, CMS clarified that when the physical therapist is involved for the entire
duration of the service and the physical therapist assistant (“PTA”) provides skilled therapy alongside the
physical therapist, the CQ modifier is not required. Also, when the same service (code) is furnished separately by
the physical therapist and PTA, CMS applies the de minimis standard to each 15-minute unit of codes, not on the
total physical therapist and PTA time of the service. For dates of service on and after January 1, 2022, CMS pays
for physical therapy and occupational therapy services provided by PTAs and occupational therapist assistants
(““OTAs”) at 85% of the otherwise applicable Part B payment amount. CMS allows a timed service to be billed
without the CQ or CO modifier when a PTA or OTA participates in providing care, but the physical therapist or
occupational therapist meets the Medicare billing requirements without including the PTA’s or OTA’s minutes.
This occurs when the physical therapist or occupational therapist provides more minutes than the 15-minute
midpoint. The calendar year 2024 MPFS final rule did not contain any policy changes concerning the modifiers
for services provided by physical therapy and occupational therapy assistants.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The defined terms with their respective description used in the following discussion are listed below:

Mature Clinics are clinics opened or acquired prior to January 1, 2022, and are still operating as of
December 31, 2023.

Net rate per patient visit is net patient revenue related to our physical therapy operations divided by total number
of patient visits (defined below) during the periods presented.

Patient visits is the number of unique patient visits during the periods presented.

Average daily visits per clinic is patient visits divided by the number of days in which normal business
operations were conducted during the periods presented and further divided by the average number clinics in
operation during the periods presented.

Full Year 2023 refers to the year ended December 31, 2023.

Full Year 2022 refers to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Full Year 2023 versus Full Year 2022

Total net revenue for the Full Year 2023 increased $51.7 million, or 9.3%, to $604.8 million from
$553.1 million for the Full Year 2022 while operating costs increased $42.2 million, or 9.6%, to $483.3 million
from $441.1 million over the same periods, respectively. Total operating cost was $483.3 million for the 2023
Year, or 79.9% of total revenue, as compared to $441.1million or 79.7% of total revenue for the 2022 Year.
Gross profit for the Full Year 2023 was $121.5 million, or 20.1% of net revenue, compared to $112.0 million for
the Full Year 2022, or 20.3% of net revenue.

Net income attributable to our shareholders (“USPH net income”) was $28.2 million for Full Year 2023
compared to $32.2 million for Full Year 2022. USPH net income included a non-cash impairment charge, prior
to allocation to non-controlling interest and income taxes, of $17.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2023
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($9.1 million net of $5.2 million allocated to non-controlling interest and $3.1 million income tax) and

$9.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 ($4.7 million net of $2.7 million allocated to non-controlling
interest and $1.6 million income tax). In accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”),
the revaluation of non-controlling interest, net of taxes, is not included in net income but is charged directly to
retained earnings; however, this change is included in the computation of earnings per share. Earnings per share
for Full Year 2023 were $1.28 compared to $2.25 for Full Year 2022.

For the Year Ended

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022

(In thousands, except per share data)

Earnings per share
Computation of earnings per share - USPH shareholders:

Net income attributable to USPH shareholders ............................. $ 28,239 $32,158

Charges to retained earnings:

Revaluation of redeemable non-controlling interest. . ........................ (13,565) (3,890)

Tax effect at statutory rate (federal and state) .. ........... ... .. .. ... ...... 3,466 994
$ 18,140 $29,262

Earnings per share (basic and diluted) ........... ... .. .. .. . L. $ 1.28 $§ 225

Shares used in computation - basic and diluted. . .......... ... ... ... ... ... 14,188 12,985

Non-GAAP Measures

We use Adjusted EBITDA and Operating Results, non-GAAP measures, which eliminate certain items
described below that can be subject to volatility and unusual costs, as the principal measures to evaluate and
monitor financial performance period over period. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA and Operating Results are
useful measures for investors to use in comparing the Company’s period-to-period results as well as for
comparing with other similar businesses since most do not have redeemable instruments and therefore have
different equity structures.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net income attributable to our shareholders before interest income, interest
expense, taxes, depreciation, amortization, non-cash asset impairment charge, change in fair value of contingent
earn-out consideration, Relief Funds, changes in revaluation of put-right liability, equity-based awards
compensation expense, and related portions for non-controlling interests.

Operating Results equals net income attributable to our shareholders less non-cash asset impairment charge,
changes in revaluation of put-right liability, Relief Funds, changes in fair value of contingent earn-out
consideration, and any allocations to non-controlling interests, all net of taxes. Operating Results per share also
exclude the impact of the revaluation of redeemable non-controlling interest and the associated tax impact.

The tables below reconcile net income attributable to our shareholders calculated in accordance with GAAP
to Operating Results and Adjusted EBITDA.
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ADJUSTED EBITDA AND OPERATING RESULTS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

(unaudited)
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2023  December 31, 2022
(In thousands, except per share data)

Adjusted EBITDA (a non-GAAP measure)

Net income attributable to USPH sharcholders ........................ $28,239 $32,158
Adjustments:

Provision for inCOME taXes . . .......ouutt it 12,156 12,164
Depreciation and amortization. . .............. i 15,695 14,743
Interest expense, debt and other, net. ............ .. ... ... ... . ...... 9,303 5,779
Interest income from INVESTMENTS . . . . ..ttt ettt e e e (3,774) —
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets. .................... 17,495 9,112
Equity-based awards compensation eXpense. .. ... .........ouuenenen .. 7,236 7,264
Change in revaluation of put-right liability. . ........... .. ... .. .. ... (2,582) 5
Change in fair value of contingent earn-out consideration ............... 1,550 (2,520)
Relief Funds* . .. ... .. 467) —
Other iNCOME . .. ... .ot ettt (390) (859)
Allocation to non-controlling interests . ..............c.couiuvnene.o... (6,744) (4,185)

77,717 73,661

Operating Results (a non-GAAP measure)

Net income attributable to USPH shareholders ........................ $28,239 $32,158
Adjustments:

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets. .................... 17,495 9,112
Change in fair value of contingent earn-out consideration ............... 1,550 (2,520)
Change in revaluation of put-right liability. . ........... .. ... .. .. ... (2,582) 5
Relief Funds™ ... ... . . 467) —
Allocation to non-controlling interest .. ... .......... ..., (5,215) (2,734)
Tax effect at statutory rate (federal and state) ......................... (2,755) (987)

$36,265 $35,034

Operating Results per share (a non-GAAP measure).................... $ 256 $ 270

In March 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the federal government approved the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic

Security Act (“CARES Act””). The CARES Act provided waivers, reimbursement, grants and other funds to assist health care providers
during the COVID-19 pandemic, including $100.0 billion in appropriations for the Public Health and Social Services Emergency Fund,

to be used for preventing, preparing, and responding to the coronavirus, and for reimbursing eligible health care providers for lost

revenues and health care related expenses that are attributable to COVID-19. The Company recorded income under the CARES Act

(“Relief Funds™).

Adjusted EBITDA increased $4.1 million to $77.7 million for Full Year 2023 from $73.7 million in Full
Year 2022 while Operating Results increased $1.2 million to $36.3 million, or $2.56 per share, in Full Year
2023 from $35.0 million, or $2.70 per share, in the Full Year 2022. The increase in both Adjusted EBITDA and
Operating Results was primarily associated with clinic additions since the comparable prior year period and
increased volume at mature clinics.
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Physical Therapy Operations

For the Year Ended December 31, Variance
2023 2022 $ %
(In thousands, except percentages)

Revenue related to:

Mature Clinics™” ... ... . $ 452,459 $ 421,806 $ 30,653 7.3%
Clinic additions® . ... e 60,495 39,990 20,505 #(6)
Clinics sold or closed® ... ... . ... . ... .. ... .... 1,602 2,794 (1,192) #(6)
Net Patient Revenue .. ........ ... ... . . ... 514,556 464,590 49,966 10.8%
Other™ . .. o 11,992 11,502 490  43%
TOAl . o o e e 526,548 476,092 50,456  10.6%
Operating costs™. ... ... ... ... .. ... . ... 421,484 380,035 41,449 10.9%
Gross profit .. ... $ 105,064 $ 96,057 $ 9,007 9.4%

Financial and operating metrics (not in thousands):

Net rate per patient visit™™ . ... .. ... ... . ... ... ... ... $ 102.80 $ 103.63 $ (0.83) (0.8)%
Patient visits'" . .. ... ... 5,005,426 4,483,282 522,144.0 11.6%
Average daily visits per clinic™. ... ... ... ... ... 30.0 28.7 13 45%
GIroSS MArgin . .. oottt e 20.0% 20.2%

Salaries and related costs per visit, clinics® . ........... $ 59.19 $ 5952 $ (033 (0.6)%
Operating costs per visit, clinics®.................... $ 8279 $ 8334 $ (055 (0.1)%
Working days. ... 254 255 (1) (0.4)%
Number of clinics at the end of the period ............. 671 640 31 4.8%

(1)  Seedefined terms above for definitions.
(2) Clinic additions during the years ended 2023 and 2022.

(3) Revenue from closed clinics includes revenues from the 15 and 16 clinics closed during the full year December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

(4) Includes revenues and costs from management contracts.
(5) Excludes management contract costs.
(6) Not meaningful.

Revenues

Revenues increased $50.5 million, or 10.6%, to $526.5 million in Full Year 2023 compared to
$476.1 million in Full Year 2022. This increase was primarily due to a record-high average daily visits per clinic
for a full year in the Company’s history of 30.0 visits, and an increase in volume from the 31 net new clinics
added since the comparable prior year period, partially offset by a decrease in net rate per patient visit to
$102.80 for Full Year 2023 compared to $103.63 for Full Year 2022. Total patient visits were 5,005,426 for the
2023 Year and 4,483,282 for the 2022 Year, an increase of 11.6%, with visits at mature clinics up 3.1%. The
decrease in net rate in the Full Year 2023 from the Full Year 2022 was primarily due to the combined Medicare
rate reductions in 2022 and 2023. All other payor categories, including commercial and workers’ compensation,
increased as compared to the prior year.

Other revenue was $12.0 million for the Full Year 2023 Year and $11.5 million for the Full Year 2022, of
which management contracts was $8.6 million for the Full Year 2023 as compared to $8.1 million for the Full
Year 2022.

Operating costs

Operating costs increased by $41.4 million or 10.9% to $421.5 million in the Full Year 2023 from
$380.0 million in the Full Year 2022. The increase was primarily due to the higher volume from the new clinics
added since the comparable year period as well as increased patient visits in Mature Clinics. Operating costs for
Mature Clinics increased $10.1 million year over year to $363.2 million for the Full Year 2023 from
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$353.2 million for the Full Year 2022 due to increased visits in the comparable periods. On a per visit basis
(excluding management contracts), operating costs decreased to $82.79 for the Full Year 2023 compared to
$83.34 for the Full Year 2022.

Salaries and related costs related to clinics increased to $296.3 million in the Full Year 2023 from $266.8 million
in the 2022 Year, an increase of $29.5 million, or 11.1%. Salaries and related costs per visit (excluding management
contracts), related to clinics decreased to $59.19 for the Full Year 2023 from 59.52 for the Full Year 2022 mostly due
to the 31 new clinics added year over year as well as increased visits from Mature Clinics.

Rent, supplies, contract labor and other costs related to clinics increased to $97.2 million in the Full Year
2023 from $87.6 million in the 2022 Year, an increase of $9.6 million, or 11.1% mostly due to the 31 new
clinics added year over year as well as increased visits from Mature Clinics. Rent, supplies, contract labor and
other costs, clinics decreased slightly on a per visit basis to $19.42 per visit for the Full Year 2023 compared to
$19.53 for the Full Year 2022. Operating costs related to management contracts increased 10.7% from
$6.4 million for the Full Year 2022 to $7.1 million in the Full Year 2023.

The provision for credit losses was $6.2 million for the Full Year 2023 and $5.5 million for the Full Year
2022. As a percentage of net revenues, the provision for credit losses were 1.0% for both 2023 and 2022. Our
provision for credit losses as a percentage of total patient accounts receivable was 5.0% on December 31, 2023,
and 5.2% on December 31, 2022.

Gross Profit

Gross profit from physical therapy operations increased $9.0 million, or 9.4%, to $105.1 million for Full
Year 2023 from $96.1 million for Full Year 2022 while the gross profit margin from physical therapy operations
decreased slightly to 20.0% for Full Year 2023 from 20.2% and Full Year 2022.

Industrial Injury Prevention Services

For the Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
(In thousands, except percentages)
NEETEVENC . « . v v e et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e $78.254 $77,052
OPEIAtiNg COSS .« . ¢ v vttt et et et e e et e e e e e e e 61,809 61,085
Gross Profit . ... ..o $16,445 $15,967
GIroSS MATZIN . . . oottt e e et et e e e 21.0% 20.7%

IIP business revenue increased $1.2 million to $78.3 million for the Full Year 2023 as compared to
$77.1 million for the Full Year 2022. Operating costs related to the IIP business increased 1.2% in the Full Year
2023 to $61.8 million from $61.1 million for the Full Year 2022. Gross profit increased $0.5 million, or 3.0%, to
$16.4 million for Full Year 2023 from $16.0 million for the Full Year 2022 while gross profit margin percentage
from IIP operations increased slightly to 21.0% for Full Year 2023 from 20.7% for the Full Year 2022.

Corporate Office Costs

Corporate office costs were $52.0 million, or 8.6% of net revenue, for the Full Year 2023 compared to
$46.1 million, or 8.3% of net revenue, for the Full Year 2022. The increase in corporate office costs was
primarily due to higher salaries and related costs to support the larger number of clinics.

Impairment of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

A non-cash impairment charge of $17.5 million was recognized during the Full Year 2023 related to a
reporting unit in our IIP segment. This compares to a $9.1 million non-cash impairment charge to goodwill in the
comparable prior year period related to the same reporting unit.

Operating Income

Operating income was $52.1 million for the Full Year 2023 compared to $56.8 million for the Full Year
2022. Excluding the non-cash impairment charge of $17.5 million in the Full Year 2023 and $9.1 million in the
Full Year 2022, operating income was $69.6 million for the twelve months ended 2023 compared to
$65.9 million for the twelve months ended 2022.
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Other (Expenses) Income
Interest Expense, Debt and Other

Interest expense, net of $3.3 million savings from an interest rate swap arrangement discussed below in the
“Liquidity and Capital Resources - Interest Rate Swap”, increased $3.5 million to $9.3 million for the Full Year
2023 compared to $5.8 million in the Full Year 2022 due to increased borrowings. The interest rate on the
Company’s term loan, was 4.9% for the Full Year 2023, with an all-in effective interest rate, including all
associated costs, of 5.3%.

Interest income from investment

Interest income from investment amounted to $3.8 million for the Full Year 2023. This interest income is a
result of investing excess cash associated with proceeds from our secondary offering completed in May 2023.

Change in fair value of contingent earn-out consideration

We revalued contingent earn-out consideration related to certain acquisitions resulting in an expense of
$1.6 million for the Full Year 2023 compared to a gain of $2.5 million for the Full Year 2022.

Change in Revaluation of Put-Right Liability

For the Full Year 2023, we recorded a gain of $2.6 million on the valuation of the put-right liability
compared to a loss of less than $0.1 million for the Full Year 2022. The put-right relates to the potential future
purchase of a company that provides physical therapy and rehabilitation services to hospitals and other ancillary
providers in a distinct market area.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate

For the Full Year 2023, we recognized income of $1.0 million compared to $1.2 million for the Full Year
2022 from a joint venture which provides physical therapy services for patients at hospitals. Since we are
deemed to not have a controlling interest in the joint venture, our investment is accounted for using the equity
method of accounting.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income tax was $12.2 million for each of the years ended 2023 and 2022. The provision
for income tax as a percentage of income before taxes less net income attributable to non-controlling interest
(effective tax rate) was 30.1% for 2023 and 27.4% for 2022 as calculated below. The increase in the effective tax
rate was primarily due to return-to-provision adjustments mostly related to true up of differences between tax and
book basis of certain intangibles.

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(In thousands, except percentages)

INCOME DEFOTE LAXES . o v v o v et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $49,376 $ 55,571

Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interest:

Redeemable non-controlling interest - temporary equity ................... (4,426) (6,902)
Non-controlling interest - permanent equity . ............................ (4,555) (4,347)
$(8.981) $(11,249)
Income before taxes less net income attributable to non-controlling interest . . . $40,395 $ 44,322
Provision for income taxes. .. ........... .. $12,156 $ 12,164
Effective income tax rate ... ......... ottt e 30.1% 27.4%
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Net Income Attributable to Non-controlling Interest

Net income attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest (temporary equity) was $4.4 million for the
Full Year 2023 and $6.9 million for the Full Year 2022. Net income attributable to non-controlling interest
(permanent equity) was $4.6 million for the Full Year 2023 and $4.3 million for the Full Year 2022.

Other Comprehensive Income

We entered into an interest rate swap agreement in May 2022, which became effective on June 30, 2022.
The maturity date of the swap agreement is June 30, 2027. It has a $150 million notional value adjusted
concurrently with scheduled principal payments made on the term loan. Beginning in July 2022, we pay a fixed
one-month Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) of interest of 2.815%. The total interest rate in any
period also includes an applicable margin based on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio. In the Full Year
2023, our interest rate including the applicable margin was 4.9%. Unrealized gains and losses related to the fair
value of the interest rate swap are recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. The
fair value of the interest rate swap at December 31, 2023, was $3.7 million, and $5.4 million at December 31,
2022, which has been included within Other assets (current and long term) in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheet. The impact of the interest rate swap on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income was an unrealized loss of $1.2 million, net of tax, for the 2023 Year.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We believe that our business has sufficient cash to allow us to meet our short-term cash requirements. Total
cash and cash equivalents were $152.8 million as of December 31, 2023, compared to $31.6 million as of
December 31, 2022. Additionally, we had $144.4 million of outstanding borrowings and $175.0 million in
available credit under our credit facilities as of December 31, 2023, compared to $179.1 million of outstanding
borrowings and $145.9 million in available credit under our credit facilities as of December 31, 2022.

On May 30, 2023, we completed a secondary offering of our common stock resulting in net proceeds of
$163.6 million after deducting fees associated with the transaction. A portion of the net proceeds was used to
repay the $35.0 million then outstanding under our Credit Agreement while the remainder is expected to be used
primarily for acquisitions. Our cash is currently invested in a high-yield savings account which generated interest
income of approximately $2.1 million in 2023.

We believe that our cash and cash equivalents and availability under our Credit Facilities are sufficient to
fund the working capital needs of our operating subsidiaries through at least February 29, 2025.

Historically, we have generated sufficient cash from operations to fund our development activities and to
cover operational needs. We plan to continue developing new clinics and making additional acquisitions. We
have, from time to time, purchased the non-controlling interests of limited partners in our existing partnerships.
We may purchase additional non-controlling interests in the future. Generally, any acquisition or purchase of
non-controlling interests is expected to be accomplished using our cash, financing, or a combination of the two.

We make reasonable and appropriate efforts to collect accounts receivable, including applicable deductible
and co-payment amounts. Claims are submitted to payors daily, weekly or monthly in accordance with our policy
or payor’s requirements. When possible, we submit our claims electronically. The collection process is time
consuming and typically involves the submission of claims to multiple payors whose payment of claims may be
dependent upon the payment of another payor. Claims under litigation and vehicular incidents can take a year or
longer to collect. Medicare and other payor claims relating to new clinics awaiting CMS approval initially may
not be submitted for six months or more. When all reasonable internal collection efforts have been exhausted,
accounts are written off prior to sending them to outside collection firms. With managed care, commercial health
plans and self-pay payor type receivables, the write-off generally occurs after the balance has been outstanding
for 120 days or longer. As of December 31, 2023, we have accrued $8.8 million related to credit balances
(included in accrued expenses), a portion of which is due to patients and payors. The credit balances are
expected to be resolved or paid in the next twelve months.

The average accounts receivable days outstanding was 29 days on December 31, 2023, and 31 days on
December 31, 2022. Net patient receivables in the amounts of $6.3 million and $5.5 million were written-off in
2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Cash Flow

A summary of our operating, investing, and financing activities is discussed below.

Year Ended
December 31, 2023  December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Net cash provided by operating activities .............. $81,978 $58,537 $ 76,406
Net cash used in investing activities .................. 45,015 81,269 124,136
Net cash provided by financing activities .............. 84,268 25,759 43,379

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities increased $23.4 million to $82.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 as compared to $58.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was
mostly due to higher Adjusted EBITDA as well as increased collections from patient receivables.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 totaled $45.0 million and
consisted of $9.3 million of fixed assets purchases and $37.8 million used in the purchase of majority interests in
businesses and non-controlling interest, temporary and permanent equity. These were partially offset by
$1.0 million proceeds from sale of non-controlling interest, temporary and permanent and $0.8 million
distribution from an unconsolidated affiliate.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2023, totaled $84.3 million and
consisted of $163.6 million proceeds from a secondary offering completed in May 2023, partially offset by
$31.0 million of net payments under our revolving credit facility, $24.1 million of dividends paid to our
shareholders, $16.1 million distribution to non-controlling interest and payments of $8.2 million on our debt.

Senior Credit Facilities

On December 5, 2013, we entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with a commitment for
a $125.0 million revolving credit facility. This agreement was amended and/or restated in August 2015,
January 2016, March 2017, November 2017, and January 2021.0n June 17, 2022, we entered into the
Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) among Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent (‘““Administrative Agent’’) and the lenders from time-to-time party thereto.

The Credit Agreement, which matures on June 17, 2027, provides for loans in an aggregate principal
amount of $325 million. Such loans will be available through the following facilities (collectively, the “Senior
Credit Facilities”):

1) Revolving Facility: $175 million, five-year, revolving credit facility (‘“Revolving Facility””), which
includes a $12 million sublimit for the issuance of standby letters of credit and a $15 million sublimit
for swingline loans (each, a “Swingline Loan™).

2) Term Facility: $150 million term loan facility (the ‘““Term Facility’’). The Term Facility amortizes in
quarterly installments of: (a) 0.625% in each of the first two years, (b) 1.250% in the third and fourth
year, and (c) 1.875% in the fifth year of the Credit Agreement. The remaining outstanding principal
balance of all term loans is due on the maturity date.

The proceeds of the Revolving Facility have been and shall continue to be used by us for working capital
and other general corporate purposes of our Company and its subsidiaries, including to fund future acquisitions
and invest in growth opportunities. The proceeds of the Term Facility were used by us to refinance the
indebtedness outstanding under the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, to pay fees and expenses
incurred in connection with the loan facilities transactions, for working capital and other general corporate
purposes.

We are permitted to increase the Revolving Facility and/or add one or more tranches of term loans in an
aggregate amount not to exceed the sum of (i) $100 million plus (ii) an unlimited additional amount, provided
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that (in the case of clause (ii)), after giving effect to such increases, the pro forma Consolidated Leverage Ratio
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) would not exceed 2.0:1.0, and the aggregate amount of all incremental
increases under the Revolving Facility does not exceed $50,000,000.

The interest rates per annum applicable to the Senior Credit Facilities (other than in respect of Swingline
Loans) will be Term SOFR as defined in the agreement plus an applicable margin or, at our option, an alternate
base rate plus an applicable margin. The interest rate for the 2023 Year on our Senior Credit Facilities, net of
savings from the interest rate swap described below, was 5.1%, with an all-interest rate, including all associated
costs, of 5.7%. Interest is payable at the end of the selected interest period but no less frequently than quarterly
and on the date of maturity.

We will also pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of each lender under the Revolving Facility, a
commitment fee equal to the actual daily excess of each lender’s commitment over its outstanding credit
exposure under the Revolving Facility (“‘unused fee”). We may prepay and/or repay the revolving loans and the
term loans, and/or terminate the revolving loan commitments, in whole or in part, at any time without premium
or penalty, subject to certain conditions.

The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants limiting, among other things, the incurrence of
additional indebtedness, the creation of liens, mergers, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions, sales of
assets, dividends, and other payments in respect of equity interests, acquisitions, investments, loans and
guarantees, subject, in each case, to customary exceptions, thresholds and baskets. The Credit Agreement
includes certain financial covenants which include the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio and the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement also contains customary
events of default.

Our obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by our wholly owned material domestic
subsidiaries (each, a ‘““Guarantor’’), and our obligations and any Guarantors are secured by a perfected first
priority security interest in substantially all of our existing and future personal property and each Guarantor,
subject to certain exceptions.

As of December 31, 2023, $144.4 million was outstanding on the Term Facility while none was outstanding
under the Revolving Facility, resulting in $175.0 million of credit availability. As of December 31, 2023, we
were in compliance with all of the covenants contained in the Credit Agreement. The average effective interest
rate, net of the savings from interest rate swap discussed below, for borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility,
inclusive of all associated costs, was 5.3% for the Full Year 2023.

Interest Rate Swap

In May 2022, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement, effective on June 30, 2022, with Bank of
America, N.A, which became effective on June 30, 2022. It has a $150 million notional value adjusted
concurrently with scheduled principal payments made on the term loan and has a maturity date of June 30, 2027.
Beginning in July 2022, we receive 1-month SOFR, and pay a fixed rate of interest of 2.815% on 1-month
SOFR on a quarterly basis. The total interest rate in any period also includes an applicable margin based on our
consolidated leverage ratio. In connection with the swap, no cash was exchanged between us and the
counterparty.

We designated our interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge and structured it to be highly effective.
Consequently, unrealized gains and losses related to the fair value of the interest rate swap are recorded to
accumulate other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax.

As of December 31, 2023, the fair value of the interest rate swap was $3.7 million, a decrease of
$1.2 million, net of a $0.4 million, income tax effect, as compared to December 31, 2022. The fair value of the
interest rate swap is included in other assets (current and long term) in our consolidated balance sheet while the
increase in fair value is presented as unrealized loss in our unaudited consolidated statements of comprehensive
income. The interest rate swap arrangement generated $3.3 million in interest savings for the Full Year 2023. The
average interest rate for the term facility, net of the savings from the swap in the Full Year 2023 was 4.9%.

Notes Payable and Deferred Payments Related to Acquisitions

We generally enter into various notes payable as a means of financing our acquisitions. Our present
outstanding notes payable primarily relate to the acquisitions of a business or acquisitions of majority interests in
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such businesses. At December 31, 2023, our remaining outstanding balance on these notes aggregated

$5.3 million. $1.6 million of the outstanding notes payable are payable in 2023, $2.4 million is payable in 2024,
and $1.3 million is payable in 2025. Notes are generally payable in equal annual installments of principal over
two years plus any accrued and unpaid interest. Interest accrues at various interest rates ranging from 3.25% to
8.0% per annum.

On September 29, 2023, we acquired a 70% equity interest in a four-clinic physical therapy practice. The
owner of the practice retained 30% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 70% equity interest was
approximately $6.0 million, of which $5.4 million was paid in cash, and $0.6 million was in the form of a note
payable. The note accrues interest at 5.0% per annum and the principal and interest are payable in two
installments. The first payment of principal and interest of $0.3 million was paid January 2024, and the second
installment of $0.3 million is due on September 30, 2025.

In a separate transaction, on September 29, 2023, we acquired a 70% equity interest in a single clinic
physical therapy practice. The owner of the practice retained 30% of the equity interests. The purchase price for
the 70% equity interest was approximately $7.8 million, of which $7.4 million was paid in cash and $0.4 million
is a deferred payment due on June 30, 2025.

On July 31, 2023, we acquired a 70% equity interest in a five-clinic practice. The practice’s owners retained
a 30% equity interest. The purchase price for the 70% equity interest was approximately $2.1 million, of which
$1.8 million was paid in cash and $0.3 million is a deferred payment due on June 30, 2025.

On May 31, 2023, we and a local partner together acquired a 75% interest in a four-clinic physical therapy
practice. After the transaction, our ownership interest is 45%, our local partner’s ownership interest is 30%, and
the practice’s pre-acquisition owners have a 25% ownership interest. The purchase price for the 75% equity
interest was approximately $3.1 million, of which $1.7 million was paid in cash by us, $1.1 million was paid in
cash by the local partner, and $0.3 million was in the form of a note payable (of which $0.2 million will be paid
by us and $0.1 million will be paid by the local partner). The note will be paid on July 1, 2024. We guaranteed
the full payment of $0.3 million on its due date.

On February 28, 2023, we acquired an 80% interest in a one-clinic physical therapy practice. The practice’s
owners retained 20% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 80% equity interest was approximately
$6.2 million, of which $5.8 million was paid in cash and $0.4 million in the form of a note payable. The note
accrues interest at 4.5% per annum and the principal and interest are payable on February 28, 2025.

On November 30, 2022, we acquired an 80% interest in a thirteen-clinic physical therapy practice. The
practice’s owners retained 20% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 80% equity interest was
approximately $25.0 million, of which $24.2 million was paid in cash and $0.8 million in the form of a note
payable. The note accrues interest at 7.0% per annum and the principal and interest are payable on November 30,
2024.

On October 31, 2022, we acquired a 60% interest in a fourteen-clinic physical therapy practice. The
practice’s owners retained 40% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 60% equity interest was
approximately $19.5 million, with a potential additional amount to be paid at a later date based on the
performance of the business. This contingent consideration had a fair value of $9.8 million on December 31,
2023. The fair value of this contingent consideration will be adjusted quarterly based on certain criteria and
market inputs. There is no maximum payout for this contingency.

On September 30, 2022, we acquired an 80% interest in a two-clinic physical therapy practice. The
practice’s owners retained 20% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 80% equity interest was
approximately $4.2 million, of which $3.9 million was paid in cash and $0.3 million in the form of a note
payable. The note accrues interest at 5.5% per annum and the principal and interest are payable on
September 30, 2024.

On August 31, 2022, we acquired a 70% interest in a six-clinic physical therapy practice. The practice’s
owners retained 30% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 70% equity interest was approximately
$3.5 million, of which $3.3 million was paid in cash and $0.2 million in the form of a note payable. The note
accrues interest at 5.5% per annum and the principal and interest are payable on August 31, 2024.
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On March 31, 2022, we acquired a 70% interest in a six-clinic physical therapy practice. The practice’s
owners retained 30% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 70% equity interest was approximately
$11.5 million, of which $11.2 million was paid in cash and $0.3 million is in the form of a note payable. The
note accrues interest at 3.5% per annum and the principal and interest are payable on March 31, 2024.

Historically, we have generated sufficient cash from operations to fund our development activities and to
cover operational needs. We currently have $152.8 million of cash on hand, a significant portion of which is
available for deployment into development and other growth initiatives. We plan to continue developing new
clinics and making additional acquisitions. We have from time to time purchased the non-controlling interests of
limited partners in our Clinic Partnerships. We may purchase additional non-controlling interests in the future.
Generally, any acquisition or purchase of non-controlling interests is expected to be accomplished using a
combination of cash and financing. A large acquisition may require financing.

We make reasonable and appropriate efforts to collect accounts receivable, including applicable deductible
and co-payment amounts. Claims are submitted to payors daily, weekly or monthly in accordance with our policy
or payor’s requirements. When possible, we submit our claims electronically. The collection process is time
consuming and typically involves the submission of claims to multiple payors whose payment of claims may be
dependent upon the payment of another payor. Claims under litigation and vehicular incidents can take a year or
longer to collect. Medicare and other payor claims relating to new clinics awaiting CMS approval initially may
not be submitted for six months or more. When all reasonable internal collection efforts have been exhausted,
accounts are written off prior to sending them to outside collection firms. With managed care, commercial health
plans and self-pay payor type receivables, the write-off generally occurs after the account receivable has been
outstanding for 120 days or longer.

Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest

Certain of our limited partnership agreements, as amended, provide that, upon the triggering events, we have
a call right and the selling entity or individual has a put right for the purchase and sale of the limited partnership
interest held by the partner. Once triggered, the put right and the call right do not expire, even upon an
individual partner’s death, and contain no mandatory redemption feature. The purchase price of the partner’s
limited partnership interest upon the exercise of either the put right or the call right is calculated per the terms of
the respective agreements and classified as redeemable non-controlling interest (temporary equity) in our
consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of the redeemable non-controlling interest at December 31, 2023 was
$174.8 million.

In the event that a limited non-controlling interest partner’s employment ceases at any time after a specified
date that is typically between three and five years from the acquisition date, we have agreed to certain
contractual provisions which enable such non-controlling interest partners to exercise their right to trigger our
repurchase of that partner’s non-controlling interest at a predetermined multiple of earnings before interest and
taxes.

Share Repurchase Program

In March 2009, the Board authorized the repurchase of up to 10% of our common stock (‘“March 2009
Authorization™). Under the March 2009 Authorization, the Company has purchased a total of 859,499 shares. In
November 2023, the Board terminated the March 2009 Authorization such that any such repurchase of our
common stock would be considered and determined by the Board at the time of repurchase. We did not purchase
any shares of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2023, or December 31, 2022.
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Contractual Obligations

We have future obligations for debt repayments and associated interest payments as well as future minimum
rentals under our non-cancellable operating leases. The obligations as of December 31, 2023, are summarized as
follows:

Total 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter
(In thousands)
Term facility™ ..................... $144,375 5625 7,500 9,375 $121,875 $ — $ —
Notes payable® .................... 3,775 2,486 1,289 — — — —
Interest expense on Term Facility and
notes payable®. .................. 20,958 6,725 6,508 6,210 1,515 — —
Operating leases™ .................. 144,666 46,845 36,447 27,406 18,495 10,025 5,448

$313,774 $61,681 $51,744 $42,991 $141,885 $10,025 $5,448

(1)  Amounts due under our Term Facility discussed above.
(2)  Amounts due related to certain acquisitions discussed above.

(3) Interest on our Senior Credit Facility was estimated using the average outstanding balance for the respective periods and our effective
interest rate on our Term Facility at December 31, 2023, of 4.7%. Interest on our other debt was estimated using the stated rate in the
debt agreement.

(4) Includes variable non-lease components, including but not limited to common area maintenance.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our
consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of our assets, liabilities, net sales and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. Management bases estimates on historical experience and other assumptions it believes to be
reasonable given the circumstances and evaluates these estimates on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that the following critical accounting policies involve a higher degree of judgment and
complexity. See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, to our audited consolidated financial statements which
are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a complete discussion of our significant
accounting policies. The following reflect the significant estimates and judgments used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized in the period in which services are rendered. Net patient revenue consists of
revenues from physical therapy and occupational therapy clinics that provide pre-and post-operative care and
treatment for orthopedic related disorders, sports-related injuries, preventative care, rehabilitation of injured
workers and neurological-related injuries. Net patient revenue (patient revenues less estimated contractual
adjustments — described below) is recognized at the estimated net realizable amounts from third-party payors,
patients and others in exchange for services rendered when obligations under the terms of the contract are
satisfied. There is an implied contract between us and the patient upon each patient visit. Separate contractual
arrangements exist between us and third-party payors (e.g. insurers, managed care programs, government
programs, and workers’ compensation programs) which establish the amounts the third parties pay on behalf of
the patients for covered services rendered. While these agreements are not considered contracts with the
customer, they are used for determining the transaction price for services provided to the patients covered by the
third-party payors. The payor contracts do not indicate performance obligations for us but indicate reimbursement
rates for patients who are covered by those payors when the services are provided. At that time, we are obligated
to provide services for the reimbursement rates stipulated in the payor contracts. The execution of the contract
alone does not indicate a performance obligation. For self-paying customers, the performance obligation exists
when we provide the services at established rates. The difference between our established rate and the anticipated
reimbursement rate is accounted for as an offset to revenue—contractual allowance.

43



Management contract revenue, which is included in other revenue in the consolidated statements of net
income, is derived from contractual arrangements whereby we manage a clinic owned by a third party. We do
not have any ownership interest in these clinics. Typically, revenues are determined based on the number of visits
conducted at the clinic and recognized at the point in time when services are performed. Costs, typically salaries
for our employees, are recorded when incurred.

Revenues from the IIP business, which are also included in other revenues in the consolidated statements of
net income, are derived from onsite services we provide to clients’ employees including injury prevention,
rehabilitation, ergonomic assessments, and performance optimization. Revenue from the IIP business is
recognized when obligations under the terms of the contract are satisfied. Revenues are recognized at an amount
equal to the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for providing injury prevention services to our
clients. The revenue is determined and recognized based on the number of hours and respective rate for services
provided in a given period.

Additionally, other revenue includes services we provide on-site at locations such as schools and industrial
worksites for physical or occupational therapy services, athletic trainers and gym membership fees. Contract
terms and rates are agreed to in advance between us and the third parties. Services are typically performed over
the contract period and revenue is recorded at the point of service. If the services are paid in advance, revenue is
recorded as a contract liability over the period of the agreement and recognized at the point in time when the
services are performed.

We determine allowances for credit losses based on the specific agings of receivables and payor
classifications at each clinic. The provision for credit losses is included in clinic operating costs in the statements
of net income. Patient accounts receivable, which are stated at the historical carrying amount net of contractual
allowances, write-offs and allowance for credit losses, includes only those amounts we estimate to be collectible.
Our provision for credit losses was 1.0% of total net revenue for each years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively. Management believes that this is reasonable because the majority of our payors consist of
highly solvent, highly regulated, commercial insurance companies as well as government programs, including
Medicare.

Contractual Allowances

Contractual allowances result from the differences between the rates charged for services performed and
expected reimbursements by both insurance companies and government sponsored healthcare programs for such
services. Medicare regulations and the various third-party payors and managed care contracts are often complex
and may include multiple reimbursement mechanisms payable for the services provided in our clinics. We
estimate contractual allowances based on our interpretation of the applicable regulations, payor contracts and
historical calculations. Each month we estimate our contractual allowance for each clinic based on payor
contracts and the historical collection experience of the clinic and apply an appropriate contractual allowance
reserve percentage to the gross accounts receivable balances for each payor of the clinic. Based on our historical
experience, calculating the contractual allowance reserve percentage at the payor level is sufficient to allow us to
provide the necessary detail and accuracy with our collectability estimates. However, the services authorized and
provided and related reimbursement are subject to interpretation that could result in payments that differ from our
estimates. Payor terms are periodically revised necessitating continual review and assessment of the estimates
made by management. Our billing systems may not capture the exact change in our contractual allowance reserve
estimate from period to period. Therefore, in order to assess the accuracy of our revenues and hence our
contractual allowance reserves, our management regularly compares our cash collections to corresponding net
revenues measured both in the aggregate and on a clinic-by-clinic basis. In the aggregate, the historical difference
between net revenues and corresponding cash collections in any given fiscal year has generally reflected a
difference within approximately 1.0% to 1.5% of net revenues. Additionally, analysis of subsequent period’s
contractual write-offs on a payor basis reflects a difference within approximately 1.0% to 1.5% between the
actual aggregate contractual reserve percentage as compared to the estimated contractual allowance reserve
percentage associated with the same period end balance. As a result, we believe that a reasonable likely change
in the contractual allowance reserve estimate would not be more than 1.0% to 1.5% of gross billings in accounts
receivable at December 31, 2023. For purposes of demonstrating the sensitivity of this estimate on our
Company’s financial condition, a 1.0% to 1.5% increase or decrease in our aggregate contractual allowance
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reserve percentage would decrease or increase, respectively, net patient revenue by approximately $1.4 million to
$1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Management believes the changes in the estimate of the
contractual allowance reserve for the periods ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 have not been material
to the statement of income.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the amount paid and fair value of the non-controlling interests over the
fair value of the acquired business assets, which include certain identifiable intangible assets. Historically,
goodwill has been derived from acquisitions and, prior to 2009, from the purchase of some or all of a particular
local management’s equity interest in an existing clinic. Effective January 1, 2009, if the purchase price of a
non-controlling interest by the Company exceeds or is less than the book value at the time of purchase, any
excess or shortfall is recognized as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital.

Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are instead subject to periodic
impairment evaluations. The fair value of goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite lives
are evaluated for impairment at least annually and upon the occurrence of certain events or conditions and are
written down to fair value if considered impaired. These events or conditions include but are not limited to a
significant adverse change in the business environment, regulatory environment, or legal factors; a current period
operating, or cash flow loss combined with a history of such losses or a projection of continuing losses; or a sale
or disposition of a significant portion of a reporting unit. The occurrence of one of these events or conditions
could significantly impact an impairment assessment, necessitating an impairment charge. We evaluate
indefinite-lived tradenames in conjunction with our annual goodwill impairment test.

We operate our business through two segments consisting of our physical therapy clinics and our IIP
business. For purposes of goodwill impairment analysis, each of our segments is further broken down into
reporting units. Reporting units within our physical therapy business comprise of regions primarily based on each
clinic’s location. In addition to the six regions, in 2023 and 2022, the IIP business consisted of two reporting
units.

As part of the impairment analysis, we are first required to assess qualitatively if we can conclude whether
goodwill is more likely than not impaired. If goodwill is more likely than not impaired, we are then required to
complete a quantitative analysis of whether a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. In
evaluating whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, we consider relevant events or circumstances that affect the fair value or carrying amount of a reporting
unit. We consider both the income and market approach in determining the fair value of its reporting units when
performing a quantitative analysis.

An impairment loss generally would be recognized when the carrying amount of the net assets of a
reporting unit, inclusive of goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets, exceeds the estimated fair value of
the reporting unit. The evaluation of goodwill in 2021 did not result in any goodwill amounts that were deemed
impaired.

We recorded a charge for goodwill impairment of $15.8 million and $9.1 million in the years ended
December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. We also recorded a charge of $1.7 million for the
impairment of a tradename during the year ended December 31, 2023. The charges for impairment related to one
reporting unit in the IIP business. The impairments are a result of a change in the reporting unit’s current and
projected operating income as well as various market inputs based on current market conditions.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we did not recognize any additional impairment as a result of
the Company’s annual assessment of goodwill and tradenames for the other seven reporting units. We also noted
no impairment to long-lived assets for all reporting units.

We will continue to monitor for any triggering events or other indicators of impairment.
No impairment was recognized as part of our annual assessment of goodwill for the other seven reporting units.
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest

The non-controlling interests that are reflected as redeemable non-controlling interest in our consolidated
financial statements consist of those owners, including us, that have certain redemption rights, whether currently
exercisable or not, and which currently, or in the future, require that we purchase or the owner sell the
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non-controlling interest held by the owner, if certain conditions are met and the owners request the purchase
(“Put Right’”). We also have a call right (“‘Call Right”). The Put Right or Call Right may be triggered by the
owner or us, respectively, at such time as both of the following events have occurred: 1) termination of the
owner’s employment, regardless of the reason for such termination, and 2) the passage of specified number of
years after the closing of the transaction, typically three to five years, as defined in the limited partnership
agreement. The Put Rights and Call Rights are not automatic (even upon death) and require either the owner or
us to exercise our rights when the conditions triggering the Put or Call Rights have been satisfied. The purchase
price is derived at a predetermined formula based on a multiple of trailing twelve months earnings performance
as defined in the respective limited partnership agreements.

On the date we acquire a controlling interest in a partnership and the limited partnership agreement for such
partnerships contains redemption rights not under our control, the fair value of the non-controlling interest is
recorded in the consolidated balance sheet under the caption—Redeemable non-controlling interest. Then, in each
reporting period thereafter until it is purchased by us, the redeemable non-controlling interest is adjusted to the
greater of its then current redemption value or initial value, based on the predetermined formula defined in the
respective limited partnership agreement. As a result, the value of the non-controlling interest is not adjusted
below its initial value. We record any adjustment in the redemption value, net of tax, directly to retained earnings
and not in the consolidated statements of net income. Although the adjustments are not reflected in the
consolidated statements of net income, current accounting rules require that we reflect the adjustments, net of
tax, in the earnings per share calculation. The amount of net income attributable to redeemable non-controlling
interest owners is included in consolidated net income on the face of the consolidated statement of income. We
believe the redemption value (i.e. the carrying amount) and fair value are the same.

Non-Controlling Interest

We recognize non-controlling interests, in which we have no obligation but the right to purchase the
non-controlling interests, as equity in the consolidated financial statements separate from the parent entity’s
equity. The amount of net income attributable to non-controlling interests is included in consolidated net income
on the face of the consolidated statements of net income. Operating losses are allocated to non-controlling
interests even when such allocation creates a deficit balance for the non-controlling interest partner. When we
purchase a non-controlling interest and the purchase differs from the book value at the time of purchase, any
excess or shortfall is recognized as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We maintain an interest rate swap arrangement which is considered a derivative instrument. Our
indebtedness as of December 31, 2023, was the outstanding balance of seller notes from our acquisitions of
$3.8 million, and an outstanding balance on our Credit Agreement of $144.4 million, which includes a term note
with a balance of $144.4 million. The Revolving Facility does not have a balance as of December 31, 2023, and
is subject to fluctuating interest rates. A 1% change in the interest rate would yield an additional $1.5 million of
interest expense. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc.

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. (a Nevada
corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated
statements of net income, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and financial statement schedule included under
Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the ““financial statements’). In our opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023,
based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO’’), and our report dated February 29, 2024
expressed an unqualified opinion.

Basis for opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical audit matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial
statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to
accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion
on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below,
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Measurement of Patient Revenue Net of Contractual Adjustments

As further discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, revenues are recognized in the
period in which services are rendered. Net patient revenues (patient revenues less estimated contractual
adjustments) are recognized at the estimated net realizable amounts from third-party payors, patients and others
in exchange for services rendered when obligations under the terms of the contract are satisfied. The Company
has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments at amounts different from its established rates.
Each month the Company estimates its contractual adjustment for each clinic based on the terms of third-party
payor contracts and the historical collection and write-off experience of the clinic and applies a contractual
adjustment reserve percentage to the gross accounts receivable balances. The Company then performs a
comparison of cash collections to corresponding net revenues for the prior twelve months. We identified the
measurement of contractual adjustments as a critical audit matter.
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The principal consideration for our determination that the measurement of patient revenue net of contractual
adjustments is a critical audit matter is that the estimate requires a high degree of auditor subjectivity in evaluating
management’s assumptions related to developing future collection patterns across the various clinic locations.

Our audit procedures related to the Company’s measurement of contractual adjustments included the
following, among others.

e  We tested the design and operating effectiveness of controls relating to billing and cash collections, net
rate trend analysis and cash collections versus net revenue trend analysis.

e  For a sample of patient visits, we inspected and compared underlying documents for each transaction,
which included gross billing rates and cash collected (net revenue).

e  For a sample of patient visits, we traced gross billings and net revenue to net revenue recorded in the
general ledger and to each report used in determining and assessing the contractual adjustment
calculation.

e  We compared cash collections to recorded net revenue over the twelve month period ended
December 31, 2023 and again for the twelve month period ended in the first month subsequent to
period end, to identify whether there were unusual trends that would indicate that the usage of
historical collection patterns would no longer be reasonable to predict future collection patterns.

Impairment Assessments — Fair Value of a Certain Reporting Unit and Other Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

As further discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible
assets are tested by the Company’s management for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events or
circumstances indicate potential impairment. Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for
impairment at the reporting unit level. For the year ended December 31, 2023 management prepared a
quantitative impairment analysis for a reporting unit included in the industrial injury prevention services segment.
The Company engaged a third-party valuation specialist for the estimation of fair value of the reporting unit. We
identified the estimation of the fair value of this reporting unit as a critical audit matter.

The principal consideration for our determination that the estimation of the fair value of a certain reporting
unit and other indefinite-lived intangible assets is a critical audit matter is that the estimate requires a high
degree of auditor subjectivity due to significant judgments with respect to assumptions used to project the future
cash flows, including revenue growth rates, EBITDA and EBITDA margins, royalty rate, as well as the discount
rate and the valuation methodologies applied by the third-party valuation specialist.

Our audit procedures related to the estimation of the fair value of this reporting unit included the following,
among others.

e  We tested the design and operating effectiveness of controls over management’s review of the
assumptions used to project future cash flows, the selection of appropriate discount rate, royalty rates,
and valuation methodologies applied.

e  We utilized valuation specialists to evaluate:
o  The appropriateness of the methodologies applied,
o  The reasonableness of the discount rate, royalty rates, and

o The qualifications of the third-party valuation specialist engaged by the Company based on their
credentials and experience.

e  We assessed the reasonableness of assumptions applied by management in their future cash flows,
including revenue growth rates, EBITDA, and EBITDA margins.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2004.

Houston, TX
February 29, 2024
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc.

Opinion on internal control over financial reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. (a Nevada
corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in the
2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in the 2013
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2023, and our report dated February 29, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial
statements.

Basis for opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Definition and limitations of internal control over financial reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Houston, Texas
February 29, 2024
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U.S. PHYSICAL THERAPY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTYS)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ... ........ .. .. .t
Patient accounts receivable, less provision for credit losses of $2,736 and $2,829,
TESPECHIVELY . . o
Accounts receivable - other . . ... ... ... . ...
Other CUITENt @SSELS . . . . o vttt et e e e e et e e e et e e e e e e e e

Total current assets . . ... ...t e
Fixed assets:

Furniture and equipment. . . . . .. ... .o e

Leasehold improvements . . .. ... ... ...ttt e

Fixed assets, SrOSS . . . ..ttt t ittt et e
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . ............. ...t ..

Fixed assets, Net. . . . . ..ot e
Operating lease right-0f-USe asSets . .. ... ... .ottt
Investment in unconsolidated affiliate . . ... ........... ... ... . ... . . .. ...
GoodWill . . . . e
Other identifiable intangible assets, NEt. ... ... ... it
Other SSeLS. . . ottt et e e

Total ASSELS . . . .ot t e

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST, USPH
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable - trade . . ... ...
Accounts payable - due to seller of acquired business . . ..........................
ACCTUEA EXPEIISES . . . vt vttt et et e e e e e e e e e
Current portion of operating lease liabilities .. ............ .. ... . ... . .........
Current portion of term loan and notes payable. . ... ....... .. ... . ... . ... . ...

Total current liabilities . . . . ... ... e
Notes payable, net of current POrtion . . ... ... ... ...,
Revolving facility ... ... ... . e
Term loan, net of current portion and deferred financing costs . . ......................
Deferred taXes . . . . ..t
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion . . ............... ...t
Other long-term liabilities. . ... ... ... . e

Total liabilities. . . ... ... ...
Redeemable non-controlling interest - temporary equity . . . ... .. .ooieeeen ...
Commitments and Contingencies

U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. (““USPH”’) shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 500,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and
OULSLANAING . . . . . e
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized, 17,202,291 and 15,216,326
shares issued, respectively ... ... ... ... e

Additional paid-in capital . . .. ... L
Accumulated other comprehensive gain. .. ... ......... .
Retained €arnings. . . . ... ..ottt e
Treasury stock at cost, 2,214,737 shares . . ......... .

Total USPH shareholders’ equity. . . . ....... ..ottt
Non-controlling interest - permanent eqUity. . . . . .. ..o o vttt vt v

Total USPH shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interest - permanent equity . . . . . .

Total liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interest, USPH shareholders’ equity and
non-controlling interest - permanent equity . . . ... ........... i

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31,

December 31,

2023 2022
$152,825 $ 31,594
51,866 51,934
17,854 16,671
10,830 11,067
233,375 111,266
63,982 62,074
46,941 42,877
110,923 104,951
(84,821) (80,203)
26,102 24,748
103,431 103,004
12,256 12,131
509,571 494,101
109,682 108,755
2,821 4,149
$997,238 $858,154
$ 3,898 $ 3,300
— 3,204
55,344 37,413
35252 33,709
7,691 7,863
102,185 85,489
1,289 1,913
— 31,000
137,702 142,918
24,815 21,303
76,653 77,934
2,356 13,029
345,000 373,586
174,828 167,515
172 152
281,096 110,317
2,782 4,004
223,772 232,948
(31,628) (31,628)
476,194 315,793
1216 1,260
477,410 317,053
$997,238 $858,154




U.S. PHYSICAL THERAPY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET INCOME
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

For the Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net PAtient TEVENUE. . . ..\ttt ee e e e oo oo e e e $514,556 $464,590 $438,330
Other TEVENUE . . . ot vttt e e e e e e e 90,246 88,554 56,692
Net TEVENUC. . . oottt ettt e e e et e e eaas 604,802 553,144 495,022
Operating cost:
Salaries and related COStS . . ..o 353,390 319,191 278,469
Rent, supplies, contract labor and other .................... ... 123,731 116,381 94,066
Provision for credit losses . ......... ... ... .. .. .. 6,172 5,548 5,305
Total operating CoSt .. .......couuninirnin .. 483,293 441,120 377,840
Gross profit. .. ...t 121,509 112,024 117,182
Corporate office COSES. . ..o vu vttt 51,953 46,111 46,533
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets................ 17,495 9,112 —
Operating iNCOME . . .. v\ vttt ettt e 52,061 56,801 70,649
Other (expense) income
Interest expense, debt and other. .. ............ ... ... .. .. .... (9,303) (5,779) (942)
Interest income from investments . ........................... 3,774 — —
Change in fair value of contingent earn-out consideration. . ....... (1,550) 2,520 —
Change in revaluation of put-right liability.................. ... 2,582 5) —
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate. .................. 955 1,175 112
Relief Funds .. ... e 467 — 4,597
Settlement of a legal matter. .. ........... ... ... ... — — (2,635)
Resolution of a payor matter . . ............... .. .. ... .. ...... — — 1,216
Other . . 390 859 199
Total other (expense) income. . .............c.oovenienenon.. (2,685) (1,230) 2,547
Income before taxes . . ...ttt 49,376 55,571 73,196
Provision for inCOme taxes. . ... .. vv vt nt e 12,156 12,164 15,272
NEtINCOME . . o ottt e e e e e e e e e e 37,220 43,407 57,924

Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interest:
Redeemable non-controlling interest - temporary equity . ......... (4,426) (6,902) (11,358)
Non-controlling interest - permanent equity .. .................. (4,555) (4,347) (5,735)

(8,981) (11,249) (17,093)

Net income attributable to USPH shareholders. . .................. $ 28,239 $ 32,158 $ 40,831

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to USPH

shareholders . ........ ... $ 1.28 $ 225 $ 241
Shares used in computation - basic and diluted . .................. 14,188 12,985 12,898
Dividends declared per common share .......................... $ 172 $ 164 $ 146

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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U.S. PHYSICAL THERAPY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(IN THOUSANDS)

Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021

NELINCOME . . o o e et e et e e e e e e e e e $37,220 $ 43,407 $ 57,924
Other comprehensive loss
Unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedge .. .................. ... (1,642) 5,378 —
Tax effect at statutory rate (federal and state) .................... 420 (1,374) —
Comprehensive income ..............c.couiiiiiiineineeinn... $35,998 $ 47411 $ 57,924
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest. . .. ... (8,981) (11,249) (17,093)
Comprehensive income attributable to USPH shareholders . ......... $27,017 $ 36,162 $ 40,831

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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U.S. PHYSICAL THERAPY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(IN THOUSANDS)

U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc.
Common Stock  Additional ~ Accumulated Other Retained Treasury Stock Total Shareholders’ Non-Controlling
Shares Amount Paid-In Capital Comprehensive Gain Earnings Shares Amount Equity Interests Total

Balance January 1, 2021. . . 15,066  $151 $ 95,622 $— $212,015 (2,215) $(31,628) $276,160 $ 1,470 $277,630
Net income attributable to

USPH shareholders . . . . — — — — 40,831 — — 40,831 — 40,831
Net income attributable to

non-controlling interest -

permanent equity. . . . . . — — — — — — — — 5,735 5,735
Issuance of restricted stock,

net of cancellations . . . . 60 — — — — — — — — —
Revaluation of redeemable

non-controlling interest . . — — — — (9,686) — — (9,686) — (9,686)
Purchase of non-controlling

interest . . ... ...... — — (918) — — — — (918) (60) (978)
Sale of non-controlling

interest . . ... ...... — — 96 — — — — 96 2 98
Compensation expense -

equity-based awards . . . . — — 7,867 — — — — 7,867 — 7,867
Dividends paid to USPH

shareholders . . .. .. .. — — (18,765) — — (18,765) — (18,765)
Distributions to

non-controlling interest

partners - permanent

equity . . . ... ...
Short swing profit

settlement. . . . ... ...

— — — — — — (5,572) (5,572)

@
o
||~|H |

20 — — — — 20 20
1 — — — — 1 1

$102,688 $— $224395 (2215) $(31,628) $295,606 $ 1,575 $297,181

Balance December 31, 2021. 15,126

U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc.
Common Stock  Additional — Accumulated Other Retained Treasury Stock Total Shareholders’ Non-Controlling

Shares Amount Paid-In Capital Comprehensive Gain Earnings Shares Amount Equity Interests Total
Balance January 1, 2022. . 15,126  $151 $102,688 $ — $224,395 (2,215) $(31,628) $295,606 $ 1,575 $297,181
Net income attributable to
USPH shareholders. . . . — — — — 32,158 — — 32,158 — 32,158

Net income attributable to

non-controlling interest -

permanent equity . . . . . — — — — — — — — 4,347 4,347
Issuance of restricted

stock, net of

cancellations. . . . . ... 90 1 — — — — — 1 — 1
Revaluation of redeemable

non-controlling interest . — — — — (2,896) — — (2,896) — (2,896)
Purchase of

non-controlling interest . — — (353) — — — — (353) (101) (454)
Compensation expense -

equity-based awards . . . — — 7,264 — — — — 7,264 — 7,264

Transfer of compensation
liability for certain

stock . ... — — 707 — — — — 707 — 707
Dividends paid to USPH
shareholders . . . . . ... — — — — (21,321) — — (21,321) — (21,321)

Distributions to
non-controlling interest
partners - permanent

equity. . . ... ... ... — — — — — — — — (5,246) (5,246)
Deferred taxes related to

redeemable

non-controlling interest -

temporary equity . . . . . — — — — 613 — — 613 — 613
Other comprehensive gain . — — — 4,004 — — — 4,004 — 4,004
Other. . . ........... e 11 — (1) — — 10 685 695
Balance December 31,

2022 .. 15216  $152 $110,317 $4,004 $232,948 (2,215) $(31,628) $315,793 $ 1,260 $317,053

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balance January 1, 2023 .
Net income attributable to
USPH shareholders . . .
Net income attributable to
non-controlling interest
- permanent equity . . .
Issuance of restricted
stock, net of
cancellations . . . . . ..
Issuance of common
stock, pursuant to the
secondary public
offering, net of issuance
COSES . . v
Revaluation of redeemable
non-controlling interest .
Compensation expense -
equity-based awards. . .
Sale of non-controlling
interest . . . .. ... ..
Purchase of partnership
interests -
non-controlling interest .
Dividends payable to
USPH shareholders . . .
Distributions to
non-controlling interest
partners - permanent

Deferred taxes related to
redeeemable
non-controlling interest
- temporary equity . . .

Other comprehensive loss .

Other . . ..........

Balance December 31,
2023 ...

U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc.

Common Stock  Additional ~ Accumulated Other Retained Treasury Stock Total Shareholders’ Non-Controlling

Shares Amount Paid-In Capital Comprehensive Gain Earnings Shares Amount Equity Interests Total
15,216 $152 $110,317 $ 4,004 $232,948 (2,215) $(31,628) $315,793 $ 1,260 $317,053
— — — — 28,239 — — 28,239 — 28,239
- - - - - - - - 4,555 4,555
70 — — — — — — — — —
1,916 20 163,626 — — — — 163,646 — 163,646
— — — — (13,564) — — (13,564) — (13,564)
— — 7,236 — — — — 7,236 — 7,236
— — — — — — — — 4 4
— — (83) — — — — (83) (36) (119)
— — — — (24,128) — — (24,128) — (24,128)
— — — — — — — — (4,567) (4,567)
— — — 587 — — 587 — 587
— — — (1,222) (2) — — (1,224) — (1,224)
— — — — (308) — — (308) — (308)
17,202 $172 $281,096 $ 2,782 $223,772  (2,215) $(31,628) $476,194 $ 1,216 $477,410

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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U.S. PHYSICAL THERAPY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income including non-controlling interest . ....................... $ 37,220 $ 43,407 $ 57,924
Adjustments to reconcile net income including non-controlling interest to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . . . . ........ .ot 15,695 14,743 11,591
Provision for credit 10SS€S . . . . .. ..o 6,172 5,548 5,305
Equity-based awards compensation €Xpense . . . ... .................. 7,236 7,264 7,867
Amortization of debt issue costs . ... ....... .. .. 420 305 56
Change in deferred income taxes. . ... ...... o .. 4,490 4,309 5,688
Change in revaluation of put-right liability. .. ...................... (2,582) 5 —
Change in fair value of contingent earn-out consideration. . ............ 1,550 (2,520) —
Equity of earnings in unconsolidated affiliate ...................... (955) (1,175) (112)
Loss (gain) on sale of clinics and fixed assets . ..................... 166 (643) —
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets .. ................ 17,495 9,112 —
Other . . . — (83) (134)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in patient accounts receivable. . .. ... ... ... .. oo oL, (5,645) (10,279) 9,417)
Increase in accounts receivable - other. .. ......................... (356) (307) (1,538)
Increase (decrease) in other current and long term assets . ............. (197) (5,940) (633)
Decrease (increase) in accounts payable and accrued expenses . ......... 15 (7,755) 4,657
Decrease (increase) in other long-term liabilities . ................... 1,254 2,546 (4,848)
Net cash provided by operating activities. . .. .......................... 81,978 58,537 76,406
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of fixed assets . . ........... i (9,294) (8,248) (8,201)
Purchase of majority interest in businesses, net of cash acquired. .......... (26,582) (59,788) (86,823)
Purchase of redeemable non-controlling interest, temporary equity . ........ (10,986) (14,987) (28,465)
Purchase of non controlling interest, permanent equity . . . ............... (281) (280) (1,274)
Proceeds on sale of non-controlling interest, permanent equity . ........... 102 — 131
Proceeds on sale of partnership interest - redeemable non-controlling interest,
tEMPOTATY EQUILY. « o o ot e e e e e e e 875 402 69
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliate . . . ... ..................... 830 1,259 152
Proceeds on sale of partnership interest, clinics and fixed assets . .......... — 373 275
Other ... 321 e =
Net cash used in investing activities . . ........... ..., .. (45,015) (81,269) (124,136)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common stock pursuant to the secondary public
offering, net of issuance costs . .......... ... ... ... 163,646 — —
Proceeds from revolving facility .. ...... ... ... .. .. ... ... .. 24,000 101,000 316,000
Distributions to non-controlling interest, permanent and temporary equity . . . . (16,100) (15,348) (16,931)
Cash dividends paid to shareholders ............... ... ... ... ..... (24,128) (21,321) (18,765)
Payments on revolving facility ............... .. . . ... ... ... ... (55,000) (184,000) (218,000)
Principal payments on notes payable . ... .......... . ... ... ... (4,400) (930) (4,899)
Payments on term loan . ...... ... ... ... (3,750) (1,875) —
Proceeds from term loan . ............. ... . ... ... — 150,000 —
Payment of deferred financing costs .. .......... ... .. ... o .. — (1,779) —
Payment of Medicare Accelerated and Advance Funds . .. ............... — — (14,054)
Other . . . — 12 28
Net cash provided by financing activities. . ... ......................... 84,268 25,759 43,379

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Year Ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . ............................ 121,231 3,027 (4,351)
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period .. ...................... 31,594 28,567 32,918
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period . . . ......... ... ... ... ....... $152,825 $31,594 $ 28,567
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW
INFORMATION
Cash paid during the period for:
TNCOME TAXES - v« v v e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 4,926 $7,615 $12,214
INEETESt PAIA . . . . v $ 8,655 $ 5,687 $ 1,352
Non-cash investing and financing transactions during the period:
Purchase of businesses - seller financing portion .................. $ 1,815 $1,574 $ 3,050
Liabilities assumed associated with a purchase of a business ........ $ 524 $ — $ —
Notes payable related to purchase of redeemable non-controlling
interest, teMPOrary qUity . ... ....veuvenn et $ 1,087 $1,074 $ 1,759
Notes payable related to the purchase of non-controlling interest,
PEIMANENT ©QUILY . . . o vttt e et ettt e e e e $ 200 $ 296 $  —
Notes receivable related to sale of redeemable non-controlling
interest, teMpPOrary qUity . ... ....oeuvenn et $ 4,136 $ 1,580 $ 914
Notes receivable related to the sale of non-controlling interest,
PEIMANENt ©QUILY . . . oottt e e e ettt e e e $§ 458 $ — $  —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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U.S. PHYSICAL THERAPY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

1. Organization, Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(the “Company’’). All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

The Company operates its business through two reportable business segments. The Company’s reportable
segments include the physical therapy operations segment and the industrial injury prevention services (“IIP’")
segment. The Company’s physical therapy operations consist of physical therapy and occupational therapy clinics
that provide pre-and post-operative care and treatment for orthopedic-related disorders, sports-related injuries,
preventive care, rehabilitation of injured workers and neurological injuries. Services provided by the IIP segment
include onsite injury prevention and rehabilitation, performance optimization and ergonomic assessments.

During the last three years, the Company completed the acquisitions of the following clinic practices and

IIP businesses detailed below:

% Interest Number of
Acquisition Date Acquired Clinics
October 2023 Acquisition ................... October 31, 2023 *x *
September 2023 Acquisition 1 ............... September 29, 2023 70% 4
September 2023 Acquisition 2 ............... September 29, 2023 70% 1
July 2023 Acquisition .............. ... ..... July 31, 2023 70% 7
May 2023 Acquisition ...................... May 31, 2023 45% 4
February 2023 Acquisition .................. February 28, 2023 80% 1
November 2022 Acquisition. ................. November 30, 2022 80% 13
October 2022 Acquisition. .. ................. October 31, 2022 60% 14
September 2022 Acquisition. .. ............... September 30, 2022 80% 2
August 2022 Acquisition ........... .. ... August 31, 2022 70% 6
March 2022 Acquisition . .. .................. March 31, 2022 70% 6
December 2021 Acquisition . ................. December 31, 2021 75% 3
November 2021 Acquisition. ................. November 30, 2021 70% *
September 2021 Acquisition. .. ............... September 30, 2021 100% *
June 2021 Acquisition. . .............. .. ..... June 30, 2021 65% 8
March 2021 Acquisition . .. .................. March 31, 2021 70% 6

* IIP business
**  On October 31, 2023, the Company concurrently acquired 100% of an IIP business and a 55% equity interest in the ergonomics
software business (“October 2023 Acquisition”).

In May 2023, the Company completed a secondary offering of 1,916,667 shares of its common stock at an
offering price of $90.00 per share. Upon completion of the offering, the Company received net proceeds of
approximately $163.6 million, after deducting an underwriting discount of $8.6 million and recognizing related
fees and expenses of $0.2 million. A portion of the net proceeds was used to repay the $35.0 million then
outstanding under the Company’s credit facility while the remainder is expected to be used primarily for
additional acquisitions.

Impact of COVID-19
Relief Funds

In March 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the federal government approved the Coronavirus
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (““CARES Act”). The CARES Act provided additional waivers,
reimbursement, grants and other funds to assist health care providers during the COVID-19 pandemic, including
$100.0 billion in appropriations for the Public Health and Social Services Emergency Fund, also referred to as
the Provider Relief Fund, to be used for preventing, preparing, and responding to the coronavirus, and for
reimbursing eligible health care providers for lost revenues and health care related expenses that are attributable
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to COVID-19. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded income of approximately
$4.6 million under the CARES Act (“Relief Funds”). Under the Company’s accounting policy, these payments
were recorded as Other income — Relief Funds.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Cash Equivalents

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions. The Company considers all
highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The
combined account balances at several institutions typically exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC”) insurance coverage and, as a result, there is a concentration of credit risk related to amounts on
deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage. Management believes that this risk is not significant.

Long-Lived Assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the related assets. Estimated useful lives for furniture and equipment range from three to eight
years and for software purchased from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
shorter of the related lease term or estimated useful lives of the assets, which is generally three to five years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews property and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives for impairment upon
the occurrence of certain events or circumstances that indicate the related amounts may be impaired.

Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the amount paid and fair value of the non-controlling interests over the
fair value of the acquired business assets, which include certain identifiable intangible assets. Historically,
goodwill has been derived from acquisitions and, prior to 2009, from the purchase of some or all of a particular
local management’s equity interest in an existing clinic. Effective January 1, 2009, if the purchase price of a
non-controlling interest by the Company exceeds or is less than the book value at the time of purchase, any
excess or shortfall is recognized as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital.

Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are instead subject to periodic
impairment evaluations. The fair value of goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite lives
are evaluated for impairment at least annually and upon the occurrence of certain events or conditions and are
written down to fair value if considered impaired. These events or conditions include but are not limited to a
significant adverse change in the business environment, regulatory environment, or legal factors; a current period
operating, or cash flow loss combined with a history of such losses or a projection of continuing losses; or a sale
or disposition of a significant portion of a reporting unit. The occurrence of one of these events or conditions
could significantly impact an impairment assessment, necessitating an impairment charge. The Company
evaluates indefinite-lived tradenames in conjunction with our annual goodwill impairment test.

The Company operates its business through two segments consisting of physical therapy clinics and an IIP
business. For the purposes of goodwill impairment analysis, the segments are further broken down into reporting
units. Reporting units within our physical therapy business are comprised of six regions primarily based on each
clinic’s location. In addition to the six regions, in 2023 and 2022, the IIP business consisted of two reporting
units.

As part of the impairment analysis, the Company is first required to assess qualitatively if it can conclude
whether goodwill is more likely than not impaired. If goodwill is more likely than not impaired, it is then
required to complete a quantitative analysis of whether a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying
amount. In evaluating whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount, the Company considers relevant events or circumstances that affect the fair value or carrying
amount of a reporting unit. The Company considers both the income and market approach in determining the fair
value of its reporting units when performing a quantitative analysis.
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An impairment loss generally would be recognized when the carrying amount of the net assets of a
reporting unit, inclusive of goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets, exceeds the estimated fair value of
the reporting unit. The evaluation of goodwill in 2021 did not result in any goodwill amounts that were deemed
impaired.

The Company recorded a charge for goodwill impairment of $15.8 million and $9.1 million in the years
ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively. The Company also recorded a charge of
$1.7 million for impairment of a tradename during the year ended December 31, 2023. The charges for
impairment related to one reporting unit in the IIP business.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company did not recognize any additional impairment as a
result of the Company’s annual assessment of goodwill and tradenames for the other seven reporting units. The
Company also noted no impairment to long-lived assets for all reporting units.

The Company will continue to monitor for any triggering events or other indicators of impairment.

Investment in unconsolidated affiliates

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates, in which the Company has less than a controlling interest, are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting and, accordingly, are adjusted for capital contributions,
distributions and the Company’s equity in net earnings or loss of the respective joint venture.

Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest

The non-controlling interest that is reflected as redeemable non-controlling interest in the consolidated
financial statements consists of those in which the owners and the Company have certain redemption rights,
whether currently exercisable or not, and which currently, or in the future, require that the Company purchase or
the owner sell the non-controlling interest held by the owner, if certain conditions are met. The purchase price is
derived at a predetermined formula based on a multiple of trailing twelve months earnings performance as
defined in the respective limited partnership agreements. The redemption rights can be triggered by the owner or
the Company at such time as both of the following events have occurred: 1) termination of the owner’s
employment, regardless of the reason for such termination, and 2) the passage of specified number of years after
the closing of the transaction, typically three to five years, as defined in the limited partnership agreement. The
redemption rights are not automatic or mandatory (even upon death) and require either the owner or the
Company to exercise its rights when the conditions triggering the redemption rights have been satisfied.

On the date the Company acquires a controlling interest in a partnership, and the limited partnership
agreement for such partnership contains redemption rights not under the control of the Company, the fair value
of the non-controlling interest is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet under the caption—Redeemable
non-controlling interest — temporary equity. Then, in each reporting period thereafter until it is purchased by the
Company, the redeemable non-controlling interest is adjusted to the greater of its then current redemption value
or initial carrying value, based on the predetermined formula defined in the respective limited partnership
agreement. As a result, the value of the non-controlling interest is not adjusted below its initial carrying value.
The Company records any adjustment in the redemption value, net of tax, directly to retained earnings and are
not reflected in the consolidated statements of net income. Although the adjustments are not reflected in the
consolidated statements of net income, current accounting rules require that the Company reflects the
adjustments, net of tax, in the earnings per share calculation. The amount of net income attributable to
redeemable non-controlling interest owners is included in consolidated net income on the face of the consolidated
statements of net income. Management believes the redemption value (i.e. the carrying amount) and fair value
are the same.

Non-Controlling Interest

The Company recognizes non-controlling interest, in which the Company has no obligation but the right to
purchase the non-controlling interest, as permanent equity in the consolidated financial statements separate from
the parent entity’s equity. The amount of net income attributable to non-controlling interests is included in
consolidated net income on the face of the statements of net income. Changes in a parent entity’s ownership
interest in a subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation are treated as equity transactions if the parent entity
retains its controlling financial interest. The Company recognizes a gain or loss in net income when a subsidiary
is deconsolidated. Such gain or loss is measured using the fair value of the non-controlling equity investment on
the deconsolidation date.
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When the purchase price of a non-controlling interest by the Company exceeds the book value at the time
of purchase, any excess or shortfall is recognized as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital. Additionally,
operating losses are allocated to non-controlling interests even when such allocation creates a deficit balance for
the non-controlling interest partner.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606. For
ASC 606, there is an implied contract between us and the patient upon each patient visit. Separate contractual
arrangements exist between us and third-party payors (e.g. insurers, managed care programs, government
programs, workers’ compensation) which establish the amounts the third parties pay on behalf of the patients for
covered services rendered. While these agreements are not considered contracts with the customer, they are used
for determining the transaction price for services provided to the patients covered by the third-party payors. The
payor contracts do not indicate performance obligations for us but indicate reimbursement rates for patients who
are covered by those payors when the services are provided. At that time, the Company is obligated to provide
services for the reimbursement rates stipulated in the payor contracts. The execution of the contract alone does
not indicate a performance obligation. For self-paying customers, the performance obligation exists when we
provide the services at established rates. The difference between the Company’s established rate and the
anticipated reimbursement rate is accounted for as an offset to revenue—contractual allowance. Payments for
services rendered are typically due 30 to 120 days after receipt of the invoice.

Patient revenue

Net patient revenue consists of revenues for physical therapy and occupational therapy clinics that provide
pre-and post-operative care and treatment for orthopedic related disorders, sports-related injuries, preventative
care, rehabilitation of injured workers and neurological-related injuries. Net patient revenues (patient revenues
less estimated contractual adjustments, see — Contractual Adjustments, for additional information) are recognized
at the estimated net realizable amounts from third-party payors, patients and others in exchange for services
rendered when obligations under the terms of the contract are satisfied. There is an implied contract between us
and the patient upon each patient visit. Generally, this occurs as the Company provides physical and occupational
therapy services, as each service provided is distinct and future services rendered are not dependent on
previously rendered services. The Company has agreements with third-party payors that provide payments to the
Company at amounts different from its established rates.

Other Revenue

Revenue from the IIP business, which is included in other revenue in the consolidated statements of net
income, is derived from onsite services the Company provides to clients’ employees including injury prevention,
rehabilitation, ergonomic assessments, post-offer employment testing and performance optimization. Revenue
from the Company’s IIP business is recognized when obligations under the terms of the contract are satisfied.
Revenues are recognized at an amount equal to the consideration the company expects to receive in exchange for
providing injury prevention services to its clients. The revenue is determined and recognized based on the
number of hours and respective rate for services provided in a given period.

Management contract revenue, which is also included in other revenue, is derived from contractual
arrangements whereby the Company manages a clinic for third party owners. The Company does not have any
ownership interest in these clinics. Typically, revenue is determined based on the number of visits conducted at
the clinic and recognized at a point in time when services are performed. Costs, typically salaries for the
Company’s employees, are recorded when incurred. Management contract revenue was $8.6 million, $8.1 million
and $9.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021,
respectively.

Additionally, other revenue from physical therapy operations includes services the Company provides on-site
at locations such as schools and industrial worksites for physical or occupational therapy services, athletic
trainers and gym membership fees. Contract terms and rates are agreed to in advance between the Company and
the third parties. Services are typically performed over the contract period and revenue is recorded at the point of
service. If the services are paid in advance, revenue is recorded as a contract liability over the period of the
agreement and recognized at the point in time, when the services are performed.
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Contractual Allowances

The allowance for estimated contractual adjustments is based on terms of payor contracts and historical
collection and write-off experience. Contractual allowances result from the differences between the rates charged
for services performed and expected reimbursements by both insurance companies and government sponsored
healthcare programs for such services. Medicare regulations and the various third-party payors and managed care
contracts are often complex and may include multiple reimbursement mechanisms payable for the services
provided in Company clinics. The Company estimates contractual allowances based on its interpretation of the
applicable regulations, payor contracts and historical calculations. Each month the Company estimates its
contractual allowance for each clinic based on payor contracts and the historical collection experience of the
clinic and applies an appropriate contractual allowance reserve percentage to the gross accounts receivable
balances for each payor of the clinic. Based on the Company’s historical experience, calculating the contractual
allowance reserve percentage at the payor level is sufficient to allow the Company to provide the necessary detail
and accuracy with its collectability estimates. However, the services authorized and provided and related
reimbursement are subject to interpretation that could result in payments that differ from the Company’s
estimates. Payor terms are periodically revised necessitating continual review and assessment of the estimates
made by management. The Company’s billing system does not capture the exact change in its contractual
allowance reserve estimate from period to period in order to assess the accuracy of its revenues and hence its
contractual allowance reserves. Management regularly compares its cash collections to corresponding net
revenues measured both in the aggregate and on a clinic-by-clinic basis. In the aggregate, historically the
difference between net revenues and corresponding cash collections for any fiscal year has generally reflected a
difference within approximately 1% to 1.5% of net revenues. Additionally, analysis of subsequent periods’
contractual write-offs on a payor basis reflects a difference within approximately 1.0% to 1.5% between the
actual aggregate contractual reserve percentage as compared to the estimated contractual allowance reserve
percentage associated with the same period end balance. As a result, the Company believes that a change in the
contractual allowance reserve estimate would not likely be more than 1.0% to 1.5% of gross billings included in
accounts receivable each at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Company determines allowances for credit losses based on the specific agings and payor classifications
at each clinic. The provision for credit losses is included in operating costs in the consolidated statements of net
income. Patient accounts receivable, which are stated at the historical carrying amount net of contractual
allowances, write-offs and allowance for credit losses, includes only those amounts the Company estimates to be
collectible.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date.

The Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the
relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions
meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount to be recognized in the financial statements is the largest
benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant
tax authority.

The CARES Act includes changes to certain tax law related to net operating losses and the deductibility of
interest expense and depreciation. ASC 740, Income Taxes requires the effects of changes in tax rates and laws
on deferred tax balances to be recognized in the period in which the legislation is enacted. The legislation had no
effect on the Company’s deferred income taxes and current income taxes payable during the year ended
December 31, 2023.
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The Company records interest or penalties in interest and other expense, in the consolidated statements of
net income. The Company did not have any interest or penalties in each of the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Assets and liabilities measured at fair
value are classified using the following hierarchy, which is based upon the transparency of inputs to the valuation
at the measurement date.

e Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

e Level 2 — Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or
indirectly.

e Level 3 — Unobservable inputs based on the Company’s own assumptions.

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, contingent earn-out
payments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and notes payable approximate their fair values due to the
short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The carrying amount under the Credit Agreement
approximates the fair value due to the proximity of the debt issue date and the balance sheet date and the
variable component of interest on debt. The interest rate on the Credit Agreement is tied to the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (““SOFR”).

The put right associated with the potential future purchase of the separate company in the November 2021
acquisition are both is also marked to fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs. The put right
associated with the potential future purchase of the separate company in the IIP business is determined using a
Monte Carlo simulation model utilizing unobservable inputs such as asset volatility and discount rates. The
unobservable inputs in the valuation include asset volatility of 25.0% and a discount rate of 11.22%. The value
of the put right associated with the potential future purchase of a company in the IIP business decreased
$2.6 million from $3.6 million on December 31, 2022 to approximately $1.0 million on December 31, 2023.
Accordingly, the Company recognized a gain of $2.6 million on this change in revaluation for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2023.

The valuations of the Company’s interest rate derivative is measured as the present value of all expected
future cash flows based on SOFR-based yield curves. The present value calculation uses discount rates that have
been adjusted to reflect the credit quality of the Company and its counterparty which is a Level 2 fair value
measurement. The fair value of the interest rate swap on December 31, 2023, was $3.7 million, of which
$2.6 million has been included within Other current assets and $1.1 million has been included in Other assets in
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. The impact of the interest rate swap on the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income was an unrealized loss of $1.2 million, net of tax, for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

The redemption value of redeemable non-controlling interests approximates the fair value. See Note 6 for
the changes in the fair value of Redeemable non-controlling interest.

The consideration for some of the Company’s acquisitions include future payments that are contingent upon
the occurrence of future operational objectives being met. The Company estimates the fair value of contingent
consideration obligations through valuation models designed to estimate the probability of such contingent
payments based on various assumptions and incorporating estimated success rates. These fair value measurements
are based on significant inputs not observable in the market. Substantial judgment is employed in determining the
appropriateness of these assumptions as of the acquisition date and for each subsequent period. Accordingly,
changes in assumptions could have a material impact on the amount of contingent consideration expense the
Company records in any given period.The Company determined the fair value of its contingent consideration
obligation to be $9.8 million and $8.3 million on December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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Segment Reporting

Operating segments are components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available
that is evaluated regularly by chief operating decision makers in determining the allocation of resources and in
assessing performance. The Company currently operates through two segments: physical therapy operations and
industrial injury prevention services.

Use of Estimates

In preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements, management makes certain estimates and
assumptions, especially in relation to, but not limited to, goodwill impairment, tradenames, allocations of
purchase price, allowance for receivables, tax provision and contractual allowances, that affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

Self-Insurance Program

The Company utilizes a self-insurance plan for its employee group health and dental insurance coverage
administered by a third party. Predetermined loss limits have been arranged with the insurance company to
minimize the Company’s maximum liability and cash outlay. Accrued expenses include the estimated incurred
but unreported costs to settle unpaid claims and estimated future claims. Management believes that the current
accrued amounts are sufficient to pay claims arising from self-insurance claims incurred through December 31,
2023.

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock issued to employees and directors is subject to continued employment or continued service
on the board, respectively. Generally, restrictions on the stock granted to employees lapse in equal annual
installments on the following four anniversaries of the date of grant. For those shares granted to directors, the
restrictions will lapse in equal quarterly installments during the first year after the date of grant. For those
granted to officers, the restriction will lapse in equal quarterly installments during the four years following the
date of grant. Compensation expense for grants of restricted stock is recognized based on the fair value per share
on the date of grant amortized over the vesting period. The Company recognizes any forfeitures as they occur.
The restricted stock issued is included in basic and diluted shares for the earnings per share computation.

Reclassification of Prior Period Presentation

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. These
reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of operations.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740)-Simplifying the Accounting
for Income Taxes (““ASU 2019-12"). The objective of ASU 2019-12 is to simplify the accounting for income
taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and to provide more consistent
application to improve the comparability of financial statements. The amendments in this ASU are effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and early adoption was permitted. The Company completed the
adoption of ASU 2020-06 effective January 1, 2021 and there was no material impact on the Company’s
financial statements.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06 Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic
470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for
Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity, which simplifies the accounting for certain
financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity, including convertible instruments and contracts
on an entity’s own equity. As part of this update, convertible instruments are to be included in diluted earnings
per share using the if-converted method, rather than the treasury stock method. Further, contracts which can be
settled in cash or shares, excluding liability-classified share-based payment awards, are to be included in diluted
earnings per share on an if-converted basis if the effect is dilutive, regardless of whether the entity or the
counterparty can choose between cash and share settlement. The share-settlement presumption may not be
rebutted based on past experience or a stated policy.
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This pronouncement was effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2021.The Board specified that an entity should adopt the guidance at the beginning
of its annual fiscal year. The Company adopted this pronouncement as of January 1, 2022. The use of either the
modified retrospective or fully retrospective method of transition is permitted. The adoption of ASU 2020-06 did
not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the
Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. This ASU provides temporary optional expedients and
exceptions to the guidance on contract modifications and hedge accounting to ease the financial reporting
burdens of the expected market transition from LIBOR and other interbank offered rates to alternative reference
rates. The new guidance was effective upon issuance, and the Company has elected to apply the amendments
prospectively through December 31, 2022. Borrowings under the Company’s Credit Agreement bear interest
based on SOFR.

Recently Issued Accounting Guidance

In March 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”’) issued Accounting Standards Update
(““ASU”) 2023-01, Leases (Topic 842): Common Control Arrangements, which requires companies to amortize
leasehold improvements associated with related party leases under common control over the useful life of the
leasehold improvement to the common control group. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2023; however, early adoption is permitted. The ASU can either be applied
prospectively or retrospectively. The adoption of ASU 2023-01 did not have a material effect on the Company’s
financial statements.

3. Earnings Per Share

The computations of basic and diluted earnings are as follows.

For the Year Ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021

(In thousands, except per share data)

Computation of earnings per share - USPH shareholders:

Net income attributable to USPH shareholders ................. $ 28,239 $32,158 $ 40,831

Charges to retained earnings:

Revaluation of redeemable non-controlling interest.............. (13,565) (3,890) (13,011)

Tax effect at statutory rate (federal and state) .................. 3,466 994 3,324
$ 18,140 $29,262 $ 31,144

Earnings per share (basic and diluted) ... ............couuun.. $ 1.28 $ 225 $ 241

Shares used in computation:
Basic and diluted earnings per share - weighted-average shares. . . . 14,188 12,985 12,898

4. Acquisitions of Businesses

The Company’s strategy is to continue acquiring multi-clinic outpatient physical therapy practices, to
develop outpatient physical therapy clinics as satellites in existing partnerships and to continue acquiring
companies that provide and serve the IIP sector. The consideration paid for each acquisition is derived through
arm’s length negotiations and funded through working capital, borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit
facilities or proceeds from the recently completed secondary offering discussed in Note 1.

The finalized purchase prices plus the fair value of the non-controlling interests for the acquisitions in 2022
and 2021 were allocated to the fair value of the assets acquired, inclusive of identifiable intangible assets,
i.e. trade names, referral relationships and non-compete agreements, and liabilities assumed based on the fair
values at the acquisition date, with the amount exceeding the fair values being recorded as goodwill. For some of
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the acquisitions in 2023, the Company is in the process of completing its formal valuation analysis to identify
and determine the fair value of tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
Thus, the final allocation of the purchase price may differ from the preliminary estimates used at December 31,
2023 based on additional information obtained and completion of the valuation of the identifiable intangible
assets. Changes in the estimated valuation of the tangible assets acquired, the completion of the valuation of
identifiable intangible assets and the completion by the Company of the identification of any unrecorded
pre-acquisition contingencies, where the liability is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, will
likely result in adjustments to goodwill. The Company does not expect the adjustments to be material.

The results of operations of the acquisitions below have been included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements since their respective date of acquisition. Unaudited proforma consolidated financial
information for the acquisitions have not been included, as the results, individually and in the aggregate, were
not material to current operations.

For the 2023, 2022 and 2021 acquisitions, total current assets primarily represent patient accounts
receivable. Total non-current assets are fixed assets, primarily equipment, used in the practices.

During 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company acquired a majority interest in the following businesses:

2023 Acquisitions

% Interest Number of
Acquisition Date Acquired Clinics
October 2023 Acquisition. . .................. October 31, 2023 Hk *
September 2023 Acquisitionl................. September 29, 2023 70% 4
September 2023 Acquisition2. . ............... September 29, 2023 70% 1
July 2023 Acquisition....................... July 31, 2023 70% 7
May 2023 Acquisition. . ..................... May 31, 2023 45% 4
February 2023 Acquisition . .................. February 28, 2023 80% 1

IIP business
**  On October 31, 2023, the Company concurrently acquired 100% of an IIP business and a 55% equity interest in the ergonomics
software business (*“October 2023 Acquisition”).

On October 31, 2023, the Company concurrently acquired 100% of an IIP business and a 55% equity
interest in the ergonomics software business. The previous owner of the ergonomics software business retained a
45% equity interest. The total purchase price of the combined businesses was approximately $4.0 million and
was paid in cash.

On September 29, 2023, the Company acquired a 70% equity interest in a four-clinic physical therapy
practice. The owner of the practice retained 30% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 70% equity
interest was approximately $6.0 million, of which $5.4 million was paid in cash, and $0.6 million was in the
form of a note payable. The note accrues interest at 5.0% per annum and the principal and interest are payable in
two installments. The first payment of principal and interest of $0.3 million was paid in January 2024, and the
second installment of $0.3 million is due on September 30, 2025.

In a separate transaction, on September 29, 2023, the Company acquired a 70% equity interest in a single
clinic physical therapy practice. The owner of the practice retained 30% of the equity interests. The purchase
price for the 70% equity interest was approximately $7.8 million, of which $7.4 million was paid in cash and
$0.4 million is a deferred payment due on June 30, 2025.

On July 31, 2023, the Company acquired a 70% equity interest in a five-clinic practice. The practice’s
owners retained a 30% equity interest. The purchase price for the 70% equity interest was approximately
$2.1 million, of which $1.8 million was paid in cash and $0.3 million is a deferred payment due on June 30,
2025.

On May 31, 2023, the Company and a local partner together acquired a 75% interest in a four-clinic
physical therapy practice. After the transaction, the Company’s ownership interest is 45%, the Company’s local
partner’s ownership interest is 30%, and the practice’s pre-acquisition owners have a 25% ownership interest.
The purchase price for the 75% equity interest was approximately $3.1 million, of which $1.7 million was paid
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in cash by the Company, $1.1 million was paid in cash by the local partner, and $0.3 million was in the form of
a note payable, (of which $0.2 million will be paid by the Company and $0.1 million will be paid by the local
partner). The note will be paid on July 1, 2024. The Company guaranteed the full payment of $0.3 million on its
due date.

On February 28, 2023, the Company acquired an 80% interest in a one-clinic physical therapy practice. The
practice’s owners retained 20% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 80% equity interest was
approximately $6.2 million, of which $5.8 million was paid in cash and $0.4 million in the form of a note
payable. The note accrues interest at 4.5% per annum and the principal and interest are payable on February 28,
2025.

The purchase prices for the 2023 acquisitions have been preliminarily allocated as follows.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023
Physical Therapy

1P Operations Total
(In thousands)
Cash paid, net of cash acquired .. ........... ... ... ... ... ...... $3,955 $ 22,627 $ 26,582
Seller NOte . . ..ot — 985 985
Deferred payments. . .. ...... o — 830 830
Contingent PAYMENLS . .« . oot vttt e et e e — 200 200
Total consideration ... ........... ...t .. $3,955 $ 24,642 $ 28,597
Estimated fair value of net tangible assets acquired:
Total Current assets . ... ... $ 392 $ 1,141 $ 1,533
Total NON-CUITENt ASSELS. . . v v vttt e ettt e e e e e e e e e e 335 3,149 3,484
Total liabilities. . .. ... oo 41) (3,163) (3,204)
Net tangible assets acquired . .......... ... ... .. .. ... .. .. ... 686 1,127 1,813
Customer and referral relationships .. ............ ... ... .. ... .... 757 6,819 7,576
Non-compete agreement . . . .. ..ottt 37 329 366
Tradenames . .. ..o 187 1,680 1,867
Goodwill ... 2,562 25,521 28,083
Fair value of non-controlling interest (classified as redeemable
non-controlling interest) . ... ........ouuiniunini e, (274) (10,834) (11,108)
$3,955 $ 24,642 $ 28,597

Total current assets primarily represent accounts receivable while total non-current assets consist of fixed
assets and equipment used in the practice.

For the acquisitions in 2023, the values assigned to the customer and referral relationships and non-compete
agreement are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their respective estimated lives. For customer and
referral relationships, the weighted-average amortization period is 12.0 years. For the non-compete agreements,
the weighted-average amortization period is 5.1 years. The values assigned to tradenames are tested annually for
impairment.

2022 Acquisitions
% Interest Number of

Acquisition Date Acquired Clinics
November 2022 Acquisition. ................. November 30, 2022 80% 13
October 2022 Acquisition. .. ................. October 31, 2022 60% 14
September 2022 Acquisition. .. ............... September 30, 2022 80% 2
August 2022 Acquisition ........... .. ... August 31, 2022 70% 6
March 2022 Acquisition . .. .................. March 31, 2022 70% 6
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On November 30, 2022, the Company acquired an 80% interest in a thirteen-clinic physical therapy practice.
The practice’s owners retained 20% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 80% equity interest was
approximately $25.0 million, of which $24.2 million was paid in cash and $0.8 million in the form of a note
payable. The note accrues interest at 7.0% per annum and the principal and interest are payable on November 30,
2024. As part of the acquisition, the Company agreed to additional contingent consideration of up to $1.6 million
if future operational objectives were met. The additional contingent consideration was valued at $1.6 million on
December 31, 2023, and was paid in full in January 2024.

On October 31, 2022, the Company acquired a 60% interest in a fourteen-clinic physical therapy practice.
The practice’s owners retained 40% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 60% equity interest was
approximately $19.5 million, with additional contingent consideration valued at $9.8 million on December 31,
2023, to be paid at a later date based on the performance of the business. There is no maximum payout. The
estimate of this contingent consideration will continue to be marked at fair value based on the practice’s
operational results and updated market inputs.

On September 30, 2022, the Company acquired an 80% interest in a two-clinic physical therapy practice.
The practice’s owners retained 20% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 80% equity interest was
approximately $4.2 million, of which $3.9 million was paid in cash and $0.3 million in the form of a note
payable. The note accrues interest at 5.5% per annum and the principal and interest are payable on
September 30, 2024.

On August 31, 2022, the Company acquired a 70% interest in a six-clinic physical therapy practice. The
practice’s owners retained 30% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 70% equity interest was
approximately $3.5 million, of which $3.3 million was paid in cash and $0.2 million in the form of a note
payable. The note accrues interest at 5.5% per annum and the principal and interest are payable on August 31,
2024.

On March 31, 2022, the Company acquired a 70% interest in a six-clinic physical therapy practice. The
practice’s owners retained 30% of the equity interests. The purchase price for the 70% equity interest was
approximately $11.5 million, of which $11.2 million was paid in cash and $0.3 million in the form of a note
payable. The note accrues interest at 3.5% per annum and the principal and interest are payable on March 31,
2024.

The purchase price for the 2022 acquisitions has been allocated as follows.

Physical Therapy

Operations
(In thousands)
Cash paid, net of cash acquired ... .. ... ... .. ... . i $ 59,788
Seller MOLCS. . . oottt e e 1,574
Contingent PAYMENLS . . . . oottt ettt et e et e e e e 10,000
Total CONSIACTALION. « .« o v v e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 71,362
Estimated fair value of net tangible assets acquired:
TOtal CUTENE ASSELS . v v v e v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 1,329
Total NON-CUITENT ASSELS . . . o v ettt e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 7,798
Total Habilities . . . . ..ot e (10,930)
Net tangible assets acquired . . ... ... ...ttt e (1,803)
Customer and referral relationships . ........ ... . 18,062
NON-COMPELE AIECIMENLS. . . o . o ettt ettt et ettt et e e e e e e e e e e 934
Tradenames . ... ..ot 5,445
GoOdWill. . ..o e 75,525
Fair value of non-controlling interest (classified as redeemable non-controlling interest). . ... ... (26,801)
$ 71,362

Total current assets primarily represent accounts receivable while total non-current assets consist of fixed
assets and equipment used in the practice.

68



The purchase price plus the fair value of the non-controlling interests for the acquisitions in 2022 were
allocated to the fair value of the assets acquired, inclusive of identifiable intangible assets, (i.e. trade names,
referral relationships and non-compete agreements) and liabilities assumed based on the fair values at the
acquisition date, with the amount exceeding the fair values being recorded as goodwill.

For the acquisitions in 2022, the values assigned to the customer and referral relationships and non-compete
agreements are being amortized to expense equally over the respective estimated lives. For customer and referral
relationships, the weighted-average amortization period is 12.2 years. For non-compete agreements, the
weighted-average amortization period is 5.0 years. The values assigned to tradenames are tested annually for
impairment.

2021 Acquisitions

% Interest Number of
Acquisition Date Acquired Clinics
December 2021 Acquisition . ................. December 31, 2021 75% 3
November 2021 Acquisition. ................. November 30, 2021 70% *
September 2021 Acquisition. .. ............... September 30, 2021 100% *
June 2021 Acquisition. .. ........ .. ... .. June 30, 2021 65% 8
March 2021 Acquisition . .. .................. March 31, 2021 70% 6

* IIP business

On December 31, 2021, the Company acquired a 75% interest in three-clinic physical therapy practice with
the practice founder retaining 25%. The purchase price for the 75% interest was approximately $3.7 million, of
which $3.5 million was paid in cash and $0.2 million in the form of a note payable. The note accrued interest at
3.25% per annum and the principal and interest was paid on December 31, 2023.

On November 30, 2021, the Company acquired an approximate 70% interest in a leading provider of
industrial injury prevention services (‘‘IIP Acquisition’). In each case, the previous owners retained the
remaining interest. The purchase price for the approximate 70% equity interest, not inclusive of a contingent
payment up to $2.0 million, was approximately $63.2 million of which $60.7 million was paid in cash and
$1.0 million in the form of a note payable. The note accrues interest at 3.25% per annum and the principal and
interest is payable on November 30, 2023. As part of the transaction, the Company also agreed to the potential
future purchase of a separate company under the same ownership that provides physical therapy and
rehabilitation services to hospitals and other ancillary providers in a distinct market area. The current owners
have the right to put this transaction to the Company in approximately five years, with such right having a
$1.2 million value on December 31, 2023, as reflected on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet in Other
long-term liabilities. The value of this right will be adjusted in future periods, as appropriate, with any change in
value reflected in the Company’s consolidated statement of income. The Company does not currently possess
more than 50% of the controlling interests in this separate company, does not control this company through
contract or governance rights and currently does not exercise significant influence over this separate company.
Due to the aforementioned reasons, and based on current accounting guidance, the Company did not consolidate
the separate company through the variable interest or voting interest model. The Company revalued the
contingent earn-out consideration related to the acquisition during the year ended December 31, 2022, resulting
in a gain of $2.0 million and the reduction of the liability to $0.

On September 30, 2021, the Company acquired a company that specializes in return-to-work and ergonomic
services, among other offerings. The Company acquired the company’s assets at a purchase price of approximately
$3.3 million (which includes the obligation to pay an amount up to $0.6 million in contingent payment consideration
in conjunction with the acquisition if specified future operational objectives are met), and contributed those assets to
Briotix Health. The initial purchase price, not inclusive of the $0.6 million contingent payment, was approximately
$2.7 million, of which $2.4 million was paid in cash, and $0.3 million is in the form of a note payable. The note
accrued interest at 3.25% per annum and the principal and interest was paid in September 2023. The Company
revalued the contingent earn-out consideration related to the acquisition during the year ended December 31, 2022,
resulting in the elimination of the $0.6 million liability previously booked to $0.
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On June 30, 2021, the Company acquired a 65% interest in an eight-clinic physical therapy with the
previous owners retaining 35%. The purchase price was approximately $10.3 million, of which $9.0 million was
paid in cash, $1.0 million is payable based on the achievement of certain business criteria and $0.3 million is in
the form of a note payable. The note accrued interest at 3.25% per annum and the principal and interest and was
paid in June 2023. Additionally, the Company has an obligation to pay an additional amount up to $0.8 million
in contingent payment consideration in conjunction with the acquisition if specified future operational objectives
are met. The Company recorded acquisition-date fair value of this contingent liability based on the likelihood of
the contingent earn-out payment. The earn-out payment valued at $0.8 million on December 31, 2023, will
subsequently be remeasured to fair value each reporting date.

On March 31, 2021, the Company acquired a 70% interest in a five-clinic physical therapy practice with the
previous owners retaining 30%. When acquired, the practice was developing a sixth clinic which has been
completed. The purchase price for the 70% interest was approximately $12.0 million, of which $11.7 million was
paid in cash and $0.3 million in the form of a note payable. The note accrued interest at 3.25% per annum and
the principal and interest was paid in March 2023.

The purchase price for the 2021 acquisitions has been allocated as follows.

Physical Therapy

1P Operations Total
(In thousands) (In thousands) (In thousands)

Cash paid, net of cash acquired................ccovvirrinnnno... $ 63,193 $ 23,630 $ 86,823
Seller NOES . . o vttt et e e e 1,250 800 2,050
Contingent payments .. ...........ouutnenenmenenennenenennn.. 2,520 837 3,357
Other payable . ....... ... ... . — 1,000 1,000
Seller putright . ... .. .. . 3,522 — 3,522
Total consideration . . . .......uu e $ 70,485 $ 26,267 $ 96,752
Estimated fair value of net tangible assets acquired:
Total CUITENTt ASSELS . -« « v v v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 5,588 $ 1,885 $ 7,473
Total nON-CUrent asSets . . ... ..o v vttt et et ans 12,620 7,014 19,634
Total liabilities . ... ... ... . i e (4,842) (8,313) (13,155)
Net tangible assets acquired. . ... ..., 13,366 586 13,952
Customer and referral relationships............... ... .. .. ..... 21,127 7,969 29,096
Non-compete agreements . . . .......ov ittt 500 415 915
Tradenames . . .. ...ttt 5,141 2,144 7,285
Goodwill . ..o 58,257 27,109 85,366
Fair value of non-controlling interest (classified as redeemable

non-controlling interest) . . .. ... .ottt (27,906) (11,956) (39,862)

$ 70,485 $ 26,267 $ 96,752

5. Acquisitions and Sale of Non-Controlling Interests

During 2023, the Company acquired additional interests in three partnerships which are included in
non-controlling interests - permanent equity. The additional interests purchased in each of the partnerships ranged
from 0.15% to 35.0%. The aggregated purchase price for these acquired interests was $0.5 million. The
Company also sold interests in four partnerships for an aggregate price of $0.6 million. The non-controlling
interests - permanent equity sold in each of the partnerships ranged from 0.5% to 8.0%.

During 2022, the Company acquired additional interests in three partnerships which are included in
non-controlling interest. The additional interests purchased in each of the partnerships ranged from 10% to 35%.
The aggregated purchase price for these acquired interests was $0.3 million.
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During 2021, the Company acquired additional interests in five partnerships which are included in
non-controlling interest. The additional interests purchased in each of the partnerships ranged from 5% to 35%.
The aggregated purchase price for these acquired interests was $1.3 million. The Company also sold an interest
in a partnership for $0.1 million.

6. Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest

Physical Therapy Practice Acquisitions

When the Company acquires a majority interest (the “Acquisition”) in a physical therapy clinic (referred to as
“Therapy Practice”), these Therapy Practice transactions occur in a series of steps which are described below.

1. Prior to the Acquisition, the Therapy Practice exists as a separate legal entity (the “Seller Entity”’). The
Seller Entity is owned by one or more individuals (the “Selling Shareholders’’) most of whom are
physical therapists that work in the Acquired Therapy Practice and provide physical therapy services to
patients.

2. In conjunction with the Acquisition, the Seller Entity contributes the acquired Therapy Practice into a
newly-formed limited partnership (“NewCo”’), in exchange for one hundred percent (100%) of the
limited and general partnership interests in NewCo. Therefore, in this step, NewCo becomes a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Seller Entity.

3. The Company enters into an agreement (the “Purchase Agreement’) to acquire from the Seller Entity a
majority (ranges from 50% to 90%) of the limited partnership interest and inall cases 100% of the
general partnership interest in NewCo. The Company does not purchase 100% of the limited
partnership interest because the Selling Shareholders, through the Seller Entity, want to maintain an
ownership percentage. The consideration for the Acquisition is primarily payable in the form of cash at
closing and a two-year note in lieu of an escrow (the ‘‘Purchase Price”). The Purchase Agreement
usually does not contain any future earn-out or other contingent consideration that is payable to the
Seller Entity or the Selling Shareholders.

4. The Company and the Seller Entity also execute a partnership agreement (the ‘‘Partnership
Agreement’’) for NewCo that sets forth the rights and obligations of the limited and general partners of
NewCo. After the Acquisition, the Company is the general partner of NewCo.

5. As noted above, the Company does not purchase 100% of the limited partnership interests in NewCo
and the Seller Entity retains a portion of the limited partnership interest in NewCo (*“Seller Entity
Interest™).

6. In most cases, some or all of the Selling Shareholders enter into an employment agreement (the
“Employment Agreement’’) with NewCo with an initial term that ranges from three to five years (the
“Employment Term’’), with automatic one-year renewals, unless employment is terminated prior to the
end of the Employment Term. As a result, a Selling Shareholder becomes an employee (‘“Employed
Selling Shareholder’”) of NewCo. The employment of an Employed Selling Shareholder can be
terminated by the Employed Selling Shareholder or NewCo, with or without cause, at any time. In a
few situations, a Selling Shareholder does not become employed by NewCo and is not involved with
NewCo following the closing; in those situations, such Selling Shareholders sell their entire ownership
interest in the Seller Entity as of the closing of the Acquisition.

7. The compensation of each Employed Selling Shareholder is specified in the Employment Agreement
and is customary and commensurate with his or her responsibilities based on other employees in
similar capacities within NewCo, the Company and the industry.

8. The Company and the Selling Shareholder (including both Employed Selling Shareholders and Selling
Shareholders not employed by NewCo) execute a non-compete agreement (the “Non-Compete
Agreement’’) which restricts the Selling Shareholder from engaging in competing Therapy Practice
activities for a specified period of time (the “Non-Compete Term’’). A Non-Compete Agreement is
executed with the Selling Shareholders in all cases. That is, even if the Selling Shareholder does not
become an Employed Selling Shareholder, the Selling Shareholder is restricted from engaging in a
competing Therapy Practice during the Non-Compete Term.
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9. The Non-Compete Term commences as of the date of the Acquisition and expires on thelater of:

a. Two years after the date an Employed Selling Shareholders’ employment is terminated (if the
Selling Shareholder becomes an Employed Selling Shareholder) or

b. Five to six years from the date of the Acquisition, as defined in the Non-Compete Agreement,
regardless of whether the Selling Shareholder is employed by NewCo.

10. The Non-Compete Agreement applies to a restricted region which is defined as a mileage radius from
the Acquired Therapy Practice. That is, an Employed Selling Shareholder is permitted to engage in
competing Therapy Practices or activities outside the designated geography (after such Employed
Selling Shareholder no longer is employed by NewCo) and a Selling Shareholder who is not employed
by NewCo immediately is permitted to engage in the competing Therapy Practice or activities outside
the designated geography.

The Partnership Agreement contains provisions for the redemption of the Seller Entity Interest, either at the
option of the Company (the “Call Right”’) or at the option of the Seller Entity (the ‘“‘Put Right”) as follows:

1.  Put Right

a. In the event that any Selling Shareholder’s employment is terminated under certain circumstances
prior to the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, the Seller Entity thereafter may have an
irrevocable right to cause the Company to purchase from Seller Entity the Terminated Selling
Shareholder’s Allocable Percentage of Seller Entity’s Interest at the purchase price described in
“3” below.

b. In the event that any Selling Shareholder is not employed by NewCo as of the fifth anniversary of
the Closing Date and the Company has not exercised its Call Right with respect to the Terminated
Selling Shareholder’s Allocable Percentage of Seller Entity’s Interest, Seller Entity thereafter has
the Put Right to cause the Company to purchase from Seller Entity the Terminated Selling
Shareholder’s Allocable Percentage of Seller Entity’s Interest at the purchase price described in
“3” below.

c. In the event that any Selling Shareholder’s employment with NewCo is terminated for any reason
on or after the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, the Seller Entity has the Put Right, and upon
the exercise of the Put Right, the Terminated Selling Shareholder’s Allocable Percentage of Seller
Entity’s Interest shall be redeemed by the Company at the purchase price described in “3” below.

2. Call Right

a. If any Selling Shareholder’s employment by NewCo is terminated prior to the fifth anniversary of
the Closing Date, the Company thereafter has an irrevocable right to purchase from Seller Entity
the Terminated Selling Shareholder’s Allocable Percentage of Seller Entity’s Interest, in each case
at the purchase price described in “3”’ below.

b. In the event that any Selling Shareholder’s employment with NewCo is terminated for any reason
on or after the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, the Company has the Call Right, and upon
the exercise of the Call Right, the Terminated Selling Shareholder’s Allocable Percentage of Seller
Entity’s Interest shall be redeemed by the Company at the purchase price described in “3” below.

3. For the Put Right and the Call Right, the purchase price is derived from a formula based on a specified
multiple of NewCo’s trailing twelve months of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization, and the Company’s internal management fee, plus an Allocable Percentage of any
undistributed earnings of NewCo (the ‘““Redemption Amount”). NewCo’s earnings are distributed
monthly based on available cash within NewCo; therefore, the undistributed earnings amount is small,
if any.

4. The Purchase Price for the initial equity interest purchased by the Company is also based on the same
specified multiple of the trailing twelve-month earnings that is used in the Put Right and the Call Right
noted above.

5. The Put Right and the Call Right do not have an expiration date.
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6. The Put Right and the Call Right never apply to Selling Shareholders who do not become employed by
NewCo, since the Company requires that such Selling Shareholders sell their entire ownership interest
in the Seller Entity at the closing of the Acquisition.

An Employed Selling Shareholder’s ownership of his or her equity interest in the Seller Entity predates the
Acquisition and the Company’s purchase of its partnership interest in NewCo. The Employment Agreement and
the Non-Compete Agreement do not contain any provision to escrow or ‘“‘claw back’ the equity interest in the
Seller Entity held by such Employed Selling Shareholder, nor the Seller Entity Interest in NewCo, in the event of
a breach of the employment or non-compete terms. More specifically, even if the Employed Selling Shareholder
is terminated for “cause” by NewCo, such Employed Selling Shareholder does not forfeit his or her right to his
or her full equity interest in the Seller Entity and the Seller Entity does not forfeit its right to any portion of the
Seller Entity Interest. The Company’s only recourse against the Employed Selling Shareholder for breach of
either the Employment Agreement or the Non-Compete Agreement is to seek damages and other legal remedies
under such agreements. There are no conditions in any of the arrangements with an Employed Selling
Shareholder that would result in a forfeiture of the equity interest held in the Seller Entity or of the Seller Entity
Interest.

ProgressiveHealth Acquisition

On November 30, 2021, the Company acquired a majority interest in ProgressiveHealth Companies, LLC
(“Progressive’’), which owns a majority interest in certain subsidiaries (“Progressive Subsidiaries’’) that operate
in the industrial injury prevention and therapy services businesses. The Progressive transaction was completed in
a series of steps which are described below.

1. Prior to the acquisition, the Progressive Subsidiaries were owned by a legal entity (‘“‘Progressive
Parent’”) controlled by its individual owners (the “Progressive Selling Shareholders’’), who work in and
manage the Progressive business.

2. In conjunction with the acquisition, the Progressive Selling Shareholders caused the Progressive Parent
to transfer its ownership of the Progressive Subsidiaries into a newly-formed limited liability company
(“Progressive NewCo”’), in exchange for one hundred percent (100%) of the membership interests in
Progressive NewCo. Therefore, in this step, Progressive NewCo became wholly-owned by the
Progressive Selling Shareholders.

3. The Company entered into an agreement (the “Progressive Purchase Agreement’) to acquire from the
Progressive Selling Shareholders a majority of the membership interest in Progressive NewCo. The
consideration for the acquisition is primarily payable in the form of cash at closing, a relatively small
portion paid in cash after the closing contingent on certain performance criteria, and a small note in
lieu of an escrow (the ‘“Progressive Purchase Price™).

4. The Company and the Progressive Selling Shareholders also executed an operating agreement (the
“Progressive Operating Agreement’) for Progressive NewCo that sets forth the rights and obligations
of the members of Progressive NewCo.

5. As noted above, the Company did not purchase 100% of the membership interests in Progressive
NewCo and the Progressive Selling Shareholders retained a portion of the membership interest in
Progressive NewCo (“‘Progressive Selling Shareholders’ Interest™).

6. The Company and the Progressive Selling Shareholders executed a non-compete agreement (the
“Progressive Non-Compete Agreement’’) which restricts the Progressive Selling Shareholders from
competing for a specified period of time (the “Progressive Non-Compete Term”’).

7.  The Progressive Non-Compete Term commences as of the date of the closing of the Progressive
acquisition (the “Progressive Closing Date’) and expires on thelater of:

a. Two years after the date a Progressive Selling Shareholder no longer is involved in the
management of Progressive NewCo or

b. Seven years from the date of the acquisition.

8. The Progressive Non-Compete Agreement applies to the entire United States.
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9. The Progressive Put Right (as defined below) and the Progressive Call Right (as defined below) do not
have an expiration date. The Progressive Operating Agreement contains provisions for the redemption
of the Progressive Selling Shareholder’s Interest, either at the option of the Company (the ‘‘Progressive
Call Right”) or at the option of the Progressive Selling Shareholder (the ‘‘Progressive Put Right™) as
follows:

1. Progressive Put Right

a. Each of the Progressive Selling Shareholders has the right to sell 30% of their respective
residual interests on each of the 4th and 5th anniversaries of the Progressive Closing Date,
and then 10% on each of the 6th and 7th anniversaries

b. In the event that any Progressive Selling Shareholder terminates his management relationship
with Progressive NewCo for any reason on or after the seventh anniversary of the Closing
Date, the Progressive Selling Shareholder has the Progressive Put Right, and upon the
exercise of the Progressive Put Right, the Progressive Selling Shareholder’s Interest shall be
redeemed by the Company at the purchase price described in “3” below.

2. Progressive Call Right

a. If any Progressive Selling Shareholder’s ceases to perform management services on behalf of
Progressive NewCo, the Company thereafter shall have an irrevocable right to purchase from
such Progressive Selling Shareholder his Interest, in each case at the purchase price described
in “3” below.

3. For the Progressive Put Right and the Progressive Call Right, the purchase price is derived from a
formula based on a specified multiple of Progressive NewCo’s trailing twelve months of earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, and the Company’s internal management fee, plus
an Allocable Percentage of any undistributed earnings of Progressive NewCo (the ‘‘Progressive
Redemption Amount”). Progressive NewCo’s earnings are distributed monthly based on available
cash within Progressive NewCo; therefore, the undistributed earnings amount is small, if any.

4. The Progressive Purchase Price for the initial equity interest purchased by the Company is also
based on the same specified multiple of the trailing twelve-month earnings that is used in the
Progressive Put Right and the Progressive Call Right noted above.

5. The Progressive Put Right and the Progressive Call Right do not have an expiration date.

Neither the Progressive Operating Agreement nor the Progressive Non-Compete Agreement contain any
provision to escrow or ‘“‘claw back™ the equity interest in Progressive NewCo held by the Progressive Selling
Shareholders, in the event of a breach of the operating agreement or non-compete terms, or the management
services agreement pursuant to which the Progressive Selling Shareholders perform services on behalf of
Progressive NewCo. The Company’s only recourse against the Progressive Selling Shareholder for breach of any
of these agreements is to seek damages and other legal remedies under such agreements. There are no conditions
in any of the arrangements with a Progressive Selling Shareholder that would result in a forfeiture of the equity
interest in Progressive NewCo held by a Progressive Selling Shareholder.

For both scenarios described above, an employed Progressive Selling Shareholder’s ownership of his or her
equity interest in the Seller Entity predates the Progressive Acquisition and the Company’s purchase of its
partnership interest in NewCo. The Employment Agreement and the Non-Compete Agreement do not contain any
provision to escrow or ‘“‘claw back™ the equity interest in the Seller Entity held by such Employed Selling
Shareholder, nor the Seller Entity Interest in NewCo, in the event of a breach of the employment or non-compete
terms. More specifically, even if the Employed Selling Shareholder is terminated for “cause” by NewCo, such
Employed Selling Shareholder does not forfeit his or her right to his or her full equity interest in the Seller
Entity and the Seller Entity does not forfeit its right to any portion of the Seller Entity Interest. The Company’s
only recourse against the Employed Selling Shareholder for breach of either the Employment Agreement or the
Non-Compete Agreement is to seek damages and other legal remedies under such agreements. There are no
conditions in any of the arrangements with an Employed Selling Shareholder that would result in a forfeiture of
the equity interest held in the Seller Entity or of the Seller Entity Interest.
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Carrying Amounts of Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests
For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the following table details the changes in the

carrying amount (fair value) of the redeemable non-controlling interests.

For the Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(In thousands)

Beginning balance . ... ...ttt $167,515 $155,262 $132,340
Net income allocated to redeemable non-controlling interest. . ....... 4,426 6,902 11,358
Distributions to redeemable non-controlling interest partners. .. ...... (11,533) (10,102) (11,359)
Changes in the fair value of redeemable non-controlling interest . . ... 13,565 3,862 13,011
Purchases of redeemable non-controlling interest . ................. (12,073) (16,061) (30,204)
Acquired INtErest . . .. oot 11,007 26,746 39,862
Contributed capital ......... .. .. .. .. . — 231 —
Sales of redeemable non-controlling interest...................... 5,012 1,982 982
Changes in notes receivable related to redeemable non-controlling

11 ) (2] A O (3,091) (1,901) 914)
Adjustments in notes receivables related to the sales of redeemable

non-controlling interest . . .......... ...t — 594 186
Ending balance ............. it $174,828 $167,515 $155,262

The following table categorizes the carrying amount (fair value) of the redeemable non-controlling interests.

As of the Year Ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021

(In thousands)

Contractual time period has lapsed but holder’s employment has not

EErMINALEd . . o vt e e e e e $ 96,876 $ 75,688 $ 80,781
Contractual time period has not lapsed and holder’s employment has not

terminated . .. ... e 77,952 91,827 74,481
Holder’s employment has terminated and contractual time period has

CXPITEd . o . o — — —

Holder’s employment has terminated and contractual time period has not
CXPITEd . o .o — — —

$174,828 $167,515 $155,262

7. Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill consisted of the following.

For the Year Ended
December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
(In thousands)
Beginning balance ... ... $494,101 $434.,679
ACQUISIEIONS « . o . ottt e 28,083 72,674
Adjustments for purchase price allocation of businesses acquired in prior year . . . 3,187 (4,140)
Impairment of goodwill. .. ... ... . . . . . (15,800) (9,112)
Ending balance. ... ... $509,571 $494.101
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During the years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a charge for
goodwill impairment of $15.8 million and $9.1 million respectively, related to an IIP Acquisition. The
impairment is related to a change in an IIP subsidiary’s current and projected operating income as well as various
market inputs based on current market conditions.

8. Intangible Assets, net

The Company’s intangible assets, net, consisted of the following.

As of the Year Ended

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Gross Accumulated Net Carrying Gross Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount  Amortization Amount Amount  Amortization Amount
(In thousands)
Customer and referral relationships. . . . . $ 93,658 $(30,414) $ 63,244 $ 86,974 $(23,736) $ 63,238
Tradenames........................ 44,573 — 44,573 43,373 — 43,373
Non-compete agreements . . ........... 9,459 (7,594) 1,865 9,143 (6,999) 2,144

$147,690 $(38,008) $109,682 $139.490 $(30,735) $108,755

Tradenames, customer and referral relationships and non-compete agreements are related to the businesses
acquired. The value assigned to tradenames has an indefinite life and is tested at least annually for impairment
using the relief from royalty method in conjunction with the Company’s annual goodwill impairment test. The
value assigned to customer and referral relationships is being amortized over their respective estimated useful
lives which range from 6 to 14 years. Non-compete agreements are amortized over the respective term of the
agreements which range from 5 to 6 years. The weighted average amortization period for customer and referral
relationships was 12.7 years for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 12.9 years for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The weighted average amortization period for non-compete agreements was 5.6 years for the
years ended December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the
Company recognized a charge of $1.7 million related to the impairment of a tradename related to an IIP
acquisition.

The following table details the amount of amortization expense recorded for intangible assets for the periods
presented.

For the Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(In thousands)
Customer and referral relationships . ............. .. ... ... ...... $6,678 $5,974 $3,240
Non-compete agreements . . .. ... ..vuu et et e en e 595 549 458
$7,273 $6,523 $3,698

The remaining balances of the customer and referral relationships and non-compete agreements are expected
to be amortized as follows.

Customer and Non-Compete
For the Year Ended December 31, Referral Relationships Agreements
(In thousands)
2024 . $ 6,967 $599
202 6,823 533
2020 . o e 6,356 393
2027 6,192 232
2028 . 5,923 102
Thereafter . ... ... ... . . . $30,983 $ 6
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9. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following.

Salaries and related costs. .. .................
Credit balances due to patients and payors. . . .. .
Group health insurance claims. . ..............
Federal income taxes payable ................
Contingency payable .......................
Other property taxes payable.................
Interest payable. . .......... ... ... ... .....
CloSUIe COSES. . vt v et

10. Borrowings

As of the Year Ended

December 31,

December 31,

2023 2022
(In thousands)

...................... $25,641 $22,912
...................... 8,847 8,094
...................... 2,301 1,666
...................... 1,006 —
...................... 12,285 620
...................... 355 277
...................... 235 273
...................... 231 243
...................... 4,443 3,328

$55,344 $37,413

Amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement (as defined above) and notes payable consisted of the

following.
As of the Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Principal Unamortized Debt Principal Unamortized Debt
Amount Issuance Cost Net Debt Amount Issuance Cost Net Debt
(In thousands)
Term Facility . ................. $144,375 $(1,468) $142,907 $148,125 $(1,861) $146,264
Revolving Facilitiy .. ........... — — — 31,000 — 31,000
Other™ ... ... ............... 3,775 — 3,775 6,430 — 6,430
Total debt. .................... 148,150 (1,468) 146,682 185,555 (1,861) 183,694
Less: Current portion of long-term
debt ......... ... ... ... 8,111 (420) 7,691 8,271 (408) 7,863
Long-term debt, net of current
portion ... ...... ..., $140,039 $(1,048) $138,991 $177,284 $(1,453) $175,831

(1)  The long-term portion is included as part of Other Long-Term Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Effective December 5, 2013, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with a
commitment for a $125.0 million revolving credit facility. This agreement was amended and/or restated in
August 2015, January 2016, March 2017, November 2017, and January 2021. On June 17, 2022, the Company
entered into the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the ““Credit Agreement”) among Bank of
America, N.A., as administrative agent (‘“Administrative Agent’”) and the lenders from time-to-time party thereto.

The Credit Agreement, which matures on June 17, 2027, provides for loans in an aggregate principal
amount of $325 million. Such loans were made available through the following facilities (collectively, the

“Senior Credit Facilities™):

1) Revolving Facility: $175 million, five-year, revolving credit facility (‘“Revolving Facility”’), which
includes a $12 million sublimit for the issuance of standby letters of credit and a $15 million sublimit
for swingline loans (each, a “Swingline Loan™).

2) Term Facility: $150 million term loan facility (the ‘““Term Facility’’). The Term Facility amortizes in
quarterly installments of: (a) 0.625% in each of the first two years, (b) 1.250% in the third and
fourth year, and (c) 1.875% in the fifth year of the Credit Agreement. The remaining outstanding
principal balance of all term loans is due on the maturity date.
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The proceeds of the Revolving Facility shall be used by the Company for working capital and other general
corporate purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries, including to fund future acquisitions and invest in
growth opportunities. The proceeds of the Term Facility were used by the Company to refinance the indebtedness
outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement, to pay fees and expenses incurred in connection with the
transactions involving the loan facilities, for working capital and other general corporate purposes of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

The Company is permitted to increase the Revolving Facility and/or add one or more tranches of term loans
in an aggregate amount not to exceed the sum of (i) $100 million plus (ii) an unlimited additional amount,
provided that (in the case of clause (ii)), after giving effect to such increases, the pro forma Consolidated
Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) would not exceed 2.0:1.0, and the aggregate amount of all
incremental increases under the Revolving Facility does not exceed $50,000,000.

The interest rates per annum applicable to the Senior Credit Facilities (other than in respect of Swingline
Loans) will be Term SOFR (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus an applicable margin or, at the option of
the Company, an alternate base rate plus an applicable margin. Each Swingline Loan shall bear interest at the
base rate plus the applicable margin. The applicable margin for Term SOFR borrowings ranges from 1.50% to
2.25%, and the applicable margin for alternate base rate borrowings ranges from 0.50% to 1.25%, in each case,
based on the Consolidated Leverage Ratio of the Company and its subsidiaries. Interest is payable at the end of
the selected interest period but no less frequently than quarterly and on the date of maturity.

The Company is also required to pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of each lender under the
Revolving Facility, a commitment fee equal to the actual daily excess of each lender’s commitment over its
outstanding credit exposure under the Revolving Facility (“‘unused fee’”). Such unused fee will range between
0.25% and 0.35% per annum and is also based on the Consolidated Leverage Ratio of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Company may prepay and/or repay the revolving loans and the term loans, and/or terminate the
revolving loan commitments, in whole or in part, at any time without premium or penalty, subject to certain
conditions.

The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants limiting, among other things, the incurrence of
additional indebtedness, the creation of liens, mergers, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions, sales of
assets, dividends and other payments in respect of equity interests, acquisitions, investments, loans and
guarantees, subject, in each case, to customary exceptions, thresholds and baskets. The Credit Agreement
includes certain financial covenants which include the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, and the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement also contains customary
events of default.

The Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by its wholly-owned material
domestic subsidiaries (each, a “Guarantor’’), and the obligations of the Company and any Guarantors are secured
by a perfected first priority security interest in substantially all of the existing and future personal property of the
Company and each Guarantor, subject to certain exceptions.

As of December 31, 2023, $144.4 million was outstanding on the Term Facility while none was outstanding
under the Revolving Facility resulting in $175.0 million of credit availability. As of December 31, 2023, the
Company was in compliance with all of the covenants contained in the Credit Agreement.

The Company generally enters into various notes payable as a means of financing a portion of its
acquisitions and purchasing of non- controlling interests. In conjunction with these transactions in 2023 and
2022, the Company entered into notes payable in the aggregate amount of $4.7 million of which an aggregate
principal payment of $0.9 million was paid in 2023, $2.5 million is due in 2024, and $1.3 million is due in 2025.
Interest accrues in the range of 3.25% to 7.0% per annum and is payable with each principal installment.

11. Derivative Instruments

The Company is exposed to certain market risks during the ordinary course of business due to adverse
changes in interest rates. The exposure to interest rate risk primarily results from the Company’s variable-rate
borrowing. The Company may elect to use derivative financial instruments to manage risks from fluctuations in
interest rates. The Company does not purchase or hold derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.
Fluctuations in interest rates can be volatile and the Company’s risk management activities do not eliminate these
risks.
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Interest Rate Swap

In May 2022, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement, effective on June 30, 2022, with
Bank of America, N.A. The swap has a $150 million notional value adjusted concurrently with scheduled
principal payments made on the term loan. The swap has a maturity date of June 30, 2027. Beginning in
July 2022, the Company receives a 1-month SOFR, and pays a fixed rate of interest of 2.815% on 1-month
SOFR on a quarterly basis. The total interest rate in any period will also include an applicable margin based on
the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio.

In connection with the swap, no cash was exchanged between the Company and the counterparty.

The Company designated its interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge and structured it to be highly effective.
Consequently, unrealized gains and losses related to the fair value of the interest rate swap are recorded to
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax.

Savings from the interest rate swap arrangement totaled $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023,
and less than $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. These savings reduce the amount of interest
expense, debt and other in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

The impacts of the Company’s derivative instruments on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income are presented in the table below.

For the Year Ended
December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
(In thousands)

NEtINCOME. . . . oottt e e e e e e e e e $37,220 $ 43,407
Other comprehensive (loss) gain

Unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedge. . ......... ... .. ... ... ... .... (1,642) 5,378
Tax effect at statutory rate (federal and state) .. ............. ... .. ... ...... 420 (1,374)
Comprehensive iNCOME . . . . ..ottt ettt e ettt e e e $35,998 $ 47,411
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest ................ (8,981) (11,249)
Comprehensive income attributable to USPH shareholders. . .................. 27,017 36,162

The valuations of the Company’s interest rate derivatives are measured as the present value of all expected
future cash flows based on SOFR-based yield curves. The present value calculation uses discount rates that have
been adjusted to reflect the credit quality of the Company and its counterparty, which is a Level 2 fair value
measurement.

The carrying and fair value of the Company’s interest rate derivatives (included in other current assets and
other assets) were as follows:

As of the Year Ended
December 31, December 31,

2023 2022
(In thousands)
Other CUITENE ASSELS . . o o v vttt e e e e e e e e e e e e $2.663 $2.858
Other @SSELS . .. ...ttt e e e $1,073 $2,520
3,736 5,378

12. Leases

The Company has operating leases for its corporate offices and operating facilities. The Company
determines if an arrangement is a lease at the inception of a contract. Right-of-use assets represent the
Company’s right to use an underlying asset during the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent net
present value of the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets and
operating lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the net present value of the fixed lease
payments over the lease term. The Company’s operating lease terms are generally five years or less. The
Company’s lease terms include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the
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option will be exercised. As most of the Company’s operating leases do not provide an implicit rate, the
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in
determining the present value of lease payments. Operating fixed lease expense is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Variable lease payment amounts that cannot be determined at the commencement of
the lease such as increases in lease payments based on changes in index rates or usage are not included in the
right-of-use assets or operating lease liabilities. These are expensed as incurred and recorded as variable lease
expense.

The components of lease expense were as follows.

For the Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(In thousands)
Operating 1ease COoSt . . ..ot n ittt $38,559 $35,154 $32,021
Short-term lease COSt .. ...t 1,353 1,049 1,160
Variable lease COSt . ... ... .. 8,912 6,287 7,057
Total 18aSe COSEF . . o\ ottt e e e e e $48.824 $42.490 $40,238

* Sublease income was immaterial.

Lease costs are reflected in the consolidated statements of net income in the line item — rent, supplies,
contract labor and other.

The supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows.

For the Year Ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021

(In thousands)

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating

lease liabilities . ........... ... . i $39,813 $36,136 $33,192
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease
liabilities . . ..o $36,264 $40,502 $46,088

The aggregate future lease payments for operating leases as of December 31, 2023, were as follows.

Amount

Fiscal Year (In thousands)
2024 $ 38,809
202 30,628
2026 . . 22,845
202 15,275
2028 and thereafter . .. ... 13,174
Total lease PAYMENLS . . . ... ..ottt e $120,731
Less: imputed INterest . . ... ... it e 8,826
Total operating lease liabilities . . ... ... ... i $111,905

Average lease terms and discount rates were as follows:

As of the Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Weighted-average remaining lease term ................. 3.9 years 4.1 Years 4.2 Years

Weighted-average discount rate ........................ 4.0% 2.9% 2.8%
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13. Income Taxes

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities included in the consolidated balance sheets as of
the periods below were as follows.

As of the Year Ended

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022

(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

COMPENSALION. . .\ .\ v\ vttt ettt ettt e $ 1,680 $ 1,464
Allowance for credit 10SSeS . .. ... ...t 574 605
Lease obligations - including closed clinics. . .......... ... ... ... 28,592 28,525
Deferred tax asSetS. . ... .ottt $ 30,846 $ 30,594
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization. . .. ...ttt $(27,290) $(23,836)
Operating lease right-of-use assets .. ............. i, (26,427) (26,318)
Gain on cash flow hedge. .. ...... .. . . (955) (1,373)
Change in revaluation of put-right liability ............ ... .. ... ... ... (586) —
Other. . . (403) (370)
Deferred tax LHabilities . . . .. .. (55,661) (51,897)
Net deferred tax liabilities. . .. ......... .0 i e $(24,815) $(21,303)

The deferred tax assets and liabilities related to purchased interests not yet finalized may result in an
immaterial adjustment.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has a federal tax payable of $1.0 million and state tax receivables
of $2.1 million. The federal and state income tax receivable is included in other current assets on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The differences between the federal tax rate and the Company’s effective tax rate for the years ended
December 31, were as follows for the periods presented:

For the Year Ended

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2022 2021
(In Thousands)
U. S. tax at statutory rate ................oouennenn... $ 8,483 21.0% $ 9,307 21.0% $11,782 21.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit .............. 2,135 53% 2,079 47% 2,478 4.4%
Shortfall (excess) equity compensation deduction. . ... ... 123 0.3% 149 0.3% (246) -0.4%
Non-deductible eXpenses. . ... ....c.c.vuuenenennenen . 710 1.8% 629 14% 1,258 2.2%
Return to provision adjustments. . .................... 705 1.7% —  0.0% — _0.0%

$12,156  30.1% $12,164 27.4% $15272 27.2%

Significant components of the provision for income taxes were as follows for the periods presented.

For the Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(In Thousands)
Current:
Federal .. ... $6,996 $(770) $7,477
) 721 512 518 2,107
Total CUITENt . . . . .t 7,508 (252) 9,584
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For the Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(In Thousands)
Deferred:
Federal .. ... ... 3,819 9,933 4,866
Al . oottt 829 2,483 822
Total deferred . . ... ... 4,648 12,416 5,688
Total iNCOME taX PrOVASION . . ..\ oo oo e et e e oo e e e e e e $12,156 $12.164 $15,272

Each year, the Company performs a detailed reconciliation of its federal and state taxes payable and
receivable accounts along with its federal and state deferred tax asset and liability accounts. This process resulted
in a $1.0 million increase in income tax expense in 2023. The Company considers this reconciliation process to
be an annual control.

The Company is required to establish a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if, based on the weight
of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the projected
future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon the level of historical
taxable income and projections for future taxable income in the periods which the deferred tax assets are
deductible, management believes that a valuation allowance is not required, as it is more likely than not that the
results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the deferred tax assets.

The Company’s U.S. federal returns remain open to examination for 2020 through 2022 and U.S. state
jurisdictions are open for periods ranging from 2019 through 2022.

The Company does not believe that it has any significant uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, nor is this expected to change within the next twelve months due to the settlement and
expiration of statutes of limitation.

The Company did not have any accrued interest or penalties associated with any unrecognized tax benefits
nor was any interest expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

14. Segment Information

The Company’s reportable segments include the physical therapy operations segment and the IIP segment.
Also included in the physical therapy operations segment are revenues from management contract services and
other services which include services the Company provides on-site, such as athletic trainers for schools.

Physical Therapy Operations

The physical therapy operations segment primarily operates through subsidiary clinic partnerships (*“Clinic
Partnerships™), in which the Company generally owns a 1% general partnership interest in all the Clinic
Partnerships. The Company’s limited partnership interests generally range from 65% to 75% (the range is 10% -
99%) in the Clinic Partnerships. The managing therapist of each clinic owns, directly or indirectly, the remaining
limited partnership interest in most of the clinics (hereinafter referred to as “Clinic Partnerships™). To a lesser
extent, the Company operates some clinics, through wholly-owned subsidiaries, under profit sharing arrangements
with therapists (hereinafter referred to as “Wholly-Owned Facilities™).

The Company continues to seek to attract for employment physical therapists who have established
relationships with physicians and other referral sources, by offering these therapists a competitive salary and
incentives based on the profitability of the clinic that they manage. For multi-site clinic practices in which a
controlling interest is acquired by the Company, the prior owners typically continue on as employees to manage
the clinic operations, retain a non-controlling ownership interest in the clinics and receive a competitive salary
for managing the clinic operations. In addition, the Company has developed satellite clinic facilities as part of
existing Clinic Partnerships and Wholly-Owned Facilities, with the result that a substantial number of Clinic
Partnerships and Wholly-Owned Facilities operate more than one clinic location.
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Besides the multi-clinic acquisitions referenced in the table above, during 2023 and 2022, we purchased the
assets and businesses of nine and three physical therapy clinics, respectively, in separate transactions.

Clinic Partnerships

For non-acquired Clinic Partnerships, the earnings and liabilities attributable to the non-controlling interests,
typically owned by the managing therapist, directly or indirectly, are recorded within the balance sheets and
income statements as non-controlling interest—permanent equity. For acquired Clinic Partnerships with
redeemable non-controlling interests, the earnings attributable to the redeemable non-controlling interests are
recorded within the consolidated balance sheets and income statements as redeemable non-controlling
interest—temporary equity.

Wholly-Owned Facilities

For Wholly-Owned Facilities with profit sharing arrangements, an appropriate accrual is recorded for the
amount of profit sharing due the clinic partners/directors. The amount is expensed as compensation and included
in clinic operating costs—salaries and related costs. The respective liability is included in current
liabilities—accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets.

Industrial Injury Prevention Services

Services provided in the IIP segment include onsite injury prevention and rehabilitation, performance
optimization, post offer employment testing, functional capacity evaluations, and ergonomic assessments. The
majority of these services are contracted with and paid for directly by employers, including a number of Fortune
500 companies. Other clients include large insurers and their contractors. The Company performs these services
through Industrial Sports Medicine Professionals, consisting primarily of specialized certified athletic trainers
(“ATCs”).

On October 31, 2023, the Company purchased a 100% interest in an IIP business and a 55% equity interest
in an ergonomics software business for a total purchase price of approximately $4.0 million.
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Segment Financials

The Company evaluates the performance of the segments based on gross profit. The Company has provided
additional information regarding its reportable segments which contributes to the understanding of the Company
and provides useful information.

The following table summarizes selected financial data for the Company’s reportable segments. Prior year
results presented herein have been changed to conform to the current presentation.

For the Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
(In thousands)

Net revenue:

Physical therapy operations. .. ... ... .......oouuiuniiniinninninnennenn.. $526,548 $476,092 $451,122
Industrial injury prevention ServiCeS. . . .. ... ..v.vu e e en e ennenen .. 78,254 77,052 43,900
Total COMPANY. . . . oottt et et e e e $604,802 $553,144 $495,022

Operating Costs:
Salaries and related costs:

Physical therapy operations. .. ... ..........oouuiiniin i einnennenn . $302,765 $272,360 $251,256
Industrial injury prevention SErviCes . ................c.c.venininnenen... 50,625 46,831 27,213
Total salaries and related COSES . . ..o vt vt e e e e e e $353,390 $319,191 $278,469

Rent supplies, contract labor and other:

Physical therapy operations. .. ... ..........ouuiiniin i ninnennenn.. $112,547 $102,114 $ 88,073
Industrial injury prevention ServiCes. .. ..............oueuiininennnnen... 11,184 14,267 5,993
Total rent, supplies, contract labor and other............................. $123,731 $116,381 $ 94,066
Provision for credit losses:
Physical therapy operations. .. ... ..........ouuiiniineinnnninnennenn.. $ 6,129 $ 5517 $ 5,249
Industrial injury prevention ServiCes. .. .............c.ouvuvininennnnen... 43 31 56
Total provision for credit 10SS€S ... .......oo ittt $ 6,172 $ 5548 $ 5,305
Total COMPANY. . . . ottt et e e e e e e $483,293 $441,120 $377,840
Gross profit:
Physical therapy operations. .. ... .........oouuiiniin e $105,064 $ 96,057 $106,488
Industrial injury prevention ServiCes. .. ..............ouvuiininennenen... 16,445 15,967 10,694
Total COMPANY . . .o\ttt ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e $121,509 $112,024 $117,182
Total Assets:
Physical therapy operations. .. ...........ouueiiieeiineiieeinnennn.. $857,274 $708,662 $587,801
Industrial injury prevention ServiCeS. . . ... ....vuvuven e ennen e ennenen .. 139,964 149,492 161,625
Total COMPANY. . . .ottt et e e e e e $997,238 $858,154 $749,426
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15. Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliate

Through one of its subsidiaries, the Company has a 49% joint venture interest in a company which provides
physical therapy services for patients at hospitals. The Company is deemed to not have a controlling interest in
the company, and therefore the Company’s investment is accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
The investment balance of this joint venture as of December 31, 2023, is $12.3 million and the earnings
amounted to approximately $1.0 million. The investment balance of this joint venture as of December 31, 2022,
was $12.1 million and the earnings amounted to approximately $1.2 million.

16. Equity Based Plans

Stock-based compensation expense was approximately $7.2 million, $7.3 million, and $7.8 million for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the remaining
$9.8 million of compensation expense will be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.75 years.

Stock Incentive Plans
Amended and Restated 1999 Employee Stock Option Plan

The Amended and Restated 1999 Employee Stock Option Plan (the “Amended 1999 Plan”’) permits the
Company to grant to non-employee directors and employees of the Company up to 600,000 non-qualified options
to purchase shares of common stock and restricted stock (subject to proportionate adjustments in the event of
stock dividends, splits, and similar corporate transactions). The exercise prices of options granted under the
Amended 1999 Plan are determined by the Compensation Committee. The period within which each option will
be exercisable is determined by the Compensation Committee. As of December 31, 2023, there were less than
0.1 million shares remaining that can be subject to new awards under the Amended 1999 Plan.

Amended and Restated 2003 Stock Option Plan

The Amended and Restated 2003 Stock Option Plan (the “Amended 2003 Plan’’) permits the Company to
grant to key employees and outside directors of the Company incentive and non-qualified options and shares of
restricted stock covering up to 2,600,000 shares of common stock (subject to proportionate adjustments in the
event of stock dividends, splits, and similar corporate transactions). As of December 31, 2023, there were
0.5 million shares remaining that can be subject to new awards under the Amended 2003 Plan.

Restricted Stock Awards

During 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company granted the following shares of restricted stock to directors,
officers, and employees pursuant to its equity plans as follows:

Weighted Average Fair

Year Granted Number of Shares Value Per Share
2023 73,384 $102.79
202 95,316 $100.08
202 L 60,317 $131.29

During 2023, 2022 and 2021, the following shares were cancelled due to employee terminations prior to
restrictions lapsing:

Weighted Average Fair

Year Cancelled Number of Shares Value Per Share
2023 4,086 $103.99
202 5,180 $109.42
2020 439 $113.80

Generally, restrictions on the stock granted to employees lapse in equal annual installments on the following
four anniversaries of the date of grant. For those shares granted to directors, the restrictions will lapse in equal
quarterly installments during the first year after the date of grant. For those granted to officers, the restriction
will lapse in equal quarterly installments during the four years following the date of grant.
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There were 124,638 and 124,939 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022,
respectively, for which restrictions had not lapsed. The restrictions will lapse from 2024 through 2027.

17. Preferred and Common Stock
Preferred Stock

The Board is empowered, without approval of the shareholders, to cause shares of preferred stock to be
issued in one or more series and to establish the number of shares to be included in each such series and the
rights, powers, preferences, and limitations of each series. There are no provisions in the Company’s Articles of
Incorporation specifying the vote required by the holders of preferred stock to take action. All such provisions
would be set out in the designation of any series of preferred stock established by the Board. The bylaws of the
Company specify that, when a quorum is present at any meeting, the vote of the holders of at least a majority of
the outstanding shares entitled to vote who are present, in person or by proxy, shall decide any question brought
before the meeting, unless a different vote is required by law or the Company’s Articles of Incorporation.

Because the Board has the power to establish the preferences and rights of each series, it may afford the
holders of any series of preferred stock, preferences, powers, and rights, voting or otherwise, senior to the right
of holders of common stock. The issuance of the preferred stock could have the effect of delaying or preventing
a change in control of the Company.

Common Stock

From September 2001 through December 31, 2008, the Board authorized the Company to purchase, in the
open market or in privately negotiated transactions, up to 2,250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. In
March 2009, the Board authorized the repurchase of up to 10% or approximately 1,200,000 shares of its common
stock (“March 2009 Authorization™). Under the March 2009 Authorization, the Company has purchased a total
of 859,499 shares. The Company is required to retire shares purchased under the March 2009 Authorization.

In November 2023, the Board terminated the March 2009 Authorization such that any such proposed
repurchase of our common stock would be considered and determined by the Board at such time. The Company
did not purchase any shares of its common stock during 2023, 2022 or 2021.

In May 2023, the Company completed a secondary offering of 1,916,667 shares of its common stock at an
offering price of $90.00 per share. Upon completion of the offering, the Company received net proceeds of
approximately $163.6 million, after deducting an underwriting discount of $8.6 million and recognizing related
fees and expenses of $0.2 million. A portion of the net proceeds was used to repay the $35.0 million then
outstanding under the Company’s credit facility while the remainder is expected to be used primarily for
additional acquisitions.

18. Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has several 401(k) profit sharing plans covering all employees with three months of service.
For certain plans, the Company makes matching contributions. The Company may also make discretionary
contributions of up to 50% of employee contributions. The Company did not make any discretionary
contributions for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.The Company matching contributions
totaled $2.2 million, $2.0 million and $1.9 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021.

19. Contingencies

The Company is a party to various legal actions, proceedings, and claims (some of which are not insured),
and regulatory and other governmental audits and investigations in the ordinary course of our business.

Prior Florida Legal Matter

In 2019, a qui tam lawsuit (“‘the Complaint™) was filed by a relator on behalf of the United States against
the Company and one of our Florida majority-owned subsidiaries (the ‘“Hale Partnership’’). This whistleblower
lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Texas, seeking damages and civil
penalties under the federal False Claim Act. The U.S Government declined to intervene in the case and unsealed
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the Complaint in July 2019. The Complaint alleged that the Hale Partnership engaged in conduct to purposely
“upcode” its billings for services provided to Medicare patients. The plaintiff-relator also claimed that similar
false claims occurred on other days and at other Company-owned partnerships.

In January 2022, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the plaintiff-relator. In the
settlement agreement, the plaintiff-relator released all defendants from liability for all conduct alleged in the
Complaint, and the Company admitted no liability or wrongdoing. In connection with the settlement, the Office
of the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Texas agreed to a dismissal of the claims against the
Hale Partnership and the Company. Under the terms of the settlement, the Company agreed to make aggregate
payments to the government, the plaintiff-relator and her counsel of $2.8 million.

20. Related Party Transactions

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded approximately $20,000 related to the short
swing profit settlement remitted by a shareholder of the Company under Section 16(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Company recognized the proceeds as an increase to additional
paid-in-capital in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021, and consolidated statements of
stockholder’s equity, as well as in cash provided by financing activities included in Other, in the consolidated
statements of cash flows, for the year ended December 31, 2021.

21. Subsequent Event

On February 27, 2024, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.44 per share which will
be paid on April 5, 2024 to shareholders of record as of March 12, 2024.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e)
promulgated under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the fiscal period covered by this report. Based upon that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures are effective in ensuring that the information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods
specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. and
subsidiaries’ (the “Company”’) internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

e  Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

e  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts
and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management
and directors; and

e  Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting
objectives because of its inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves
human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human
failures. Internal control over financial reporting can also be circumvented by collusion or improper management
override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. However, these
inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into
the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, the risk. Management conducted an assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. In making this assessment,
management used the criteria described in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report included on page 50.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2023, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
Not applicable.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICATIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTION
Not applicable.

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required in response to this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive
proxy statement relating to our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A, not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year covered by this report.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required in response to this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive
proxy statement relating to our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A, not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year covered by this report.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMEMNT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required in response to this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive
proxy statement relating to our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A, not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year covered by this report.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required in response to this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive
proxy statement relating to our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14 A, not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year covered by this report.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required in response to this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive
proxy statement relating to our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14 A, not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year covered by this report.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Documents filed as a part of this report:

1.

Financial Statements Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statements and Related Information
under Item 8 in Part II hereof, where these documents are listed.

Financial Statement Schedules See page 94 for Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. All
other schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or
because the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

Exhibits The exhibits listed in List of Exhibits on the next page are filed or incorporated by reference
as part of this report.
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Number

EXHIBIT INDEX
LIST OF EXHIBITS

Description

1.1

3.1

32

33

4.1%

10.1+

10.2+

10.3+

10.4+

10.5+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8+

10.9+

10.10+

Underwriting Agreement, dated May 24, 2023, by and between U.S. Physical Therapy, and BofA
Securities, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC., as representatives of the several underwriters named
therein. [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on May 25, 2023.]

Articles of Incorporation of the Company [filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended June 30, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference].

Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of the Company [filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference].

Bylaws of the Company, as amended [filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-KSB for the year
ended December 31, 1993 and incorporated herein by reference—Commission File Number—1-11151].

Description of Company Securities [filed herewith the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019 filed with the SEC on February 28, 2020.]

1999 Employee Stock Option Plan (as amended and restated May 20, 2008) [incorporated by reference
to Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on
April 17, 2008].

U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, (as amended and restated effective March 26,
2016) [incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement
on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on April 7, 2016.]

First Amendment to U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, (as amended and restated
effective March 26, 2016) effective on March 1, 2022 [incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A
to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on April 4, 2022.]

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 16, 2016].

Objective Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Management [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2019.]

Discretionary Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Management [incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 8§, 2019.]

Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Christopher
J. Reading dated effective May 21, 2019 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 22, 2019]

Amended & Restated Employment Agreement commencing by and between the Company and Graham
Reeve dated effective May 21, 2019 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 22, 2019]

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 22, 2019]

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Objective Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Management for 2020,

effective March 3, 2020 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 6, 2020].
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Number

Description

10.11+

10.12+

10.13+

10.14+

10.15+

10.16+

10.17+

10.18+

10.19+

10.20+

10.21+

10.22+

10.23+

Amendment to Employment Agreement entered into as of March 26, 2020 by and between the
Company and Christopher Reading [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 26, 2020].

Amendment to Employment Agreement entered into as of March 26, 2020 by and between the
Company and Graham Reeve [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 26, 2020].

Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Eric Williams entered into on December 3,
2020 and commencing as of July 1, 2021 [filed by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 7, 2020.]

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Objective Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Management for 2021,
effective March 17, 2021 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. on March 16, 2021]

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Discretionary Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Management for 2021,
effective March 17, 2021 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. on March 16, 2021]

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of June 17, 2022 among the Company, as the
borrower, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Regions Capital Markets as
Syndication Agent, BofA Securities Inc. and Regions Capital Markets as Joint Load Arrangers, BofA
Securities Inc., as Sole Bookrunner and the lenders named therein. [incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on June 21, 2022]

Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Rick Binstein entered into on March 23,
2022 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on March 23, 2022]

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Objective Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Management for 2022,
effective March 14, 2022 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. on March 14, 2022]

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Discretionary Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Management for 2022,
effective March 14, 2022 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. on March 14, 2022]

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Objective Cash/RSA Bonus Plan for Senior Management for 2022,
effective March 14, 2022 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. on March 14, 2022]

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Discretionary Cash/RSA Bonus Plan for Senior Management for 2022,
effective March 14, 2022 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. on March 14, 2022]

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Objective Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Management for 2023,
effective March 2, 2023 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. on March 8, 2023]

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Discretionary Long-Term Incentive Plan for Senior Management for 2023,

effective March 2, 2023 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. on March 8, 2023]
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Number

Description

10.24+

10.25+

10.26+

21.1%

23.1%

31.1%

31.2%

32.1%

97.1%

101.INS*

101.SCH*

101.CAL*

101.DEF*

101.LAB*

101.PRE*

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Objective Cash/RSA Bonus Plan for Senior Management for 2023,
effective March 2, 2023 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. on March 8, 2023]

U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. Discretionary Cash/RSA Bonus Plan for Senior Management for 2023,
effective March 2, 2023 [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 of the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. on March 8, 2023]

Employment Agreement entered into as of November 9, 2020 by and between U.S. Physical Therapy
and Carey Hendrickson [incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 23, 2020.]

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—Grant Thornton LLP

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended

Certification of Periodic Report of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

U.S. Physical Therapy Compensation Clawback Policy

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE#*
SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
U.S. PHYSICAL THERAPY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(In Thousands)

Balance at Additions Charged Additions Charged Balance at
Beginning of Period to Costs and Expenses to Other Accounts Deductions End of Period

YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2023:
Reserves and allowances
deducted from asset
accounts:
Allowance for credit
losses(1)............... $2,829 $6,172 — $6,265(2) $2,736
YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2022:
Reserves and allowances
deducted from asset
accounts:
Allowance for credit losses. . $2,768 $5,548 — $5,487(2) $2,829
YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2021:
Reserves and allowances
deducted from asset
accounts:

Allowance for credit losses. . $2,008 $5,305 — $4,545(2) $2,768

(1) Related to patient accounts receivable and accounts receivable-other.
(2)  Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.

All other schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or because the required information
is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 29, 2024

U.S. PHYSICAL THERAPY, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Carey Hendrickson

Carey Hendrickson
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated as of the date indicated above.

/s/ Carey Hendrickson

Carey Hendrickson

/s/ Chris J. Reading

Chris J. Reading

/s/ Edward L. Kuntz

Edward L. Kuntz

/s/ Bernard A. Harris

Dr. Bernard A. Harris, Jr.

/s/ Kathleen A. Gilmartin

Kathleen A. Gilmartin

/s/ Anne Motsenbocker

Anne Motsenbocker

/s/ Reginald E. Swanson

Reginald E. Swanson

/s/ Clayton K. Trier

Clayton K. Trier

/s/ Nancy J. Ham

Nancy J. Ham

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting

Officer)

Chief Executive Officer, President and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Christopher J. Reading, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2024

/s/ Christopher J. Reading

Christopher J. Reading
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION
I, Carey Hendrickson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2024

/s/ Carey Hendrickson

Carey Hendrickson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of U.S. Physical Therapy, Inc. (the “registrant’’) on Form 10-K for
the year ending December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the ““report”), we, Christopher J. Reading, and Carey Hendrickson, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer respectively, of the registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to our knowledge:

(1) The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the registrant.

February 29, 2024

/s/ Christopher J. Reading

Christopher J. Reading
Principal Executive Officer

/s/ Carey Hendrickson

Carey Hendrickson
Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to U. S. Physical
Therapy, Inc. and will be retained by U. S. Physical Therapy, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.
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